Computationally Efficient Blind-Adaptive Algorithms for Multi-Antenna Systems

COMPUTATIONALLY EFFICIENT BLIND-ADAPTIVE ALGORITHMS FOR MULTI-ANTENNA SYSTEMS

By

BALAKUMAR BALASINGAM,

B.Sc. Eng.

University of Moratuwa, Sri Lanka, 2001

M. A. Sc.

McMaster University, Canada, 2003

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University ©Copyright by Balakumar Balasingam, December 2007

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2008)

MCMASTER UNIVERSITY

(Electrical and Computer Engineering)

Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

TITLE:Computationally Efficient Blind-Adaptive Algorithms for
Multi-Antenna SystemsAUTHOR:Balakumar Balasingam
B.Sc. Eng.
University of Moratuwa
Sri Lanka, 2001
M. A. Sc.
McMaster University
Canada, 2003SUPERVISOR:Dr. T. Kirubarajan

NUMBER OF PAGES: xxii, 165

To my wife Thevika

and

our dearest son Athavan

Abstract

Multi-input multi-output (MIMO) systems are expected to play a crucial role in future wireless communications and a significant increase of interest in all aspects of MIMO system design has been seen in the past decade. The primary interest of this thesis is in the receiver part of the MIMO system. In this area, continuous interest has been shown in developing blind-adaptive decoding algorithms. While blind decoding algorithms improve data throughput by enabling the system designer to replace training symbols with data, they also tend to perform robustly against any environment disturbances, compared to their training-based counterparts. On the other hand, considering the fact that the wireless end user environment is becoming increasingly mobile, adaptive algorithms have the ability to improve the performance of a system regardless of whether it is a blind system or a training-based one. The primary difficulty faced by blind and adaptive algorithms is that they generally are computationally intense. In this thesis, we develop semi-blind and blind decoding algorithms that are adaptive in nature as well as computationally efficient for multi-antenna systems.

First, we consider the problem of channel tracking for MIMO communication systems where the MIMO channel is time-varying. We consider a class of MIMO systems where orthogonal space-time block codes (OSTBCs) are used as the underlying space-time coding schemes. For a general MIMO system with any number of transmitting and receiving antenna combinations, a two-step MIMO channel tracking algorithm is proposed. As the first step, Kalman filtering is used to obtain an initial channel estimate for the current block based on the channel estimates obtained for previous blocks. Then, in the second step, the so-obtained initial channel estimate is refined using a decision-directed iterative method. We show that, due to specific properties of orthogonal space-time block codes, both the Kalman filter and the decision-directed algorithm can be significantly simplified. Then, we extend the above receiver for MIMO-OFDM systems and propose a computationally efficient semi-blind receiver for MIMO systems in frequency-selective channels. Further, for the proposed receivers, we have derived theoretical performance analysis in terms of probability of error. Assuming the knowledge of the transmitted symbols for the first block, we have derived the instantaneous signal to interference and noise ratio (SINR) for consecutive transmission blocks in the absence of training, by exploiting Kalman filtering to track the channel in a decision-directed mode. Later, we extend the the theoretical performance limit comparisons for time-domain vs. frequency-domain channel tracking for MIMO-OFDM systems. Further, we study the advantage of adaptive channel tracking algorithms in comptype pilot aided channel estimation schemes in practical MIMO-OFDM systems.

After that, an efficient sequential Monte-Carlo (SMC) algorithm is developed for blind detection in MIMO systems where OSTBCs are used as the underlying space-time coding scheme. The proposed algorithm employs Rao-Blackwellization strategy to marginalize out the (unwanted) channel coefficients and uses optimal importance function to generate samples to propagate the posterior distribution. The algorithm is blind in the sense that, unlike the earlier ones, the transmission of training symbols is not required by this scheme.

The marginalization involves the computation of (hundreds of) Kalman filters running in parallel resulting in intense computer requirement. We show that, the marginalization step can be significantly simplified for the specified problem under no additional assumptions — resulting in huge computational savings. Further, we extend this result to frequency selective channels and propose a novel and efficient SMC receiver for MIMO-OFDM systems.

Finally, a novel adaptive algorithm is presented for directional MIMO systems. Specifically, the problem of direction of arrival (DOA) tracking of an unknown time-varying number of mobile sources is considered. The challenging part of the problem is the unknown, time-varying number of sources that demand a combination of source enumeration techniques and sequential state estimation methods to track the time-varying number of DOAs. In this thesis, we transform the problem into a novel state-space model, and, by employing probability hypothesis density (PHD) filtering technique, propose a simple algorithm that is able to track the number of sources as well as the corresponding directions of arrivals. In addition to the fact that the proposed algorithm is simple and easier to implement, simulation results show that, the PHD implementation yields superior performance over competing schemes in tracking rapidly varying number of targets.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my deep sense of gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Kirubarajan, who offered me an opportunity to be a graduate student and conduct research under his guidance. I thank Dr. Kirubarajan for spending countless hours discussing my work, my research papers and this thesis.

I owe a great deal to Dr. Shahbazpanahi for his collaborative work with us. I am also grateful to Prof. Reilly and Dr. Sinha for taking time to share their knowledge and expertise in their research fields in our collaborative research efforts. Further, I thank Prof. Reilly and Dr. Hranilovic for being in my supervisory committee and for giving valuable suggestions on my research.

I am grateful to all the staff members of our department for their kind support. Especially, I thank Cheryl Gies and Helen Jachna for their constant help and support. Further, I thank Terry Greenlay and Cosmin Coriou who solved all computer related problems. I am grateful to my fellow graduate students of estimation, tracking and fusion laboratory (ET-FLab) for their support during my studies. Especially, I acknowledge Sathyan and Nanthan for typing my comprehensive exam answers and Punithan for spending time with me in discussions about PHD filters. I am grateful to my cubicle neighbour, Michael Botros, for being helpful and supportive. My life at McMaster has been very productive. During the past four years, my wife Thevika and I both worked towards our PhD's. Above all, during this period, we had our dearest son, Athavan, who has already hinted that he might be much more smarter than both of us. However, it is unfair to claim those as entirely our efforts without acknowledging my supervisor for being very understanding about all the no show-ups in the office and late submissions of papers. For the same reason, I thank Dr. Dmitri V. Malakhov, my wife's supervisor, who has been very flexible in fixing meeting times with her.

I thank my parents and siblings for their unconditional support of me during these four years and beyond.

None of this would have been possible without the love and support I received from Thevika and our wonderful Athavan. I have been learning a lot from Athavan. How to achieve what I want? How to love and to be loved? How to learn and how to teach? And, of course, how to speak good English. I thank him further for his help in whitening my (blue) coloured days into bright ones just by smiling at me. After all, that is why we named him after *The Sun*.

Finally, but most importantly, I would like to thank this wonderful country, Canada, for giving me the opportunity to have much of what I have. *O Canada! How shall I pay you back!*

List of Acronyms

AR1	First order Auto-Regressive
AR2	Second order Auto-Regressive
BER	Bit Error Rate
СР	Cyclic Prefix
CSI	Channel State Information
DDKF	Decision Directed Kalman Filter
DFT	Discrete Fourier Transform
DOA	Direction of Arrival
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform
IDDKF	Iterative Decision Directed Kalman Filter
IDFT	Inverse Discrete Fourier Transform
IFFT	Inverse Fast Fourier Transform
KF	Kalman Filter
MAN	Metropolitan Area Networks
MAP	Maximum a posteriori
MIMO	Multi-input Multi-output
MMSE	Minimum Mean Square Error
NE	Normalized Error
NMSE	Normalized Mean Square Error x

OFDM	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing
OSTBC	Orthogonal Space-Time Block Codes
PF	Particle Filter
PHD	Probability Hypothesis Density
RADAR	RAdio Detection And Ranging
Rx	Receiver
SER	Symbol Error Rate
SINR	Signal to Interference and Noise Ratio
SISO	Single Input Single Output
SMC	Sequential Monte-Carlo
SNR	Signal to Ratio
SONAR	SOund NAvigation and Ranging
SS	Steady-State
Tx	Transmitter
WiMAX	Worldwide Interoperability for Microwave Access

WLAN Wireless Local Area Network

List of Notations

x	a vector
Х	a matrix
Х	a set
j	$\sqrt{-1}$
$(.)^T$	the transpose of a vector or a matrix
(.)*	the conjugate of the argument
$(.)^H$	the Hermitian transpose of a vector or a matrix
$(.)^{-1}$	the inverse of a matrix
.	the Euclidean norm of a vector
.	absolute value of a scalar
$\mathbf{x}(n m)$	the state of the variable x at time n given all the information up to time m
\mathbf{I}_M	the identity matrix of dimension $M \times M$
\otimes	the Kronecker matrix product
$\operatorname{Re}\{.\}$	the real part of the complex argument
$\operatorname{Im}\{.\}$	the imaginary part of the complex argument
\mathbf{e}_k	the k th column of identity matrix
$\operatorname{vec}\{.\}$	the vectorization operator of a matrix stacking all columns one below the other
X	the underline operator of matrix X –
	stacking real and imaginary parts of vecX one (former) below the other (later) $\frac{1}{100}$

- N number of transmitting antennas
- M number of receiving antennas
- N_s number of samples in particle filter implementation
- *L* number sub-carriers in OFDM
- *P* number of channel taps
- T number of time blocks in OSTBC
- $\mathbf{y}[n]$ receiver observation at *n*th time interval
- A(w) fast Fourier transform of the received signal $\mathbf{y}(n)$
- G[n] channel matrix in time domain
- $\mathbf{H}_{i}[n]$ frequency response of the channel matrix at the *i*th sub-carrier

Contents

1	Intro	oductio	n	1
	1.1	Multi 4	Antenna Communication Systems	1
	1.2	Overvi	ew of the Thesis	2
		1.2.1	Motivation and objectives of the thesis	2
		1.2.2	Thesis outline	4
		1.2.3	Contributions	6
		1.2.4	Related publications	8
2	Mul	ti-Input	t Multi-Output Systems	10
	2.1	MIMO	Systems and Space-Time Coding	10
	2.2	Orthog	onal Space-Time Block Codes	12
		2.2.1	General definition of OSTBCs	12
		2.2.2	ML decoding of OSTBCs	14
	2.3	MIMO	Channel	15
		2.3.1	Flat-fading MIMO channe	15
		2.3.2	Frequency-selective fading MIMO channel	16
	2.4	MIMO	O-OFDM System	17

3	Bay	esian Fi	ltering Theory	21
	3.1	Bayesi	an Theorem	21
	3.2	Bayesi	an Filtering	22
		3.2.1	Bayesian filtering of single target	22
		3.2.2	Bayesian filtering of multiple targets	23
	3.3	Bayesi	an Filtering for Linear Gaussian Systems	24
	3.4	Appro	ximate Bayesian Filtering	25
		3.4.1	Approximation for linear Gaussian systems	26
		3.4.2	Approximation for general systems	27
	T	4 3 4 1 3 4 3 4		20
4	Join		J Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding	30
	4.1	Introdu	action	30
	4.2	Kalma	n Filter Based Channel Tracking	32
		4.2.1	Conditional channel estimate	33
		4.2.2	Conditional channel tracking	36
		4.2.3	Simplified algorithm	38
		4.2.4	Computational savings	42
	4.3	Simula	ation Results	43
		4.3.1	Channel tracking performance	44
		4.3.2	SER vs. SNR	47
		4.3.3	Continuous vs. block fading channel	49
	4.4	Conclu	usions	50
5	Con	nputatio	onally Efficient Receivers for MIMO-OFDM Systems	55
	5.1	Introdu	uction	55

	5.2	Chann	el Tracking and Symbol Decoding Algorithm	58
		5.2.1	Conditional ML data decoding	58
		5.2.2	Conditional ML channel estimation	59
		5.2.3	Channel tracking via Kalman filtering	60
		5.2.4	Simplified Kalman filter	62
		5.2.5	Initializing the Kalman filter:	64
		5.2.6	Channel tracking in training based systems	66
		5.2.7	Summary of the algorithm	66
		5.2.8	Computational savings	67
	5.3	Simula	ation Results	69
		5.3.1	Channel tracking performance	69
		5.3.2	Symbol error rate studies	70
		5.3.3	Effect of the iteration	70
		5.3.4	Performance against Doppler frequency	70
	5.4	Conclu	usions	71
6	Perf	ormanc	e Analysis of MIMO Receivers	77
	6.1	Introdu	uction	77
	6.2	Decisi	on-Directed Kalman Filter Receiver	79
		6.2.1	Instantaneous SNR	79
		6.2.2	Averaged probability of error	84
	6.3	Numer	rical Studies	88
		6.3.1	Effect of TRP	88
		6.3.2	Effect of the number of sub-carriers	89
		6.3.3	Theory vs. simulation	90

•

	6.4	Conclusions	1
7	Blin	d Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems 9	2
	7.1	Introduction	2
	7.2	Efficient Implementation of SMC Receiver for	
		OSTBCs	94
		7.2.1 Signal model	94
		7.2.2 The blind SMC detector	8
		7.2.3 The simplified receiver)1
		7.2.4 Summary of the algorithm)2
	7.3	Simulation results)4
	7.4	Conclusions)5
8	A N	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10	8
8	A N 8.1	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10	8 8
8	A N 8.1 8.2	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11	9 8 98
8	A No 8.1 8.2 8.3	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11	98 1 2
8	A N 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation 11	98 1 2 4
8	A N 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation 11 8.4.1 The prior 11	98 1 2 4 4
8	A No. 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation 11 8.4.1 The prior 11 8.4.2 Prediction operator 11	98 1 2 4 4 4
8	A No 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation 11 8.4.1 The prior 11 8.4.2 Prediction operator 11 8.4.3 Update operator 11	98 1 2 4 4 5
8	A No 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing10Introduction10Problem Formulation11New State-Space Model11Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation118.4.1The prior118.4.2Prediction operator118.4.3Update operator118.4.4Resampling11	98 1 2 4 4 4 5 6
8	A No 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing10Introduction10Problem Formulation11New State-Space Model11Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation118.4.1The prior118.4.2Prediction operator118.4.3Update operator118.4.4Resampling118.4.5State estimation11	98 1 2 4 4 5 6 6
8	A No 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ew State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing 10 Introduction 10 Problem Formulation 11 New State-Space Model 11 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation 11 8.4.1 The prior 11 8.4.2 Prediction operator 11 8.4.3 Update operator 11 8.4.4 Resampling 11 8.4.5 State estimation 11 8.4.6 Summary of the algorithm 11	98 1 2 4 4 5 6 6 6

		8.5.1	Tracking fixed number of sources	. 119
		8.5.2	Tracking varying number of sources	. 121
	8.6	Conclu	usions	. 123
9	Con	cluding	Remarks and Future Directions	125
	9.1	Conclu	uding Remarks	. 125
	9.2	Possib	le Extensions	. 127
		9.2.1	Blind SMC receiver for MIMO-OFDM with CFO estimation	. 127
		9.2.2	Relaxing quasi-time-varying assumptions	. 128
		9.2.3	Wideband DOA tracking	. 128
		9.2.4	Rao-Blackwellized PHD filter	. 129
		9.2.5	Novel hybrid filtering algorithm	. 129
	9.3	Future	Directions	. 129
		9.3.1	Blind adaptive MIMO receiver design	. 130
		9.3.2	Computational reduction	. 131
		9.3.3	Performance analysis	. 131
		9.3.4	Adaptive array processing	. 131
A	Proc	of of Le	mma 5.1	133
B	Proc	of of Le	mma 6.1	136
С	Proc	of of Le	mma 8.1	141

List of Tables

4.1	Standard KF based MIMO receiver complexity 43
4.2	Simplified KF based MIMO receiver complexity
4.3	MIMO receiver complexity comparison
5.4	Standard KF based MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity
5.5	Simplified KF based MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity
5.6	MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity comparison
8.7	Parameters used in the simulation

List of Figures

2.1	Block diagram of the MIMO-OFDM system	7
4.2	True vs. estimated channel (real part)	5
4.3	True vs. estimated channel (imginary part)	6
4.4	The NMSE of channel estimates versus block index n	7
4.5	The SERs versus SNR for different OSTBC decoding schemes 4	8
4.6	Continuous vs. block fading channels - real part	1
4.7	Continuous vs. block fading channels - imaginary part	2
4.8	Continuous vs. block fading channels - NMSE	3
4.9	Continuous vs. block fading channels - SER	4
5.10	Proposed receiver	2
5.11	Channel tracking performance	3
5.12	Symbol error rate studies	4
5.13	Effect of the iteration	5
5.14	Performance against Doppler frequency	6
6.15	Example 1 – Effect of TRP	8
6.16	Example 2 – Effect of the number of sub-carriers	9
6.17	Example 3 – Theory versus simulation	0

7.18	The SERs versus SNR using the SMC receiver
7.19	The best channel value at each iteration by the SMC receiver - real part 106
7.20	The best channel value at each iteration by the SMC receiver - imaginary part107
8.21	Tracking fixed number of moving sources by PF
8.22	Tracking fixed number of moving sources by PHD filter
8.23	Tracking varying number of moving sources by PF
8.24	Tracking varying number of moving sources by PHD filter

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Multi Antenna Communication Systems

The objective of fourth generation (4G) communication systems is to achieve broadband connectivity *anytime, anywhere* between *anything* [27,40,48]. During the next two decades, this objective is likely to be achieved by employing multiple antennas at the base station (service provider) as well as at the end-user devices. In this regard, the past decade has seen an explosion of interest in multi-antenna systems, especially, multi-input multi-output (MIMO) communication systems.

MIMO communication systems provide a promising approach to deliver higher data throughput without the need for increased power and bandwidth. Space-time coding adds another dimension for the diversity space, in addition to the spatial diversity achieved by multiple antennas in the MIMO system. Among different space-time coding schemes presented in the literature, orthogonal space-time block codes (OSTBCs) [3], [109] are of particular interest because they achieve full diversity at a low receiver complexity. OFDM is an attractive technique due to its capability to transform a frequency selective channel into a set of parallel flat fading channels [14, 26, 52, 70, 122]. Hence, MIMO systems combined with OFDM, known as MIMO-OFDM in the literature, is playing an important role in current wireless communications. For example, broadband wireless LAN technology, standardized as IEEE 802.11n. and worldwide inter-operability for microwave access (WiMAX) technology [33, 34, 45, 64, 73], standardized as IEEE 802.16, deploy OS-TBCs for MIMO-OFDM communications.

Beamforming [112] is a spatial filtering technique in which antenna arrays are used to extract signals from the desired direction and to avoid receiving spatially interfering signals. Direction of arrival estimation and beamforming are complementary techniques in the sense that a beamformer requires the DOA of the desired user or the interferer in order to perform spatial filtering. Even though the terms spatial diversity and spatial filtering (separation) may imply different interests they can be combined to achieve higher data transmission rates. Directional MIMO antennas that are able to enjoy spatial multiplexing while avoiding co-channel interference are expected to provide higher data throughput compared to their omnidirectional MIMO counterparts [54, 60].

1.2 Overview of the Thesis

1.2.1 Motivation and objectives of the thesis

Conventional communication system designs spend up to to 20% of their available bandwidth on training which is better utilized for data transfer itself. It has always been the interest of academic and industrial communities to reduce the amount of training, and numerous approaches have already been proposed for blind decoding in MIMO systems. However, there are challenges remaining still for blind implementations. One of them is the fact that blind decoding algorithms are computationally intense, requiring additional hardware and power at tiny mobile terminals.

Further, most of the practical communication system designs and implementations assume that the statistical properties of the transmission medium is stationary or slow-varying. Even though the stationary assumption is good enough to achieve acceptable data throughput, it should be noted that whenever such assumption is violated, the data throughput decreases due to the increase in retransmission requests. Considering the increasingly mobile nature of today's wireless applications, non-stationarity is a reality that is hard to ignore. Another interesting feature of adaptive algorithms is that they have the capability to improve the performance of the training-based receivers under non-stationary conditions. Hence, finding a computationally efficient alternative to the stationary assumption is important. Indeed, there have been considerable interest shown on developing adaptive receiver algorithms for non-stationary environments.

Interestingly enough, it is realized that the successful implementation of both of the above approaches (adaptivity and blindness) have one common bottleneck, namely, computational complexity. Hence, it is highly important to be mindful of the fact that, any blind/adaptive decoding algorithm should be computationally efficient before they can be considered for implementation.

Motivated by the above facts, in this thesis, we present some blind adaptive decoding algorithms that are able to perform adequately under non-stationary environments in a computationally efficient manner.

1.2.2 Thesis outline

- Chapter 1 gives an introduction to multi-antenna communication systems and describes its potential to become part of future communication systems for years to come. Further, a brief discussion on currents challenges of MIMO systems is presented and the motivation for current and future research is argued.
- Chapter 2 provides a brief introduction to MIMO systems. Then, the concept of space-time coding is discussed and mathematical representation of orthogonal space-time block codes (OSTBC) are presented. Next, some special properties of OSTBCs are developed. After that, the flat-fading MIMO channel model is introduced and then the frequency selective channel model is developed and the relationship between time-domain and frequency-domain channel is derived. Finally, the MIMO-OFDM system is discussed.
- Chapter 3 gives some background information on Bayesian sequential state estimation. Starting from Bayes theorem, the sequential state estimation schemes for linear Gaussian case and non-linear non-Gaussian case, Kalman filter and particle-filter, respectively, are discussed. Then, a first moment approximation of the particle filter, the PHD filter, is discussed.
- Chapter 4 presents a semi-blind Kalman filter based decision-directed algorithm for MIMO systems under flat-fading channels. First, a literature search result on similar receivers is presented. Next the Kalman filter based conditional channel tracking scheme is presented. After that, a two step iterative scheme is proposed to improve the performance of the algorithm. Further, a novel scheme to reduce the computational complexity is also presented. Finally, simulation examples are illustrated

regarding the performance of the proposed scheme.

- Chapter 5 presents a semi-blind Kalman filter based decision-directed algorithm for MIMO systems under frequency-selective fading channels. First a revision on previous MIMO-OFDM receivers is presented. Then, the conditional channel tracking scheme based on Kalman filter is presented. After that assuming constant modulus constellations, a novel way to simplify the algorithm and an iterative scheme to improve the performance have been presented. Finally, the performance of the algorithm and computational savings have been discussed through examples.
- Chapter 6 provides a theoretical performance analysis of the algorithms presented in Chapter4 and Chapter 5. First a background study on the related area is summarized. Then, an instantaneous signal to interference and noise ratio (SINR) in the decision directed mode has been derived and using this expression, analytical expression for BER is derived. Further, the performance related to different modes of the Kalman filtering channel estimation scheme, such as the predicted, updated and steady-state channel estimates have been discussed. Finally, based on the derivations, the performance of the receivers for various options are analyzed.
- Chapter 7 presents an efficient blind decoding scheme for MIMO systems employing OSTBCs. First, a literature review on SMC receivers for MIMO systems is presented. Next, a computationally efficient SMC receiver for MIMO systems under flat-fading channels is presented and using the simplification structure proposed in Chapter 4 the SMC receiver is simplified. After that, a novel tone-by-tone receiver is proposed for frequency selective fading channels and some methods to simplify it are presented. Finally, the computational savings achieved by the proposed receiver is discussed.

- Chapter 8 presents a new state-space approach to track the mobile users from the base-station in directional MIMO systems. First, literature study of the adaptive array processing techniques is presented. Then, the proposed state-space model is derived. Then, based on PHD filtering method, a novel DOA tracking algorithm that is able to track the DOAs of (time-varying) unknown number of targets using one snapshot of array observation. Finally, the results of the simulation studies are presented.
- Chapter 9 provides some concluding remarks on the thesis and provides possible future extensions to the research and discusses the future of the research in the related area.

1.2.3 Contributions

The scientific contribution of the thesis can be summarized under the following three areas.

• Blind decoding schemes:

Starting with MIMO systems for flat-fading channels, we have developed a semiblind decoding scheme that can be used for any number of transmitting/receiving antenna combinations. The scheme is called semi-blind because it requires the transmission of pilot symbols once in a while in order to re-initialize the channel estimates. Then, this result was extended for frequency-selective channels using OFDM technology. Further, we have proposed an efficient blind SMC receiver for MIMO systems under both flat-fading and frequency-selective channels.

• Adaptive signal processing techniques:

The proposed receivers above are all adaptive under block-fading assumptions, i.e.,

they assume channel variations within one block of space-time transmission as negligible. The proposed receivers model the channel process as first order AR process and use Kalman filtering to track the channel variations. Further, a novel state-space approach is proposed for DOA tracking of unknown varying number of targets using passive sensor arrays.

• Computation reduction techniques:

Firstly, we have extensively studied the nature of the signal models of the MIMO systems and OSTBCs and came up with a way to analytically simplify the above receivers. It is shown that some distinct properties of the OSTBCs enable us to achieve significant computational saving through simplification.

Secondly, we have studied the use of approximation techniques in adaptive algorithms. Specifically, we have proposed the use of tracking approximate posterior for DOA tracking problem.

Specifically, the following scientific contribution has been achieved and reported in this thesis.

- 1. A novel decision-directed algorithm for channel tracking and data detection for MIMO systems employing generally defined OSTBCs.
- 2. An new way to exploit the special properties of the OSTBCs in diagonalizing the Kalman filter algorithm.
- 3. An efficient semi-blind receiver for MIMO-OFDM systems.
- 4. An efficient blind Sequential Monte carlo (SMC) receiver for MIMO systems employing OSTBCs in flat-fading channels.

- A novel blind receiver for MIMO-OFDM systems based on Sequential Monte carlo (SMC) methods.
- 6. A theoretical performance analysis of the effect of time-selective channel.
- 7. A new state-space approach for computationally efficient adaptive array processing.

1.2.4 Related publications

Some selected contents of this thesis are published or submitted or for publication in the following journals and conferences.

Journals articles:

- B. Balakumar, S. Shahbazpanahi and T. Kirubarajan, "Joint MIMO Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding Using Kalman Filtering", in press, *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*.
- [2] B. Balakumar, S. Shahbazpanahi and T. Kirubarajan, "Simplified Kalman Filter for Tracking Doubly Selective Channels in Space-Time Coded MIMO-OFDM Systems: Algorithm and Performance Study", to be submitted to IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications.
- [3] B. Balakumar, T. Kirubarajan and J. P. Reilly, "Computationally Efficient Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems", *to be submitted to IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*.
- [4] B. Balakumar, T. Kirubarajan, A. Sinha, and J. P. Reilly "On the Use of PHD Filtering in Adaptive Array Processing", to be submitted to IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing.

Conference papers:

- [5] B. Balakumar, S. Shahbazpanahi and T. Kirubarajan, "Joint MIMO channel tracking and symbol decoding for orthogonal space-time block codes", 14th European Signal Processing Conference, Sept. 2006.
- [6] B. Balakumar, S. Shahbazpanahi and T. Kirubarajan, "A Kalman filtering approach to joint MIMO channel tracking and symbol decoding for orthogonal space time block codes", *Fourth IEEE Workshop on sensor array and multi-channel processing*, pp. 244–248, July 2006.
- [7] B. Balakumar, A. Sinha, T. Kirubarajan and J. P. Reilly, "PHD filtering for tracking an unknown number of sources using an array of sensors", 13th IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing, pp. 43–48, July 2005.

Chapter 2

Multi-Input Multi-Output Systems

2.1 MIMO Systems and Space-Time Coding

Consider a MIMO system with N transmit and M receive antennas. In a time-varying flat-fading channel scenario, the signal received by the pth receive antenna at time t, $y_p(t)$ is given by

$$y_p(t) = \sum_{q=1}^{N} g_{pq}(t) x_q(t) + v_p(t)$$
(2.1)

where $x_q(t)$ is the signal transmitted from the *q*th antenna at time *t*, $g_{pq}(t)$ is the timevarying channel coefficient between the *p*th transmit antenna and the *q*th receive antenna, and $v_p(t)$ is the noise measured at the *p*th receive antennas. The noise $v_p(t)$ is assumed to be zero-mean complex Gaussian and spatio-temporally white with variance $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension. In discrete-time domain the received signal (2.1) can be written in vector format as

$$\mathbf{y}(n) = \mathbf{x}(n)\mathbf{G}(n) + \mathbf{v}(n)$$
(2.2)

where $\mathbf{G}(n)$ is the $N \times M$ channel matrix with its (p,q) element equal to $g_{pq}(n)$, and

$$\mathbf{y}(n) = [y_1(n) \ y_2(n) \ \dots \ y_M(n)]$$
 (2.3)

$$\mathbf{x}(n) = [x_1(n) \ x_2(n) \ \dots \ x_N(n)]$$
 (2.4)

$$\mathbf{v}(n) = [v_1(n) \ v_2(n) \ \dots \ v_M(n)]$$
(2.5)

are the row-vectors of the received signals, transmitted signals, and noise, respectively.

We consider a block transmission scheme and assume that within the block period T the channel is fixed, i.e., the channel is assumed to be *quasi-static*. However, between different blocks the channel can change. Based on such an assumption, the *n*th received block can be written as

$$\mathbf{Y}(n) = \mathbf{X}(n)\mathbf{G}(n) + \mathbf{V}(n)$$
(2.6)

where $\mathbf{Y}(n)$ is the $T \times M$ matrix of the received signals, $\mathbf{X}(n)$ is the $T \times N$ matrix of transmitted signals, $\mathbf{V}(n)$ is the $T \times M$ matrix of noise, and $\mathbf{G}(m)$ is the $N \times M$ channel matrix during the *n*th block period. The noise $\mathbf{V}(n)$ is assumed to be zero-mean complex Gaussian and both spatially and temporally white with variance $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension.

2.2 Orthogonal Space-Time Block Codes

2.2.1 General definition of OSTBCs

In space-time block coding, the matrix $\mathbf{X}(n)$ is a mapping that transforms a block of complex symbols to a $T \times N$ complex matrix. Hence, we hereafter replace $\mathbf{X}(n)$ with $\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n))$ where $\mathbf{s}(n)$ is the *n*th symbol vector of length *K*. Let us define $\mathbf{s}(n)$ as $\mathbf{s}(n) = [s_1(n) \ s_2(n) \ \cdots \ s_K(n)]^T$ where $(\cdot)^T$ denotes the transpose operator. The $T \times N$ matrix $\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n))$ is called an OSTBC [3], [109] if i) all elements of $\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n))$ are linear functions of the *K* complex variables $s_1(n), s_2(n), \ldots, s_K(n)$ and their complex conjugates, ii) and if, for any arbitrary $\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n))$ satisfies $\mathbf{X}^H(\mathbf{s}(n))\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n)) = \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2 \mathbf{I}_N$ where \mathbf{I}_N is the $N \times N$ identity matrix, $\|\cdot\|$ is the Euclidean norm, and $(\cdot)^H$ denotes Hermitian transpose.

It follows from the definition of OSTBC that matrix X(s(n)) can be written as

$$\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}(n)) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} (\mathbf{C}_k \operatorname{Re}\{s_k(n)\} + \mathbf{D}_k \operatorname{Im}\{s_k(n)\})$$
(2.7)

where $\text{Re}\{\cdot\}$ and $\text{Im}\{\cdot\}$ denote the real and imaginary parts, respectively, and C_k and D_k matrices are defined as¹

$$\mathbf{C}_k = \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{u}_k) \tag{2.8}$$

$$\mathbf{D}_k = \mathbf{X}(j\mathbf{u}_k) \tag{2.9}$$

¹In fact, any OSTBC is completely defined by the set of matrices $\{\mathbf{C}_k, \mathbf{D}_k\}_{k=1}^{K}$.

where \mathbf{u}_k is the *k*th column of identity matrix \mathbf{I}_K and $j = \sqrt{-1}$. Let us define the "underline" operator for a matrix \mathbf{P} as

$$\underline{\mathbf{P}} \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \left[\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{vec} \{\operatorname{Re}(\mathbf{P})\} \\ \operatorname{vec} \{\operatorname{Im}(\mathbf{P})\} \end{array} \right]$$
(2.10)

where $vec{\cdot}$ refers to the vectorization operator stacking all the columns of a matrix on top of each other. Using (2.7) and (2.28), one can re-write (7.186) as [31]

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}(n) \triangleq \underline{\mathbf{Y}(n)} = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n)) \,\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n$$
(2.11)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n \triangleq \underline{\mathbf{s}}(n)$, $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n \triangleq \underline{\mathbf{V}}(n)$ and the $2MT \times 2K$ real matrix $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n))$ is given by

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n)) = [\underline{\mathbf{C}}_1 \mathbf{G}(n) \dots \underline{\mathbf{C}}_K \mathbf{G}(n) \underline{\mathbf{D}}_1 \mathbf{G}(n) \dots \underline{\mathbf{D}}_K \mathbf{G}(n)].$$
(2.12)

It has been shown that for any channel matrix $\mathbf{G}(n)$, the matrix $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n))$ satisfies the so-called *decoupling* property, i.e., its columns are orthogonal to each other and have identical norms [53]. More specifically, it satisfies

$$\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{G}(n)) \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n)) = \|\mathbf{G}(n)\|_{F}^{2} \mathbf{I}_{2K}$$
(2.13)

where $\|.\|_F$ denotes the Frobenius norm. Let us define the $2MN \times 1$ time-varying channel vector $\mathbf{g}(n)$ as $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{n}) \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \underline{\mathbf{G}(n)}$. With a small abuse of notation, we hereafter replace $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{G}(n))$ with $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g}(n))$. Therefore, we rewrite (2.13) as

$$\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{g}(n)) \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g}(n)) = \|\mathbf{g}(n)\|^{2} \mathbf{I}_{2K}$$
(2.14)
Since $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g}(n))$ is linear in $\mathbf{g}(n)$, there exists a unique $4KMT \times 2MN$ matrix $\mathbf{\Phi}$ such that $\operatorname{vec}\{\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g}(n))\} = \mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{g}(n)$ where $\mathbf{\Phi}$ is a $4KMT \times 2MN$ matrix whose kth column is given by

$$[\Phi]_k = \operatorname{vec}\{\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_k)\}.$$
(2.15)

Here, $[\cdot]_k$ denotes the kth column of a matrix and \mathbf{e}_k is the kth column of identity matrix \mathbf{I}_{2MN} . Note that matrix Φ can be written as $\Phi = [\Phi_1^T \ \Phi_2^T \ \cdots \ \Phi_{2K}^T]^T$ where each submatrix Φ_k ($k = 1, \ldots 2K$) describes the linear relationship between the kth column of $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g}(n))$ and $\mathbf{g}(n)$, i.e., $[\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_k = \Phi_k \mathbf{g}$.

2.2.2 ML decoding of OSTBCs

Given the channel vector g(n), the optimal ML decoder for OSTBCs consists of a linear receiver followed by a symbol-by-symbol decoder [28]. Indeed, the linear receiver computes \hat{s}_n , the estimate of \tilde{s}_n as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n = \frac{1}{\| \mathbf{g}(n) \|^2} \mathbf{A}^T (\mathbf{g}(n)) \, \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n.$$
(2.16)

Then, the symbol-by-symbol decoder builds the estimate $\hat{s}(n)$, of vector s(n) as $\hat{s}(n) = [\mathbf{I}_K j \mathbf{I}_K]\hat{s}_n$. The *k*th element of $\hat{s}(n)$ is compared with all points in the constellation corresponding to $s_k(n)$ and the closest point in this constellation to the *k*th element of $\hat{s}(n)$ is accepted as the *k*th decoded symbol.

Note however that implementation of the ML decoder requires the knowledge of the time-varying channel. If the channel is fixed, one can use training to estimate the channel in a non-blind fashion. However, in practice, the channel is time-varying, and hence tracking

of the MIMO channel is required. Recently, blind channel estimation has been studied in the literature (see for example [99]). The blind channel estimation of [99] is based on the assumption that the channel is fixed, and hence, it is not applicable to time-varying channels.

2.3 MIMO Channel

2.3.1 Flat-fading MIMO channel

Without assuming any model for the MIMO channel, the problem of joint channel tracking and symbol detection is ill-posed. Fortunately, in many practical scenarios, the wireless channels can be modeled with a few parameters. It has been shown in [120] that the firstorder AR model can be used as a sufficiently precise method to describe the time-varying behavior of wireless channels. Based on this model, we assume that the channel variation between adjacent blocks is modeled as a first order autoregressive (AR) model, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{G}(n) = \alpha \mathbf{G}(n-1) + \mathbf{W}(n) \tag{2.17}$$

where $\mathbf{W}(n)$ is an $N \times M$ noise matrix that is assumed to be zero-mean complex Gaussian with independent entries and variance of $\sigma_w^2/2$ per real dimension. This implies that $\mathbf{W}(n)$, and consequently $\mathbf{G}(n)$, are zero-mean wide-sense stationary processes. The parameter α is a complex scalar that can be estimated using the method of [111], and hence, it is herein assumed to be known. The noise variance σ_w^2 and α are related as $\sigma_w^2 = \sigma_g^2(1 - |\alpha|^2)$ where σ_g^2 is the variance of each element of $\mathbf{G}(n)$ and $|\cdot|$ denotes the amplitude of a complex number.

2.3.2 Frequency-selective fading MIMO channel

In frequency-selective environment, the channel at different taps will contribute to a certain received data. Lets assume the $N \times M$ channel matrix at the *p*th tap as $\mathbf{G}_p[n]$. For each tap *p*, we model the channel variation between adjacent OFDM words as a first order autoregressive (AR) model. Hence,

$$\mathbf{G}_{p}[n+1] = \alpha_{p}\mathbf{G}_{p}[n] + \mathbf{U}_{p}[n] \quad p = 0, \dots, P-1$$
 (2.18)

where elements of $U_p[n]$ are i.i.d Gaussian with zero mean and variance $\sigma_p^2 = \sigma_g^2(1 - |\alpha_p|^2)$ and σ_g^2 is the variance of the entries of $G_p[n]$. The complex parameters α_p , $p = 0, 1, \ldots, P - 1$ can be estimated [111] and hence are assumed known here.

As noted in (2.23), the frequency response of the channel for the *i*th sub-carrier, $\mathbf{h}_{i}[n]$, is a function of the time domain MIMO channel impulse response $\{\mathbf{G}_{p}[n]\}_{p=0}^{P-1}$. Usually, the channel taps are much smaller in length compared to the number of tones. Hence, it is desirable to track the channel in time domain for better performance.

We now use the relationship between the channel frequency response and the channel impulse response to represent the observed data in terms of the channel impulse response. Later, this model will be used to derive the Kalman filtering based tracking scheme for the channel coefficients.

Using the Fourier relationship between the channel frequency response and channel impulse, $h_i[n]$ can be written as

$$\mathbf{h}_i[n] = \mathbf{W}_i \mathbf{g}[n] \tag{2.19}$$

Chapter 2. Multi-Input Multi-Output Systems

where

$$\mathbf{W}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \Re\{\mathbf{w}_{i}^{T}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} & -\Im\{\mathbf{w}_{i}^{T}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \\ \Im\{\mathbf{w}_{i}^{T}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} & \Re\{\mathbf{w}_{i}^{T}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.20)

Here, \otimes is the Kronecker product, $\mathbf{g}[n] = \underline{\mathbf{G}[n]}$, $\mathbf{G}[n] = (\mathbf{g}_0[n] \dots \mathbf{g}_{P-1}[n])$, $\mathbf{g}_p[n] =$ vec $\{\mathbf{G}_p[n]\}$, $\mathbf{w}_i = [1, e^{j2\pi i/L}, \dots, e^{j2\pi i(P-1)/L}]^{\mathrm{H}}$. Also, we can write

$$\mathbf{h}[n] = \mathbf{Wg}[n] \tag{2.21}$$

where $\mathbf{W} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{W}_0^T, \dots, \mathbf{W}_{L-1}^T \end{bmatrix}^T$.

2.4 MIMO-OFDM System



Figure 2.1: Block diagram of the MIMO-OFDM system

Consider a MIMO-OFDM system with L sub-carriers, N transmit antennas and M receive antennas. Using vector notations, the received signal vector for the *i*th tone during the *n*th OFDM word can be written as [129]

$$\mathbf{y}_i[n] = \mathbf{x}_i[n] \mathbf{H}_i[n] + \mathbf{v}_i[n]$$
(2.22)

where $\mathbf{y}_i[n]$ is the $1 \times M$ vector of received signals, $\mathbf{x}_i[n]$ is the $1 \times N$ vector of transmitted signals, and $\mathbf{v}_i[n]$ is the $1 \times M$ vector of noise at the *i*th tone. The noise is assumed to be uncorrelated zero-mean complex Gaussian with variance $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension. The $N \times M$ complex matrix $\mathbf{H}_i[n]$ is the frequency response of the MIMO channel at the *i*th sub-carrier and can be written, in terms of the time-domain channel impulse response, as

$$\mathbf{H}_{i}[n] = \sum_{p=0}^{P-1} \mathbf{G}_{p}[n] e^{-j2\pi i p/L}$$
(2.23)

where $j = \sqrt{-1}$, the (r, q)th element of $\mathbf{G}_p[n]$ is the *p*th tap of the time-domain channel impulse response from the *r*th transmitter to the *q*th receiver, and *P* is the maximum delay spread of the channel. We assume that P < L. We consider a block transmission scheme with block length *T* and assume that within the OFDM word length *PT*, the channel frequency response is fixed. However, between different OFDM words the channel frequency response can change. Based on such an assumption, the *n*th received block for the *i*th sub-carrier can be written as

$$\mathbf{Y}_{i}[n] = \mathbf{X}_{i}[n]\mathbf{H}_{i}[n] + \mathbf{V}_{i}[n]$$
(2.24)

where

$$\mathbf{Y}_{i}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}_{i}^{T}[nT - T + 1], \cdots, \mathbf{y}_{i}^{T}[nT] \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
$$\mathbf{X}_{i}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_{i}^{T}[nT - T + 1], \cdots, \mathbf{x}_{i}^{T}[nT] \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
$$\mathbf{V}_{i}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}_{i}^{T}[nT - T + 1], \cdots, \mathbf{v}_{i}^{T}[nT] \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

denote the received data, the transmitted data, and the measurement noise matrices, respectively, and $(\cdot)^T$ represents the transpose operator.

Now, the received blocks due to all the sub-carriers, the nth received OFDM word, can be written as

$$\mathbb{Y}[n] = \mathbb{X}[n]\mathbb{H}[n] + \mathbb{V}[n]$$
(2.25)

where

$$\mathbb{Y}[n] = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{Y}_0[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{Y}_{L-1}[n] \end{pmatrix}, \mathbb{X}[n] = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{X}_0[n] & \mathbf{0} \\ & \ddots \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{X}_{L-1}[n] \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\mathbb{H}[n] = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{H}_0[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{H}_{L-1}[n] \end{pmatrix}, \mathbb{V}[n] = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{V}_0[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{V}_{L-1}[n] \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.26)

In space-time block coding, the matrix $\mathbf{X}_i[n]$ is a mapping that transforms a block of complex symbols into a $T \times N$ complex matrix. Hence, we hereafter replace $\mathbf{X}_i[n]$ with $\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}_i[n])$ where $\mathbf{s}_i[n]$ of length K is the *i*th transmitted symbol vector of the *n*th OFDM word. Let us define $\mathbf{s}_i[n]$ as $\mathbf{s}_i[n] = (s_{1,i}[n] \ s_{2,i}[n] \ \cdots \ s_{K,i}[n])^T$. By selecting $\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}_i[n])$ as an OSTBC [53, 109], we can write the observed data of the *i*th sub-carrier as [53]

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,i} \triangleq \underline{\mathbf{Y}}_{i}[n] = \mathbf{A} \left(\mathbf{h}_{i}[n] \right) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i} + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i}$$
(2.27)

where $\mathbf{h}_{i}[n] = \underline{\mathbf{H}_{i}[n]}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i} = \underline{\mathbf{s}_{i}[n]}, \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i} = \underline{\mathbf{V}_{i}[n]}$, the "underline" operator for a matrix P is defined as

$$\underline{\mathbf{P}} \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{vec}\{\Re(\mathbf{P})\} \\ \operatorname{vec}\{\Im(\mathbf{P})\} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.28)

and vec{·} refers to the vectorization operator stacking all the columns of a matrix on top of each other, and $\Re(\cdot)$ and $\Im(\cdot)$ represent the real and imaginary parts, respectively. The matrix $\mathbf{A}(\cdot)$ is the so-called vitual channel matrix and for any real $2MN \times 1$ vector $\mathbf{h}_i[n] = \mathbf{H}_i[n]$ is given by [31]

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{h}_{i}[n]) = [\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\mathbf{H}_{i}[n] \dots \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{e}_{K})\mathbf{H}_{i}[n] \mathbf{X}(j\mathbf{e}_{1})\mathbf{H}_{i}[n] \dots \mathbf{X}(j\mathbf{e}_{K})\mathbf{H}_{i}[n]]$$
(2.29)

where \mathbf{e}_k is the kth column of the $K \times K$ identity matrix \mathbf{I}_K .

Chapter 3

Bayesian Filtering Theory

3.1 Bayesian Theorem

Consider a random parameter $\mathbf{x}(n)$ and its observation $\mathbf{y}(n)$. Bayes theorem enables us to write the joint probability of $\mathbf{x}(n)$ and $\mathbf{y}(n)$ as follows.

$$p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n)) = p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n))p(\mathbf{y}(n)) = p(\mathbf{y}(n)|\mathbf{x}(n))p(\mathbf{x}(n))$$
(3.30)

where $p(\mathbf{x}(n))$ and $p(\mathbf{y}(n))$ are the prior densities $p(\mathbf{y}(n)|\mathbf{x}(n))$ is the likelihood and $p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n))$ is called the posterior distribution.

The posterior distribution contains all the statistical information about the unknown parameter $p(\mathbf{x}(n))$ from time 1 to time n given the corresponding observations $p(\mathbf{y}(1))$ to $p(\mathbf{y}(n))$. The posterior distribution can be used to get an estimate of the unknown parameter at a certain time instance. For example, a maximum a posteriori (MAP) estimate of the Chapter 3. Bayesian Filtering Theory

parameter is obtained as

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}^{\text{MAP}} = \arg\max_{\mathbf{x}(n)} p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n))$$
(3.31)

3.2 Bayesian Filtering

3.2.1 Bayesian filtering of single target

First, for simplicity, consider the following single target versions of the state and observation equations

$$\mathbf{x}(n) = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}(n-1), \mathbf{v}(n)) \tag{3.32}$$

$$\mathbf{y}(n) = \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{x}(n), \mathbf{w}(n)). \tag{3.33}$$

Bayesian approach tends to track the posterior density of the current state

$$p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n)) \tag{3.34}$$

assuming that the initial density $p(\mathbf{x}(0)|\mathbf{y}(0))$ or the *prior* is available.

Given the posterior density at time n, $p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n))$, and the observation at time n + 1, $\mathbf{y}(n+1)$, the posterior at time n + 1, $p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n+1))$, is constructed in the following two steps

[1] Prediction

$$p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n)) = \int p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n))p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n))d\mathbf{x}(n) \quad (3.35)$$

Chapter 3. Bayesian Filtering Theory

[2] Update

$$p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n+1)) = \frac{p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))p(x(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n))}{p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n))} \quad (3.36)$$

where

- p(x(n+1)|y(n)) is the time prediction of the posterior p(x(n)|y(n)) to the next time step.
- p(x(n+1)|x(n)) is the Markov transition density that models the motion of the target from time n to n + 1.
- $p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))$ is the sensor likelihood function.
- The normalizing constant $p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n))$ is given by

$$p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n)) = \int p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n))d\mathbf{x}(n+1)$$
(3.37)

3.2.2 Bayesian filtering of multiple targets

Similar to (3.35) & (3.36), the multi-target Bayesian filtering can be summarized as follows

$$p(X(n+1)|Y(n)) = \int p(X(n+1)|X(n))p(X(n)|Y(n))dX(n) \quad (3.38)$$

$$p(X(n+1)|Y(n+1)) = \frac{p(Y(n+1)|X(n+1))p(x(n+1)|Y(n))}{p(Y(n+1)|Y(n))}$$
(3.39)

where X(n) and Y(n) are multi-target state state set and observation set, respectively, i.e.,

$$X(n) = \left\{ \{\}, \{\mathbf{x}_1(n)\}, \{\mathbf{x}_1(n), \mathbf{x}_2(n)\}, \dots, \{\mathbf{x}_1(n), \dots, \mathbf{x}_{n_X}(n)\} \right\}$$
(3.40)

$$Y(n) = \left\{ \{\}, \{\mathbf{y}_1(n)\}, \{\mathbf{y}_1(n), \mathbf{y}_2(n)\}, \dots, \{\mathbf{y}_1(n), \dots, \mathbf{y}_{n_Y}(n)\} \right\}$$
(3.41)

where the null set denotes the possibility of the presence of no target/observation at a certain instant.

Computing (3.38) & (3.39) can be done by exploiting the knowledge of finite-set statistics (FISST) [68]. Further, even when the number of targets is small, the multi-target Bayesian filtering above may not be a desired approach due to its demand for high computational cost. Hence, alternate methods were sought and as a result, PHD filtering [68], tracking the first moment of the posterior rather than the full posterior itself, was found to be a reasonable alternative in terms of computational requirement and performance.

3.3 Bayesian Filtering for Linear Gaussian Systems

In a linear Gaussian system, i.e., $\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{x})$ is now written as $\mathbf{H}\mathbf{x}$, propagating the full posterior is equivalent to propagating the first two moments given by

$$\mathbf{x}(n|n) = \int \mathbf{x}(n) p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n)) d\mathbf{x}(n)$$
(3.42)

$$\mathbf{C}(n|n) = \int \mathbf{x}(n)\mathbf{x}(n)^T p(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n)) d\mathbf{x}(n).$$
(3.43)

Hence, Bayesian tracking or propagating the full posterior for single targets under linear

Chapter 3. Bayesian Filtering Theory

Gaussian assumption is summarized as

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n) \rangle \xrightarrow{preduction} p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n)) \xrightarrow{update} p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n+1)) \\ \begin{cases} \mathbf{x}(n|n) \\ \mathbf{P}(n|n) \end{cases} \begin{cases} \mathbf{x}(n+1|n) \\ \mathbf{P}(n+1|n) \end{cases} \begin{cases} \mathbf{x}(n+1|n+1) \\ \mathbf{P}(n+1|n+1) \end{cases}$$
(3.44)

where

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n) = \mathbf{C}(n|n) - \mathbf{x}(n|n)\mathbf{x}^{T}(n|n)$$
(3.45)

$$\mathbf{x}(n+1|n) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{x}(n|n) \tag{3.46}$$

$$\mathbf{P}(n+1|n) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}(n|n)\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q}$$
(3.47)

$$\mathbf{x}(n+1|n+1) = \mathbf{x}(n+1|n) + \mathbf{G}(n+1)\boldsymbol{\nu}(n+1)$$
 (3.48)

$$\mathbf{P}(n+1|n+1) = \mathbf{P}(n+1|n) - \mathbf{G}(n+1)\mathbf{P}_{\nu}(n+1)\mathbf{G}^{T}(n+1)$$
(3.49)

and $\nu(n+1)$, $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}(n+1)$ and $\mathbf{G}(n+1)$ are the innovation, innovation–covariance and the Kalman gain, respectively [8].

3.4 Approximate Bayesian Filtering

Unlike the linear Gaussian case, the analytical solution for the propagation of posterior over time is not feasible for a general case. Often, the posterior distributions are propagated in the form of a histogram by employing sequential Monte-Carlo (SMC) methods [25]. While this methods provides an attractive solution for many of the problems for which any analytical form solution is unthinkable, the computational requirement is also relatively high. Hence, huge interest was shown in the past on producing computationally feasible implementations of SMC methods.

In this section we discuss an approximate implementation schemes for SMC methods. First, we discuss a relatively known case, the first moment approximate Bayesian filtering in linear Gaussian case, known as α , β , γ *filter* in the literature [8]. Then, we discuss the general case of the first moment filter, the PHD filter.

3.4.1 Approximation for linear Gaussian systems

The approximate filtering for linear Gaussian systems can be summarized as follows.

$$\tilde{p}(\mathbf{x}(n)|\mathbf{y}(n)) \xrightarrow{\text{prediction}} \tilde{p}(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n)) \xrightarrow{\text{update}} \tilde{p}(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{y}(n+1)) \\ \left\{ \mathbf{x}(n|n) \right\} \qquad \left\{ \mathbf{x}(n+1|n) \right\} \qquad \left\{ \mathbf{x}(n+1|n+1) \right\}$$
(3.50)

where

$$\mathbf{x}(n+1|n) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{x}(n|n) \tag{3.51}$$

$$\mathbf{x}(n+1|n+1) = \mathbf{x}(n+1|n) + \mathbf{G}\boldsymbol{\nu}(n+1).$$
(3.52)

and the expression $\tilde{p}(.)$ denotes that the distribution is only approximate.

Note that, the Kalman gain above is not a function of n, rather, it is a matrix of constants. Examples of constant gain Kalman filter include the α, β and the α, β, γ filters [8].

3.4.2 Approximation for general systems

The first moment of the posterior density (3.34), also known as the PHD, is defined as follows [68]

$$D(n|n) = D(\mathbf{x}(n)|Y(n)) = \int p(\{\mathbf{x}(n)\} \cup Z|Y(n))dZ$$
(3.53)

PHD holds a unique property that its integral on any region S of the state space is the expected number of targets contained in S, i.e.,

$$N(n|n) = \int_{S} \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{x}(n)|Y(n:n))d\mathbf{x}(n).$$
(3.54)

Hence, the above property could be considered as an alternate definition for the PHD.

The propagation of PHD over time is summarized as [68]

where the down arrow specifies the first moment of the distribution shown above it.

It is now is remaining to define the prediction and the update operators of the PHD in (3.55).

3.4.2.1 The prediction operator of the PHD

In a general scenario assuming target disappearance, targets spawning and entry of new targets, the predicted PHD is given by [68]

$$D(n+1|n) = D(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|Y(n))$$

= $D_b(\mathbf{x}(n+1)) + \int \Phi(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n))D(\mathbf{x}(n)|Y(n))d\mathbf{x}(n)$ (3.56)

where

$$\Phi(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n)) = \left[e_{t+1|t}(\mathbf{x}(n))p(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n)) + \mathcal{D}_s(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n))\right] \quad (3.57)$$

and

- $D_b(\mathbf{x}(n+1))$ PHD of newborn spontaneous targets at time step n + 1.
- e_{t+1|t}(x(n)) probability that a target with state x(n) at time step n will survive at time step n + 1.
- D_s(x(n+1)|x(n)) PHD of spawned targets at time step n + 1 from a target with state x(n).

Chapter 3. Bayesian Filtering Theory

3.4.2.2 The update operator of the PHD

Given the observations at time-step n + 1, Y(n + 1), The predicted PHD above is updated as follows

$$D(n+1|n+1) = D(\mathbf{x}(n+1)|Y(n+1)) \\ = \left[\sum_{\mathbf{y}(n)\in Y(n+1)} \frac{p_D(\mathbf{x}(n+1))\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))}{\lambda(n+1)c(\mathbf{y}(n+1)) + \psi(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|Y(n+1))} + 1 - p_D(\mathbf{x}(n+1))\right] D(n+1|n)$$
(3.58)

where

$$\psi(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|Y(n+1)) = \int p_D(\mathbf{x}(n+1))p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))\mathbf{D}(n+1|n)d\mathbf{x}(n+1)$$
(3.59)

and

- $p_D(\mathbf{x}(n+1))$ detection probability of a target with state $\mathbf{x}(n+1)$ at time step n+1.
- $p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\mathbf{x}(n+1))$ single target likelihood function.
- $\lambda(n+1)$ poisson distributed false alarm per scan.
- $c(\mathbf{y}(n+1))$ clutter probability density.

Chapter 4

Joint MIMO Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding

4.1 Introduction

It has recently been shown in [99] that for a majority of OSTBCs, the MIMO channel is blindly identifiable. This interesting property of OSTBCs is based on the assumption that the channel is fixed during a long enough time interval. However, the channel may be timevarying in practice due to the mobility of the transmitter and/or receiver, as well as due to the carrier frequency mismatch between the transmitter and receiver. Therefore, channel tracking is essential in these cases.

In [61], Kalman filtering has been studied in application to channel tracking for MIMO communication systems. The method of [61] is based on two assumptions. First, the underlying space-time coding scheme is based on Alamouti code [3], and therefore its application is limited to the case of two transmit antennas. Second, the channel is assumed

to be time-varying during the transmission of each block. The latter assumption implies that the linear ML receiver is optimal in a mean sense [61].

Kalman filtering has been applied to the problem of MIMO channel tracking in several other research reports [50]. Also, in [22], a frequency domain equalization method has been proposed for single carrier MIMO systems. Particle filtering has also been used in [37] for MIMO channel tracking. However, neither of the methods of [50] and [37] has been developed for OSTBCs. In [2], a Kalman filtering approach has been used in the maximization step of an expectation-maximization (EM) method to track the frequency selective MIMO channel when the underlying code is an OSTBC and when an orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) is used. However, this method does not make use of the structure of the underlying OSTBC to simplify Kalman filtering.

In this chapter, we extend the result of [61] for any type of OSTBCs and show that Kalman filtering can be significantly simplified due to the specific structure of OSTBCs. Unlike [61], we assume that the channel is fixed during the transmission of each block of data, and it can only change between blocks. Based on such an assumption, we develop a two-step channel tracking algorithm. In the first step, Kalman filtering is used at the beginning of each block to obtain an initial channel estimate for that block based on the channel estimate obtained for previous block. In the second step, to improve the quality of the channel estimate obtained by Kalman filtering, we propose a simple iterative channel estimation technique. This iterative method is in fact a decision-directed algorithm and it consists of sequential use of a linear receiver and a linear channel estimator.

We should mention that the idea of iterating the MIMO channel and symbol estimates is very common in the literature (see for example [44]). However, this chapter presents two contributions to the field: First, we extend the results in [61] to any type of OSTBCs. Second, we use interesting properties of OSTBCs to show that the Kalman filtering based channel tracking can be significantly simplified.

The rest of this Chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.2 we present our semiblind channel tracking and data decoding algorithm and derive the simplified version. In section 4.3 simulation results are presented to demonstrate the performance of the proposed algorithm and in Section 4.4 the Chapter is concluded.

4.2 Kalman Filter Based Channel Tracking

In this Section, we study the problem of channel tracking via Kalman filtering. We propose a two-step channel tracking algorithm. In the first step of this algorithm, Kalman filtering is used to obtain an initial channel estimate for each block based on the channel estimates obtained for the previous blocks. In the second step, the so-obtained initial channel estimate is refined using an iterative decision-directed technique, which involves a linear ML channel estimator based on the decoded symbols. In fact, the linearity of such an ML channel estimator follows from the interesting properties of OSTBCs. We will also show that due to the specific structure of OSTBCs, Kalman filtering based channel tracking can be significantly simplified.

4.2.1 Conditional channel estimate

In this section, we derive the ML channel estimate of the MIMO system given the knowledge of the transmitted symbols. First, we rewrite (2.11) as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n = \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{g}(n) + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n \tag{4.60}$$

where the $2MT \times 2MN$ real matrix $\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$ is defined as

$$\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \triangleq [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_1)\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n \quad \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_2)\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n \quad \dots \quad \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n]$$
(4.61)

and \mathbf{e}_k , as defined earlier, is the *k*th column of the identity matrix \mathbf{I}_{2MN} . The following Lemma plays an important role in simplifying the forthcoming Kalman filtering algorithm.

Lemma 4.1 The matrix $\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$ satisfies

$$\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) = \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^{2}\mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$
(4.62)

Proof: We first show that the sub-matrices $\{\Phi_k\}_{k=1}^{2K}$ satisfy the following equations:

$$\Phi_l^T \Phi_m = \begin{cases} \mathbf{I}_{2MN} & \text{if } l = m, \\ -\Phi_m^T \Phi_l & \text{if } l \neq m. \end{cases}$$
(4.63)

To prove (4.63), we use the decoupling property in (2.14). Indeed, for any channel vector g, the decoupling property in (2.14) implies that

$$[\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_l^T [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_l = \|\mathbf{g}\|^2$$
(4.64)

or

$$\mathbf{g}^T \mathbf{\Phi}_l^T \mathbf{\Phi}_l \mathbf{g} = \mathbf{g}^T \mathbf{g} \tag{4.65}$$

Since (4.65) holds true for any g and because $\Phi_l^T \Phi_l$ is a symmetric matrix, we conclude that $\Phi_l^T \Phi_l = \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$. To prove the second part of (4.63), based on the fact that different

columns of $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})$ are orthogonal to each other, we can write

$$[\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_{l}^{T} [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_{m} = \mathbf{g}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{m} \mathbf{g} = 0 [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_{m}^{T} [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{g})]_{l} = \mathbf{g}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{m}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{l} \mathbf{g} = 0$$
 (4.66)

Since (4.66) holds true for any vector g and since $\Phi_l^T \Phi_m + \Phi_m^T \Phi_l$ is a symmetric matrix, we conclude that $\Phi_l^T \Phi_m + \Phi_m^T \Phi_l = 0$. This completes the proof of (4.63).

We now use (4.63) to prove (4.62). To do so, we note that

$$\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) = \begin{bmatrix}
\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \cdots & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \\
\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \cdots & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \\
\vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\
\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} & \cdots & \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}
\end{bmatrix}$$

$$(4.67)$$

where we have used (4.61). Note also that

$$\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T} \underbrace{\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{l})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{l})}_{\|\mathbf{e}_{l}\|^{2}\mathbf{I}_{2K}} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} = \|\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\|^{2}$$
(4.68)

which follows from the decoupling property. For $l \neq m$, the following set of equalities holds true:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{l}) \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{m}) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} &= \sum_{r=1}^{2K} \sum_{s=1}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,r} [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{l})]_{r}^{T} [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{m})]_{s} \tilde{s}_{n,s} \\ &= \sum_{r=1}^{2K} \sum_{s=1, s \neq r}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,r} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{r}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{s} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,s} + \sum_{r=1}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,r} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \overline{\mathbf{\Phi}_{r}^{T}} \mathbf{\Phi}_{r} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,r} \\ &= \sum_{r=1}^{2K} \sum_{s=1, s \neq r}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,r} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{r}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{s} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,s} + \sum_{r=1}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,r} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{e}_{m}^{T} \mathbf{e}_{m} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,r} \\ &= -\sum_{r=1}^{2K} \sum_{s=1, s \neq r}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,s} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{s}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{r} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,r} + 0 \\ &= -\sum_{s=1}^{2K} \sum_{r=1, r \neq s}^{2K} \tilde{s}_{n,s} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{s}^{T} \mathbf{\Phi}_{r} \mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{s}_{n,r} = -\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T} \mathbf{A}^{T} \left(\mathbf{e}_{l}\right) \mathbf{A} \left(\mathbf{e}_{m}\right) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{s}_{n,r}$ is the *r*th element of \tilde{s}_n . Therefore, we obtain that, for $l \neq m$

$$\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{l})\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{m})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}=0$$
(4.69)

It follows from (4.68) and (4.69) that $\mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) = \|\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n\|^2 \mathbf{I}_{2MN} = \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2 \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$ and the proof is complete.

It follows from (4.60) and (4.62) that given \tilde{s}_n , the ML estimate of the channel vector g(n) can be obtained as

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathrm{ML}}(n) = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2} \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n.$$
(4.70)

Therefore, if the information symbols were available, the optimal ML channel estimation would involve a linear estimator as in (4.70). However, in practice, the information symbols are not available and they have to be estimated. To overcome this problem, one can use an iterative decision-directed channel estimation scheme. That is, given an initial channel estimate for the *n*th block, say $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n)$, one can replace $\mathbf{g}(n)$ in (2.16) with $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n)$ and obtain an estimate for $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n$, say $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n^{(0)}$. This estimate of $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n$ will, in turn, be used in (4.70) instead of $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}(n)$ to obtain a new estimate for $\mathbf{g}(n)$, say $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(1)}(n)$. This new channel estimate will again be used in (2.16) instead of $\mathbf{g}(n)$ to obtain a new estimate of $\mathbf{s}(n)$. This procedure is repeated until the normalized difference between two consecutive channel estimates is negligible. The accuracy of this iterative decision-directed channel estimate $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n)$. We propose to use Kalman filtering to obtain the initial channel estimate, $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n)$, based on the channel estimate for the previous blocks as well as the *n*th block received data.

4.2.2 Conditional channel tracking

In this section, we detail the time-varying channel tracking problem using Kalman filtering given the transmitted data symbols. We also show that using Lemma 1, the Kalman filter can be simplified significantly. To show this, we use (4.60) as the observation model of the Kalman filter [8]. Note that the data model in (4.60) is real-valued. To obtain a real-valued state transition equation, we can rewrite (2.17) as

$$\mathbf{g}(n) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{g}(n-1) + \mathbf{w}(n) \tag{4.71}$$

where

$$\mathbf{F} \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \begin{vmatrix} \operatorname{Re}(\alpha) \mathbf{I}_{MN} & -\operatorname{Im}(\alpha) \mathbf{I}_{MN} \\ \operatorname{Im}(\alpha) \mathbf{I}_{MN} & \operatorname{Re}(\alpha) \mathbf{I}_{MN} \end{vmatrix}$$

and $\mathbf{w}(n) = \underline{\mathbf{W}(n)}$ is the real-valued process noise with covariance matrix $\mathbf{Q} = (\sigma_w^2/2)\mathbf{I}_{2MN}$. We can use (4.71) as the real-valued state transition equation required for Kalman filtering.

The Kalman filtering problem for channel tracking in OSTBC-based MIMO communication system can now be formally stated as follows: Given the measurement-to-state matrix $B(\tilde{s}_n)$, use the observed data \tilde{y}_n to find the minimum mean squared error (MMSE) estimate of the components of the state vector g(n) for each $n \ge 1$.

Given the estimate of the state at time n - 1, i.e., g(n - 1|n - 1), and the associated error covariance matrix P(n - 1|n - 1), the Kalman filter [8] is used to obtain the estimate of the state at time n, i.e., g(n|n) and the associated error covariance matrix P(n|n). The Kalman filtering algorithm can be summarized as follows:

$$g(n|n-1) = Fg(n-1|n-1)$$
 (4.72)

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n-1) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}(n-1|n-1)\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q}$$
(4.73)

$$\hat{\tilde{\mathbf{y}}}_n = \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{g}(n|n-1) \tag{4.74}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}(n) = \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n - \hat{\tilde{\mathbf{y}}}_n \tag{4.75}$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{\nu}(n) = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{P}(n|n-1)\mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$$
(4.76)

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n) = \mathbf{P}(n|n-1)\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n)$$
(4.77)

$$\mathbf{g}(n|n) = \mathbf{g}(n|n-1) + \mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n)\boldsymbol{\nu}(n)$$
(4.78)

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n) = \mathbf{P}(n|n-1) - \mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n)\mathbf{P}_{\nu}(n)\mathbf{G}^{T}(n)$$
(4.79)

where $\mathbf{g}(n|n-1)$ is the predicted state, $\mathbf{P}(n|n-1)$ is the covariance matrix of the predicted state, $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_n$ is the predicted observation, $\boldsymbol{\nu}(n)$ is the innovation process, $\mathbf{P}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(n)$ is the innovation covariance matrix, $\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n)$ is the Kalman gain [8], and $\mathbf{R} = E\{\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n^T\}$ is the covariance matrix of the measurement noise $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n$. As we assumed that the measurement noise is spatio-temporally white with a variance of $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension, $\mathbf{R} = (\sigma_v^2/2)\mathbf{I}_{2MT}$ holds true.

4.2.3 Simplified algorithm

The following Lemma uses the result of Lemma 1 to reduce the computational complexity of finding $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n)$ in (4.77).

Lemma 4.2 If P(n-1|n-1) is a diagonal matrix, then, P(n|n-1) in (4.73) and P(n|n) in (4.79) are also diagonal, i.e., if

$$\mathbf{P}(n-1|n-1) = \delta_{n-1}\mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$
(4.80)

then

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n-1) = \beta_n \mathbf{I}_{2MN} \tag{4.81}$$

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n) = \delta_n \mathbf{I}_{2MN} \tag{4.82}$$

where

$$\beta_n = \delta_{n-1} |\alpha|^2 + \frac{\sigma_w^2}{2}$$
 and $\delta_n = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n}{2 \|s(n)\|^2 \beta_n + \sigma_v^2}$. (4.83)

Proof: Substituting (4.80) into the predicted state in (4.73), we can rewrite it as

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n-1) = \delta_{n-1}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q} = |\alpha|^2 \delta_{n-1}\mathbf{I}_{2MN} + \mathbf{Q} = \underbrace{\left(|\alpha|\delta_{n-1}^2 + \frac{\sigma_w^2}{2}\right)}_{\beta_n} \mathbf{I}_{2MN}.$$
(4.84)

Chapter 4. Joint MIMO Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding

Inserting (4.84) into (4.76) and using matrix inversion lemma, $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n)$ in (4.76) can be written as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n) = \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \left(\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) + \mathbf{P}^{-1}(n|n-1) \right)^{-1} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{2}{\sigma_{v}^{2}} \mathbf{I}_{2MT} - \frac{4}{\sigma_{v}^{4}} \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \left(\frac{2}{\sigma_{v}^{2}} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) + \frac{1}{\beta_{n}} \mathbf{I}_{2MN} \right)^{-1} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})$$

$$= \frac{2}{\sigma_{v}^{2}} \mathbf{I}_{2MT} - \left(\frac{4\beta_{n}}{2||\mathbf{s}(n)||^{2}\beta_{n}\sigma_{v}^{2} + \sigma_{v}^{4}} \right) \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})$$
(4.85)

where the fact that $\mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) = \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2 \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$ has been used.

Using (4.77) and (4.85), we rewrite (4.79) as

$$\mathbf{P}(n|n) = \mathbf{P}(n|n-1)$$

$$- \mathbf{P}(n|n-1)\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \left(\frac{2}{\sigma_{v}^{2}}\mathbf{I}_{2MT} - \left(\frac{4\beta_{n}}{2\|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^{2}\beta_{n}\sigma_{v}^{2} + \sigma_{v}^{4}}\right)\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\right)$$

$$= \left(\frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}\beta_{n}}{2\|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^{2}\beta_{n} + \sigma_{v}^{2}}\right)\mathbf{I}_{2MN}.$$
(4.86)

The proof is complete.

Based on Lemma 4.2, if $\mathbf{P}(0|0)$ is initialized as a diagonal matrix, $\mathbf{P}(n|n-1)$ and $\mathbf{P}(n|n)$ always take the form of (4.81) and (4.82), respectively. Hence, \mathbf{P}_{ν}^{-1} in (4.77) is simplified as in (4.85). It is also noteworthy that using (4.84) and (4.85) the Kalman filter gain $\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n)$ in (4.77) can be written as

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{KF}}(n) = \underbrace{\beta_n \left(\frac{2}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{4\beta_n \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2}{2\|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2 \beta_n \sigma_v^2 + \sigma_v^4} \right)}_{\triangleq \mu_n} \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \,. \tag{4.87}$$

Chapter 4. Joint MIMO Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding

Using (4.74), (4.75) and (4.87), we can simplify (4.78) as

$$\mathbf{g}(n|n) = \mathbf{g}(n|n-1) + \mu_n \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \Big(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}(n) - \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{g}(n|n-1) \Big)$$
$$= (1 - \mu_n \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2) \mathbf{g}(n|n-1) + \mu_n \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}(n) .$$
(4.88)

Therefore, the Kalman filtering algorithm presented in (4.72)–(4.79) can be simplified as it follows:

$$g(n|n-1) = Fg(n-1|n-1)$$
 (4.89)

$$\beta_n = \delta_{n-1} \|\alpha\|^2 + \frac{\sigma_w^2}{2},$$
(4.90)

$$\mu_n = \beta_n \left(\frac{2}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{4\beta_n \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2}{2\|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2 \beta_n \sigma_v^2 + \sigma_v^4} \right)$$
(4.91)

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n) = \mathbf{g}(n|n) = (1 - \mu_n \|\mathbf{s}(n)\|^2) \mathbf{g}(n|n-1) + \mu_n \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}(n)$$
(4.92)

$$\delta_n = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n}{2 \|s(n)\|^2 \beta_n - \sigma_v^2} \,. \tag{4.93}$$

We then use the so-obtained $\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{(0)}(n)$ in the aforementioned iterative procedure to improve its accuracy.

Remark 1: Note that the simplified Kalman filter requires the knowledge of the symbol vector \tilde{s}_n (or s(n)). However, the primary objective is to decode s(n). To overcome this obstacle, we propose to replace \tilde{s}_n in the Kalman filter equations (4.89)–(4.93), by its estimate, which is obtained by replacing the true channel vector in (2.16) by the predicted channel vector g(n|n-1) as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{g}(n|n-1)\|^2} \mathbf{A}^T \big(\mathbf{g}(n|n-1) \big) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n \,. \tag{4.94}$$

Note that given the predicted channel vector g(n|n-1), the symbol estimate in (4.94) is optimal in the ML sense.

Remark 2: To initiate the whole process, we also need to obtain an accurate enough channel estimate $\hat{\mathbf{g}}(0)$ as well as its initial covariance $\delta_0 \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$. To obtain such an initial channel estimate, one can use a training block $\mathbf{s}(0)$, which is known at the receiver. At the beginning of the tracking process, the receiver can then use (4.70) to obtain the ML estimate of $\mathbf{g}(0)$ as

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^2} \mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_0) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_0$$
(4.95)

where $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_0 = \mathbf{s}(0)$ is defined.

To find δ_0 , we note that

$$\delta_{0} \mathbf{I}_{2MN} = E \left\{ (\hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) - \mathbf{g}(0)) (\hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) - \mathbf{g}(0))^{T} \right\}$$

= $E \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) \hat{\mathbf{g}}^{T}(0) \right\} + E \left\{ \mathbf{g}(0) \mathbf{g}^{T}(0) \right\} - 2E \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) \mathbf{g}^{T}(0) \right\}$ (4.96)

where channel is assumed zero-mean and

$$E \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}(0) \hat{\mathbf{g}}^{T}(0) \right\} = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^{4}} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) E \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{0} \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{0}^{T} \right\} \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0})$$

$$= \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^{4}} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \left(\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \underbrace{E\{\mathbf{g}(0)\mathbf{g}^{T}(0)\}}_{(\sigma_{h}^{2}/2)\mathbf{I}_{2MN}} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) + (\sigma_{v}^{2}/2)\mathbf{I}_{2MT} \right) \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0})$$

$$= \left(\frac{\sigma_{h}^{2}}{2} + \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{2\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^{2}} \right) \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$

$$E \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}(0)\mathbf{g}^{T}(0) \right\} = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^{2}} \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) E \left\{ \left(\tilde{\mathbf{B}}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0})\mathbf{g}(0) + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{0} \right) \mathbf{g}^{T}(0) \right\} = \frac{\sigma_{h}^{2}}{2} \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$

Therefore, one can obtain δ_0 as

$$\delta_0 = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sigma_v^2}{\|\mathbf{s}(0)\|^2} \,. \tag{4.97}$$

Remark 3: To avoid error propagation, we need to repeat training once in a while. The training repetition period (TRP) determines the bandwidth efficiency of the system and it is defined as the distance, in terms of number of blocks, between two consecutive training blocks.

4.2.4 Computational savings

In terms of computational complexity, the proposed channel tracking method enjoys the low computational complexity of linear processing. More specifically, the first step requires the computation of $\mathbf{B}^T(\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n)\tilde{\mathbf{y}}(n)$, and therefore, 2MT real multiplications are required for computation of each entry of $\mathbf{g}(n|n)$. Taking into account that $\mathbf{g}(n|n)$ is of length 2MN, the total computational complexity of the first step is of order $\mathcal{O}(M^2NT)$. The second step is indeed an iterative algorithm. In each iteration, we need to compute four quantities: $\|\mathbf{g}^{(k-1)}(n)\|^2$, $\mathbf{A}^T(\mathbf{g}^{(k-1)}(n))\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$, $\|\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n^k\|^2$, and $\mathbf{B}^T(\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n^{(k)})\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$. Computing these four quantities requires 2MN, 4KMT, 2K, and $4M^2NT$ real multiplications, respectively. Therefore, the computational complexity of the second step is of the order $\mathcal{O}(M^2NT)$ per iteration of the first step. The traditional Kalman filtering method involves the computation of $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n)$. This amounts to a computational complexity of the order $\mathcal{O}(M^3T^3)$ per iteration. Therefore, the proposed method significantly reduces the computational complexity of the traditional Kalman filtering.

	Author of hoating point operations
(4.72)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2N^2)$
(4.73)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3N^3)$
(4.74)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2 NT)$
(4.75)	$\mathcal{O}(MT)$
(4.76)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 N^2 T)$
(4.77)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3N^2T)$
(4.78)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2N)$
(4.79)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 N T^2)$
Complexity order	$O(M^3NT^2)$

Table 4.1: Standard KF based MIMO receiver complexity

Table 4.2: Simplified KF based MIMO receiver complexity

	Number of noating point operations
(4.89)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2N^2)$
(4.90)	<i>C</i>
(4.91)	
(4.92)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2T^2)$
(4.93)	C
Complexity order	$\mathcal{O}(M^2 N T^2)$

4.3 Simulation Results

In our numerical example, we consider the 3/4 rate code of [53] with N = M = T = 4, and K = 3. The SNR is defined as σ_h^2/σ_v^2 . In each simulation run, the elements of $\mathbf{H}(n)$ are generated according to Jakes model [43] corresponding to $F_m T_s = 0.0045$ where F_m is the doppler frequency and T_s is the sampling time. This results in $\alpha = J_0(0.2\pi F_m T_s)e^{j2\pi F_o T_s} = 0.9998e^{j0.0283}$ where $J_0(\cdot)$ is the zeroth order Bessel function

Table 4.3: MIMO receiver complexity comparisonStandard KFSimplified KF $\mathcal{O}(M^3NT^2)$ $\mathcal{O}(M^2NT^2)$

of first kind. In terms of channel estimation accuracy, we compare our Kalman filtering based channel tracking technique with the online implementation of the technique developed in [99]. In order to implement the method of [99] in an online manner, we have used the subspace tracking approach proposed in section III.G of [99]. In our comparison, we use normalized mean squared error (NMSE) of the channel estimates defined as

NMSE =
$$E\left\{\frac{\|\mathbf{H}(n) - \hat{\mathbf{H}}(n)\|^2}{\|\mathbf{H}(n)\|^2}\right\}.$$
 (4.98)

In terms of symbol error rate (SER), we compare our method not only with the method of [99] but also with the differential space-time coding scheme [53]. The latter scheme does not require the channel to be estimated. It should be mentioned that the two methods with which the proposed method is compared do not require regular transmission of pilots, whereas the proposed method does.

4.3.1 Channel tracking performance

In this section we experiment the channel tracking performance of the proposed algorithm. Figure 4.2 shows the real parts of instantaneous channel estimation value along with true channel value and Figure 4.3 shows the corresponding imaginary part.

Figure 4.4 shows the NMSE of the channel estimates versus the block index n, for different methods and for two different values of SNR. In this figure, TRP = 10 blocks is chosen. As can be seen from this figure, compared to the method of [99], the proposed channel tracking scheme has a lower NMSE as it tracks the channel between every two pilots.



Figure 4.2: True vs. estimated channel (real part)



Figure 4.3: True vs. estimated channel (imginary part)



Figure 4.4: The NMSE of channel estimates versus block index n

4.3.2 SER vs. SNR

Figure 4.5 illustrates the SERs of different methods, versus SNR, for TRP = 10. In this figure, we have also plotted the SER for the (clairvoyant) coherent ML receiver that is aware of the time-varying channel. It is noteworthy that the latter receiver does not correspond to any practical application and it is herein considered only for the sake of comparison. We have also plotted the performance of a differential coding scheme which uses the same OTSTBC which we have used in our method. As can be seen from this figure, for TRP = 10, our Kalman filtering based technique outperforms the differential space-time coding



Figure 4.5: The SERs versus SNR for different OSTBC decoding schemes

scheme by 1 dB.

It is interesting to observe that our technique outperforms the technique of [99] by more than 2 dB. In fact, when applied to track a time-varying MIMO channel, the algorithm of [99] performs even worse than the differential scheme. This is not surprising as [99] assumes that the MIMO channel is fixed within the observation interval. Therefore, the method of [99] is not applicable whenever the MIMO channel variations are fairly fast.

It is worth mentioning that each training block, the performance of our technique in terms of the NMSE degrades until the next training block is received. This explains the "periodic" behavior of our algorithm.

4.3.3 Continuous vs. block fading channel

In this example, we compare the performance of the receiver for two different channel assumptions, namely, continuous fading channels and block fading channels.

First, we compare the channel tracking performance for both of the channel models. For the comparison, the channel between first transmitting antenna and first receiving antenna, $H_{1,1}(n)$ is considered. Figure 4.6 shows the real parts of the true channel along with the estimated channel as if the true channel is transmitted in block fading manner. In the same plot, we also plot the estimated channel if the same true channel is transmitted in a continuous manner. Figure 4.7 shows the imaginary parts of such comparison. Both of the figures suggest that, the channel tracking performance is better for block fading assumptions. However, it should be noted that the channel estimation for continuous fading channel is also performed reasonably well. This claim is supported in the following figures.

Next, we compare the NMSE of both of the assumptions. Figure 4.8 shows the NMSE values vs. block index for the channel tracking schemes assuming block-fading and continuous fading, respectively. As expected, the block fading assumption is reasonably good even for continuous fading channels. In quantitative terms, on average, the block-fading assumption is able to perform with 2 dB loss in terms of NMSE. It is also worth mentioning that, typically, the NMSE curve is expected to be in a saw-tooth manner, however, due to the complex structure of the decision-directed receiver algorithm, the NMSE curves are wavy in nature.

Finally, the SER vs. SNR comparison is given if figure 4.9 for both of the channel assumption. As the figure suggests, the block fading assumption costs less than 1 dB in
performance in terms of SER for an fT value of 0.0045.

4.4 Conclusions

In this Chapter, we have investigated the problem of channel tracking for MIMO communication systems where the MIMO channel is time-varying. We considered MIMO systems where orthogonal space-time block codes are used to encode the information symbols. For such systems, we presented a two-step MIMO channel tracking algorithm. As the first step, Kalman filtering is used to obtain an initial channel estimate for the current block based on the channel estimates obtained for previous blocks. Then, in the second step, the so-obtained initial channel estimate is refined using a decision-directed iterative method. We have shown that due to the interesting properties of orthogonal space-time block codes, both the Kalman filter and the decision-directed algorithm can be significantly simplified. To initiate this method and to avoid error propagation, one needs to use a training block once in a while. The number of information carrying blocks between two consecutive training blocks (called training repetition period) is a measure of bandwidth efficiency of our channel tracking scheme. Our simulation results show that with a training repetition period of 10 blocks, our channel tracking method can have a performance, in terms of symbol error rate, within 2 dB from the coherent ML receiver.



Figure 4.6: Continuous vs. block fading channels - real part



Figure 4.7: Continuous vs. block fading channels - imaginary part



Figure 4.8: Continuous vs. block fading channels - NMSE



Figure 4.9: Continuous vs. block fading channels - SER

Chapter 5

Computationally Efficient Receivers for MIMO-OFDM Systems

5.1 Introduction

Time selectivity has become an increasingly important problem as MIMO-OFDM systems are being considered in a wide variety of mobile communication applications. A distinguished feature of OFDM is that the time varying channel can be estimated using some of the tones as pilot tones in every block of transmission. However, this leads to a significant reduction in data throughput. Hence, channel tracking algorithms for MIMO-OFDM systems can offer improvements in data throughput. In addition to that, some prior knowledge of the channel dynamics could also be exploited in performing a better channel estimation through channel tracking techniques. Many schemes for both channel estimation and channel tracking techniques have been explored by researchers in the past decade.

The use of least squares (LS) estimation and minimum mean square error (MMSE) estimation algorithms for channel estimation in MIMO-OFDM systems has been extensively studied in the literature. In [103] the time varying channel is approximated as polynomials and then estimated. In [15], channel estimation based on subspace tracking and LS estimation is presented. LS and MMSE channel estimators for MIMO-OFDM based on BLAST are reported in [6]. Blind channel estimation for linearly pre-coded MIMO-OFDM systems with multi-user interference was proposed in [125]. Channel estimation for MIMO-OFDM using a special structure of training sequence (cyclic comp type training sequence) was proposed in [100]. A minimum mean square error (MMSE) channel estimator for OFDM systems was proposed in [56]. Some modified versions of [56] were reported in [9, 55, 57] and in [7]. In [65] a MIMO-OFDM channel estimation scheme was developed based on training symbol arrangements. In [86] a MIMO-OFDM channel estimation scheme was developed based on LS estimation. In [69] a MMSE channel estimation scheme was derived for MIMO-OFDM system with spatial correlations. In [38] Optimal pilot sequence selection for MMSE channel estimation for MIMO-OFDM systems is presented. In [76] an LMMSE channel estimator was derived for MIMO-OFDM systems.

Some further notable channel estimation schemes include the iterative receivers based on the expectation maximization algorithm [2, 62], channel estimator based on the probabilistic data association (PDA) technique based on the time of arrivals (TOAs) estimation [121], subspace based techniques [127, 130], and the fast fourier transform (FFT) based techniques [85]. In general the above methods are able to perform well with time-varying channels provided that the channel variations are negligible during the transmission of one block of data. However, when some additional channel statistics are available, these methods are unable to utilize them to improve the performance of the receiver. Kalman filtering has been previously studied in application to channel tracking for MIMO-OFDM systems with different space-time coding schemes. In [2], the Kalman filter has been used in the maximization step of the EM algorithm to track the frequency selective MIMO channel when the underlying code is an OSTBC and when OFDM is used. In [97], an extended Kalman filter (EKF) based channel tracking scheme was developed for MIMO-OFDM systems. A decision directed Kalman filter based receiver is proposed in [92] for MIMO-OFDM systems and a soft–Kalman filter based receiver for MIMO–OFDM systems was reported in [49]. Although these techniques can be applied to OSTBCs, they have not been designed to exploit interesting properties of OSTBCs to the full extent.

In Chapter 4, we have shown that in scenarios with flat fading channels, symbol detection performance improvements and computational complexity reduction can be achieved by exploiting the special properties of OSTBCs. In this Chapter, this result and propose an iterative decision-directed Kalman filter (IDDKF) approach for channel tracking and data decoding in MIMO-OFDM systems. We assume that the channel is quasi stationary and that the synchronization is perfect. Our IDDKF algorithm is similar to the one reported in [92]. However, this Chapter presents two contributions to the field. First, we propose a simple decision-directed iterative technique to improve the channel tracking performance. Second, noticing that the dominant computational complexity comes from the implementation of the Kalman filter, we use special properties of OSTBCs to significantly simplify the Kalman filtering algorithm. This results in remarkable computational savings. We also show that our technique outperforms the method of [92] in terms of symbol error rate.

The rest of the Chapter is organized as follows. In the following section, the MIMO-OFDM system model is briefly discussed. In Section 5.2, the simplified Kalman filtering based channel tracking scheme is presented. Simulation results are provided in Section 5.3 and conclusions are drawn in Section 5.4.

5.2 Channel Tracking and Symbol Decoding Algorithm

5.2.1 Conditional ML data decoding

Using (2.27), the *n*th received OFDM word can be written as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n = \mathbb{A}(\mathbf{h}[n])\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n \tag{5.99}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n} &= \left[\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,0}^{\mathrm{T}}, \dots, \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,L-1}^{\mathrm{T}}\right]^{\mathrm{T}} \\ \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} &= \left[\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,0}^{\mathrm{T}}, \dots, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,L-1}^{\mathrm{T}}\right]^{T} \\ \mathbb{A}(\mathbf{h}[n]) &= \text{blockdiag} \left\{ \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{h}_{0}[n]), \dots, \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{h}_{L-1}[n]) \right\} \\ \mathbf{h}[n] &= \left[\mathbf{h}_{0}^{T}[n], \dots, \mathbf{h}_{L}[n]^{T}\right]^{T} \\ \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n} &= \left(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,0}^{\mathrm{T}}, \dots, \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,L-1}^{\mathrm{T}}\right) \end{split}$$

Given the channel vector $\mathbf{h}_i[n]$, the optimal maximum likelihood (ML) detection for OSTBC based MIMO-OFDM system can be done in a tone-by-tone basis. The linear receiver computes $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}$, the estimate of $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}$, as

$$\hat{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}}_{n,i} = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{h}_i[n]\|^2} \mathbf{A}^T(\mathbf{h}_i[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,i}.$$
(5.100)

The symbol-by-symbol decoder then builds $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_i[n]$, the estimate of vector $\mathbf{s}_i[n]$, as $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_i[n] = [\mathbf{I}_K j \mathbf{I}_K] \hat{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}$. The *k*th element of $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_i[n]$ is compared with all the points in the constellation corresponding to $s_{k,i}[n]$ and the closest point to the *k*th element of $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_i[n]$ is accepted as the *k*th decoded symbol.

Note that implementation of the ML decoder requires the knowledge of the timevarying channel. If the channel is fixed, one can use training to estimate the channel. However, in practice, the channel is time-varying, and hence tracking of the MIMO channel is required.

5.2.2 Conditional ML channel estimation

To mathematically derive the two-step channel tracking algorithm, we substitute (2.19) into (2.27) and re-write it as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,i} = \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i})\mathbf{h}_i[n] + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i} = \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i})\mathbf{W}_i\mathbf{g}[n] + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i}$$
(5.101)

where the $2MT \times 2MN$ real matrix $\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i})$ is defined as

$$\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}) \triangleq [\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_1)\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i} \quad \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_2)\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i} \quad \dots \quad \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}]$$
(5.102)

and \mathbf{e}_k is the *k*th column of the $2MN \times 2MN$ identity matrix \mathbf{I}_{2MN} . It has been shown in Section 4.2.2 that $\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i})$ has orthogonal columns and the norm of each column is equal to $\|\mathbf{s}_i[n]\|^2$, i.e., it satisfies

$$\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i})\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}) = \|\mathbf{s}_{i}[n]\|^{2}\mathbf{I}_{2MN}.$$
(5.103)

Now, (5.99) can be written as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n = \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{g}[n] + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_n$$
 (5.104)

where $\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) = \text{blockdiag} \{ \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,0}), \dots, \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,L-1}) \}$. Using (5.103), it can be shown that

$$\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) = \mathbf{D}_{n} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$
(5.105)

where $\mathbf{D}_n = \text{diag}\{\|\mathbf{s}_i[n]\|^2, \dots, \|\mathbf{s}_{L-1}[n]\|^2\}$. It follows from (5.104) and (5.105) that given $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n$, the ML estimate of the channel vector $\mathbf{g}[n]$ can be obtained as

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathrm{ML}}[n] = \left(\mathbf{W}^T \mathbf{D}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{2MN} \mathbf{W}\right)^{-1} \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n.$$
(5.106)

5.2.3 Channel tracking via Kalman filtering

From (2.18), the channel dynamics can be written as

$$\mathbf{g}[n+1] = \mathbb{F}\mathbf{g}[n] + \mathbf{u}[n] \tag{5.107}$$

where

$$\mathbf{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \Re\{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} & -\Im\{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \\ \Im\{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} & \Re\{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.108)

 $\mathbf{u}[n] = \underline{\mathbf{U}[n]}$, $\Gamma = \operatorname{diag}\{\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_{P-1}\}$ and $\mathbf{U}[n] = [\mathbf{U}_0[n], \dots, \mathbf{U}_{P-1}[n]]$. Further, it can be noted that $\mathbf{u}[n]$ is an i.i.d. Gaussian noise vector with zero mean and covariance $\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}$ where $\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = \operatorname{diag}\{\sigma_0, \dots, \sigma_{P-1}\}$.

The Kalman filtering problem for channel tracking in OSTBC-based MIMO-OFDM communication system can now be formally stated as follows: Given the measurement-to-state matrix $\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$, use the observed data $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$ to find the minimum mean squared error (MMSE) estimate of the components of the state vector $\mathbf{g}[n]$ for each $n \ge 1$.

Given the estimate of the state at time n - 1, g[n - 1|n - 1] and the associated error covariance matrix P[n - 1|n - 1], the Kalman filter is used to obtain the estimate of the state at time n, i.e., g[n|n] and the associated error covariance matrix P[n|n]. The Kalman filtering algorithm can be summarized as it follows:

$$g[n|n-1] = Fg[n-1|n-1]$$
(5.109)

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1]\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q}$$
(5.110)

$$\hat{\tilde{\mathbf{y}}}[n] = \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{g}[n|n-1]$$
(5.111)

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}[n] = \tilde{\mathbf{y}}[n] - \hat{\tilde{\mathbf{y}}}[n] \tag{5.112}$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{\nu}[n] = \mathbf{R} + \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$$
(5.113)

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{K}}[n] = \mathbf{P}[n|n-1|\mathbf{W}^{T}\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{s}_{n})\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}[n]$$
(5.114)

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = \mathbf{g}[n|n-1] + \mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{K}}[n]\boldsymbol{\nu}[n]$$
(5.115)

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n] = \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{K}}[n]\mathbf{P}_{\nu}[n]\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{K}}^{T}[n]$$
(5.116)

where $\mathbf{g}[n|n-1]$ is the predicted state, $\mathbf{P}[n|n-1]$ is the covariance matrix of the predicted state, $\hat{\mathbf{y}}[n]$ is the predicted observation, $\boldsymbol{\nu}[n]$ is the innovation process, $\mathbf{P}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}[n]$ is the innovation covariance matrix, $\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{K}}[n]$ is the Kalman gain, and $\mathbf{R} = E\{\tilde{\mathbf{v}}[n]\tilde{\mathbf{v}}[n]^T\}$ is the covariance matrix of the measurement noise $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}[n]$. As we assumed that the measurement noise is white with variance $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension, $\mathbf{R} = (\sigma_v^2/2)\mathbf{I}_{2MTL}$ holds true.

5.2.4 Simplified Kalman filter

Now, assuming constant modulus signals, we show that the Kalman filtering algorithm can be significantly simplified using the special properties of the OSTBCs introduced earlier. The following Lemma is introduced to reduce the computational complexity of the Kalman filtering algorithm in (5.109)–(5.116).

Lemma 5.1 For constant modulus signals, if $\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1]$ is a block diagonal matrix, then $\mathbf{P}[n|n-1]$ in (5.110) and $\mathbf{P}[n|n]$ in (5.116) are also block diagonal. More specifically, if

$$\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1] = \mathbb{I}_2 \otimes \Phi_{n-1} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}$$
(5.117)

then

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Psi}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}$$
(5.118)

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n] = \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Phi}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \tag{5.119}$$

where

$$\Phi_n = \operatorname{diag}\left\{\delta_n^0, \dots, \delta_n^{P-1}\right\}$$
(5.120)

$$\Psi_n = \operatorname{diag}\left\{\beta_n^0, \dots, \beta_n^{P-1}\right\}$$
(5.121)

and

$$\beta_n^p = \delta_{n-1}^p |\alpha_p|^2 + \frac{\sigma_p^2}{2}$$
(5.122)

$$\delta_n^p = \frac{\beta_n^p \sigma_v^2}{2s^2 L \beta_n^p + \sigma_v^2}$$
(5.123)

Proof: See Appendix A.

Proposition I: Using the above Lemma, the Kalman updated channel estimate in (5.115) is simplified as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Delta}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{g}[n|n-1] + (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Lambda}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}[n]$$
(5.124)

where $\Delta_n = ext{diag}\left\{ ilde{\mu}_n^0,\ldots, ilde{\mu}_n^{P-1}
ight\}$, $ilde{\mu}_n^p = 1 - s^2 L \mu_n^p$ and

$$\mu_n^p = \frac{2\beta_n^p}{2s^2 L \beta_n^p + \sigma_v^2}$$
$$\tilde{\mu}_n^p = 1 - s^2 L \mu_n^p$$

proof: Using (A.245) and (A.246) the Kalman gain in (5.114) can be written as

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{K}}[n] = \mathbf{P}[n|n-1]\tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T}\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{s}_{n}) \\
\left(\mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1}\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\tilde{\mathbf{W}}\left(\mathbf{I}_{2}\otimes\operatorname{diag}\left\{\gamma_{n}^{0},\ldots,\gamma_{n}^{P-1}\right\}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{MN}\right)\tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T}\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbf{R}^{-1}\right) \\
= \left(\mathbf{I}_{2}\otimes\operatorname{diag}\left\{\frac{2\beta_{n}^{0}}{2s^{2}L\beta_{n}^{0}+\sigma_{v}^{2}},\ldots,\frac{2\beta_{n}^{P-1}}{2s^{2}L\beta_{n}^{P-1}+\sigma_{v}^{2}}\right\}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{MN}\right)\tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T}\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \\
= \left(\mathbf{I}_{2}\otimes\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{MN}\right)\mathbf{W}^{T}\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tag{5.125}$$

where $\Lambda_n = \text{diag} \{\mu_n^0, \dots, \mu_n^{P-1}\}$ and $\mu_n^p = \frac{2\beta_n^p}{2s^2 L\beta_n^p + \sigma_v^2}$. Using (5.111), (5.112), and (5.125), we can simplify (5.115) as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Delta}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{g}[n|n-1] + (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbf{\Lambda}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}[n]$$
(5.126)

where
$$\Delta_n = \text{diag} \left\{ \tilde{\mu}_n^0, \dots, \tilde{\mu}_n^{P-1} \right\}$$
 and $\tilde{\mu}_n^p = 1 - s^2 L \mu_n^p$.

•

Therefore, the Kalman filtering algorithm presented in (5.109)–(5.116) can be simplified as it follows:

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{g}[n-1|n-1]$$

(5.127)

$$\beta_n^p = \delta_{n-1}^p |\alpha_p|^2 + \frac{\sigma_p^2}{2}$$
(5.128)

$$\mu_n^p = \frac{2\beta_n^p}{2s^2 L \beta_n^p + \sigma_v^2}$$
(5.129)

$$\tilde{\mu}_{n}^{p} = 1 - s^{2} L \mu_{n}^{p}$$

$$\sigma^{2} \beta^{0}$$
(5.130)

$$\delta_n^p = \frac{\sigma_v \beta_n}{2s^2 L \beta_n^0 + \sigma_v^2}$$
(5.131)

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \boldsymbol{\Delta}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{g}[n|n-1] \\ + (\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_n \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}) \, \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}[n]$$
(5.132)

5.2.5 Initializing the Kalman filter:

To initiate the whole process, we also need to obtain an accurate enough channel estimate $\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0]$ as well as its initial covariance $\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\delta_0} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN}$. To obtain such an initial channel estimate, one can use a training block $\mathbf{s}[0]$, which is known at the receiver. At the beginning of the tracking process, the receiver can then use (5.104) to obtain the ML estimate of $\mathbf{g}[0]$ as

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] = \frac{1}{s^2 L} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T (\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_0) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_0$$
(5.133)

where $\tilde{s}_0 = \underline{s[0]}$ is defined.

To find \mathbb{D}_{δ_0} , we note that

$$\mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbf{\Phi}_{0} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} = E\left\{ \left(\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] - \mathbf{g}[0] \right) \left(\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] - \mathbf{g}[0] \right)^{T} \right\} \\ = E\left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] \hat{\mathbf{g}}^{T}[0] \right\} + E\left\{ \mathbf{g}[0] \mathbf{g}^{T}[0] \right\} - E\left\{ \hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] \mathbf{g}^{T}[0] \right\} - E\left\{ \mathbf{g}[0] \hat{\mathbf{g}}^{T}[0] \right\} \\ = \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{2s^{2}L} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP}$$
(5.134)

where

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\delta_{0}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} &= E\left\{\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0]\hat{\mathbf{g}}^{T}[0]\right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{s^{4}L^{2}} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) E\left\{\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{0}\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{0}^{T}\right\} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ &= \frac{1}{s^{4}L^{2}} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \\ &\left(\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \underbrace{E\{\mathbf{g}[0]\mathbf{g}^{T}[0]\}}_{\mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\sigma_{g}^{2}/2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{2MNP}} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) + (\sigma_{v}^{2}/2) \mathbf{I}_{2MT}\right) \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{0}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ &= \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\sigma_{g}^{2}/2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} + \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{2s^{2}L} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP} \\ &= \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\delta_{0}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} + \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{2s^{2}L} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP} \\ &= \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \dim \left\{\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{w,0}^{2}}{1 - |\alpha_{0}|^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{s^{2}L}\right), \dots \\ &, \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{w,P-1}^{2}}{1 - |\alpha_{P-1}|^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2}}{s^{2}L}\right)\right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} (5.135) \end{split}$$

Therefore, using the knowledge of α , σ_v^2 , σ_w^2 , and $\mathbf{s}[0]$, one can obtain \mathbb{D}_{δ_0} as

$$\mathbb{D}_{\delta_0} = \operatorname{diag}\left\{\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma_{w,0}^2}{1-|\alpha_0|^2} + \frac{\sigma_v^2}{s^2L}\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\sigma_{w,P-1}^2}{1-|\alpha_{P-1}|^2} + \frac{\sigma_v^2}{s^2L}\right)\right\}.$$
 (5.136)

5.2.6 Channel tracking in training based systems

The simplified Kalman filter in the previous section can be used with slight modification for channel tracking in comp-type [71] training based MIMO-OFDM systems, where, at each time block, a number of equally spaced tones are used to send pilot symbols enabling the receiver to track the channel coefficients, and the rest of the tones are used to send the data. According to this scheme, the CSI values obtained from the training are then used to decode the data. It is discussed in [71] that the sufficient number of tones required for accurate channel estimation is equal to the channel length. As we have discussed in Chapter 1, we will use the simplified Kalman filter algorithm above to show in Section 5.3 that the system performance can be improved by employing the proposed adaptive algorithm.

5.2.7 Summary of the algorithm

The ML decoding discussed in Section 5.2.1 and the channel tracking scheme discussed in Section 5.2.3 are conditioned on the true channel transmitted data, respectively. In the following, we propose a decision directed iterative algorithm to track the channel and decode the data in a blind fashion between two training blocks.

[1] Use a block of symbols to obtain the initial channel estimate for g[0] as

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}[0] = \frac{1}{s^2 L} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T (\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_0) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_0$$
(5.137)

[2] The channel estimate covariance is initialized as

$$\mathbf{P}[0] = \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\delta_0} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \tag{5.138}$$

[3] Set n = 1

[4] Given ỹ[n] and g[n−1|n−1] = g[n−1], use the IDDKF as shown in Figure 5.10 to get the updated channel estimate g[n|n]. Note that the normalized channel estimation error is defined as

NE =
$$\frac{\|\mathbf{g}^{1}[n] - \mathbf{g}^{0}[n]\|^{2}}{\|\mathbf{g}^{0}[n]\|^{2}}$$
 (5.139)

[5] Set $\hat{\mathbf{g}}[n] = \hat{\mathbf{g}}[n|n]$ and obtain the following estimate of $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n$ as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{n} = \frac{1}{\parallel L \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \hat{\mathbf{g}}[n] \parallel^{2}} \mathbb{A}^{T} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{W}} \hat{\mathbf{g}}[n] \right) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n}$$
(5.140)

[6] Compute the estimate of the s(n) as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}(n) = [\mathbf{I}_K \ j\mathbf{I}_k]\hat{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}}_n \,. \tag{5.141}$$

- [7] Compare the *k*th element of $\hat{s}(n)$ with all the points in the constellation corresponding to $s_k(n)$ and introduce the closest point of this constellation to the *k*th element of $\hat{s}(n)$ as the *k*th decoded symbol.
- [8] Set $n \leftarrow n + 1$. If n < TRP go to 4, otherwise go to 1.

5.2.8 Computational savings

The computational complexity of the simplified Kalman filter is of order $\mathcal{O}(M^2NTLP)$. The second step is an iterative algorithm. In each iteration, we need to compute four quantities: $\|\mathbf{h}^{(k-1)}(n)\|^2$, $\mathbf{A}^T(\mathbf{h}^{(k-1)}(n))\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$, $\|\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n^k\|^2$, and $\mathbf{B}^T(\hat{\mathbf{s}}_n^{(k)})\tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$. Computing these four

(5.109)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2 N^2 P^2)$
(5.110)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3N^3P^3)$
(5.111)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2 NPTL)$
(5.112)	$\mathcal{O}(MTL)$
(5.113)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 N^2 P^2 TL)$
(5.114)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 N^2 P^2 TL)$
(5.115)	$\mathcal{O}(M^2 NPTL)$
(5.116)	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 N P T^2 L^2)$
Complexity order	$\mathcal{O}(M^3 NPT^2L^2)$

 Table 5.4: Standard KF based MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity

 Number of floating point operations

Table 5.5: Simplified KF based MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity

Number of noating point operations
$\mathcal{O}(M^2N^2P^2)$
$\mathcal{O}(P^2)$
$\mathcal{O}(P)$
$\mathcal{O}(P)$
$\mathcal{O}(M^2T^2L^2)$
$\mathcal{O}(P)$
$\mathcal{O}(M^2T^2L^2)$

quantities requires 2MNLP, 4KMTL, 2KL, and $4M^2NTLP$ real multiplications per iteration, respectively. Therefore, the computational complexity of the second step is of the order $\mathcal{O}(M^2NTLP)$ per iteration. In the algorithm presented in [2] the maximization step involves Kalman filter which requires the computation of $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}(n)$. This amount to a computational complexity of the order $\mathcal{O}(M^3T^3L^3)$ per iteration. Hence, the proposed algorithm clearly enjoys computational savings over [2].

Table 5.6: MIMO-OFDM receiver complexity comparisonStandard KFSimplified KF $\mathcal{O}(M^3NPT^2L^2)$ $\mathcal{O}(M^2T^2L^2)$

5.3 Simulation Results

In this section, we provide computer simulation results of the proposed scheme. The time domain MIMO wireless channel between each transmit and receive antenna is generated according to Jake's model [43, 107] with P = 8 independent Raleigh fading paths of equal powers. The MIMO channel at each path is generated according to Jake's model with the same value of fT where f is the doppler frequency and T is the sampling time. The received signal power is normalized to 1 at each receiving antenna and hence the signal to noise ratio (SNR) is defined as

$$SNR = \frac{1}{NP\sigma_v^2}$$
(5.142)

The channel tracking performance of the proposed scheme is measured in terms of the normalized mean squared error (NMSE) of the channel estimates defined as

NMSE =
$$E\left\{\frac{\|\mathbf{H}(n) - \hat{\mathbf{H}}(n)\|^2}{\|\mathbf{H}(n)\|^2}\right\}.$$
 (5.143)

We select a 4×4 MIMO system and L = 64 sub-carriers. The underlying OSTBC scheme is considered to be the 3/4 rate code of [53, eq.(7.4.10)] with N = M = T = 4, and K = 3.

5.3.1 Channel tracking performance

In this example, we plot NMSE versus block number for different number of sub-carriers in Figure 5.11. As expected from example 2, this example confirms that as the number of sub-carriers increase, the channel tracking performance moves towards the steady-state performance of the KF channel tracking scheme. Further, this example shows that when L is large enough it also helps to reduce the error propagation in the absence of training blocks. Indeed, as this figure suggests, when we use large enough L such as L = 64 in this case, the receiver is able to operate without the training blocks.

5.3.2 Symbol error rate studies

In this example we show compare the theoretical curves of SER to that from the simulation. Figure 5.12 shows the simulated SER of the proposed Kalman filter detector and that of the coherent receiver. The corresponding SER values derived theoretically in Chapter 6 are also plotted for comparison.

5.3.3 Effect of the iteration

In this example, we study the effect of iteration on the performance. Figure 5.13 (top) shows the SER vs. EPS value and the figure in the bottom of the same figure the corresponding iteration numbers taken.

5.3.4 Performance against Doppler frequency

In this example we study the performance of the proposed receiver against doppler frequency. Figure 5.14 shows the SER vs. fT values for the proposed scheme as well as for coherent ML receiver and the DDKF scheme of [92]. The figure shows that the proposed iteration scheme is able to perform better that that of [92] up to fT = 0.1.

5.4 Conclusions

A computationally efficient time-domain channel tracking technique for the OSTBC based MIMO-OFDM has been proposed. For such systems, a two-step channel tracking algorithm was proposed. As the first step, Kalman filtering is used to obtain an initial channel estimate, for each OFDM word, based on the channel estimates obtained for the previous words. In the second step, an iterative decision-directed method is used to refine the initial channel estimate obtained in the first step. It is shown that due to specific structure of OS-TBC, both steps can be significantly simplified. A theoretical performance analysis of the proposed algorithm was also presented.



Figure 5.10: Proposed receiver



Figure 5.11: Channel tracking performance



Figure 5.12: Symbol error rate studies



Figure 5.13: Effect of the iteration



Figure 5.14: Performance against Doppler frequency

Chapter 6

Performance Analysis of MIMO Receivers

6.1 Introduction

Theoretical performance analysis is a part of communication system design. In this chapter, we develop theoretical performance limits of the receivers proposed in the preceding two Chapters.

Performance analysis of MIMO systems and space-time coding has been considerably attended by the academic community in the past decade. Firstly, an approximate expression for the bit- error probability for OSTBC's was derived in [28]. An upper bound on the error probability was reported in [94]. Then, an exact expression was derived in [32] and later an extended version considering multi-dimensional constellations was reported in [30]. All these derivations assumed coherent detection, i.e., they assumed the knowledge of the channel at the receiver.

Some previous works on performance evaluation for space-time codes under imperfect channel knowledge include probability of error derivation for MMSE estimated channels [84]. The work reported in [82] analyzes the effects of time selectivity in differential modulated systems. A lower bound on probability of error of Alamouti St-Coded OFDM Systems with frequency offset was derived in [5]. The impact of time-selective fading on orthogonal space-time block coding was derived in [74]. All of the above derivations are approximate ones considering a specific receiver structure. The performance of Kalman filter based decision-directed receiver for MIMO-OFDM system was never studied before. Further, in this Chapter, we derive general expressions regardless of the number of Tx/Rx antennas.

In this Chapter, we derive approximate BER expressions for the proposed MIMO receivers for flat fading as well as frequency-selective channels. Assuming the ML channel estimates for the first (training) block, we have derived the instantaneous signal to interference and noise ratio (SINR) for consecutive transmission blocks in the absence of training, by exploiting Kalman filtering to track the channel in a decision-directed mode. The derivation is general for any number of transmitting and receiving antennas. We study the effect in performance for different stages of the channel estimation, i.e., the Kalman predicted channel, Kalman updated channel and the steady-state channel estimate, and conclude that for MIMO-OFDM systems, the steady state performance is accelerated with the number of sub-carriers. This observation lead us for the derivation of the theoretical performance limits for time-domain and frequency-domain channel tracking for MIMO-OFDM systems. As expected, the theoretical and simulated BER curves match and confirm that the proposed time-domain channel tracking is superior in performance to that of frequency domain one.

The rest of this Chapter is organized as follows. In Section 6.2.1 we have derived an

approximate value of the SNR value at each block in the absence of training. In Section 6.2.2 the averaged probability for different cases of the decision-directed Kalman filter estimation and their suitability is discussed. In Section 6.3, some numerical examples are provided and in Section 6.4 some conclusions are drawn.

6.2 Decision-Directed Kalman Filter Receiver

6.2.1 Instantaneous SNR

Let us assume that we have used pilot symbols at block n-1 to get the ML channel estimate g[n-1|n-1] and the corresponding estimation error covariance (see (5.106) and (5.135))

$$\mathbf{g}[n-1|n-1] = \left(\mathbf{W}^T \mathbf{D}_{n-1} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{2MN} \mathbf{W}\right)^{-1} \mathbf{W}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n-1}) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n-1} \qquad (6.144)$$

$$\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1] = \delta_{n-1}^{g} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP}$$
(6.145)

where $\delta_{n-1}^{g} = \sigma_{v}^{2}/(2s^{2}L)$, and for simplicity, it is assumed that the channel statistics remain the same at each taps, i.e., $\alpha_{0} = \alpha_{1} = \dots = \alpha_{P-1} = \alpha$.

Pre-multiplying (6.144) by W_i we get the initial estimated frequency response at the *i*th sub-carrier as

$$\mathbf{h}_{i}[n-1|n-1] \coloneqq \mathbf{W}_{i}\mathbf{g}[n-1] \tag{6.146}$$

The corresponding error covariance can be written as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{h}}[n-1|n-1] = \mathbf{W}_{i}\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1]\mathbf{W}_{i}^{T}$$
(6.147)

$$= \delta_{n-1}^{\mathrm{h}} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP}. \tag{6.148}$$

where $\delta_{n-1}^{h} = P \delta_{n-1}^{g}$.

With no pilot available at block n, the Kalman prediction of the channel at block n is written as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{g}[n-1|n-1]$$
 (6.149)

We can write the above channel estimate as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{g}[n] + \varepsilon[n|n-1] \tag{6.150}$$

where g[n] is the true channel and $\varepsilon[n|n-1]$ is a $2MN \times 1$ vector that accounts for the channel estimation errors at block n. It can be verified that $\varepsilon[n|n-1]$ has zero mean and covariance matrix

$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}[n-1|n-1]\mathbf{F}^{T} + \mathbf{Q}$$
$$= \beta_{n}^{g}\mathbb{I}_{2MNP}$$
(6.151)

where $\beta_n^{\rm g} = \delta_{n-1}^{\rm g} |\alpha|^2 + \sigma_u^2/2.$

Pre-multiplying (6.150) by \mathbf{W}_i we get the estimated frequency response at the *i*th subcarrier as

$$\mathbf{h}_{i}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{h}_{i}[n] + \xi_{i}[n|n-1]$$
(6.152)

where $\mathbf{h}_i[n]$ is the true response and $\xi_i[n|n-1]$ is the error associated to $\varepsilon[n|n-1]$. It can be noticed that $\xi_i[n|n-1]$ has zero mean and covariance matrix

$$\mathbf{P}_{\xi}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{W}_{i}\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon}[n|n-1]\mathbf{W}_{i}^{T}$$
$$= \beta_{n}^{h}\mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$
(6.153)

where $\beta_n^{\rm h} = P \beta_n^{\rm g}$.

Assuming that the data was decoded error free using the predicted channel $h_i[n|n-1]$, the updated channel is given as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = \mathbf{g}[n|n-1] + \mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{K}}\nu[n]$$
(6.154)

where $\nu[n]$ is the innovation process that is zero-men with covariance matrix $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}[n]$ (see 5.2). Similar to (6.150), we can write the above channel estimate as

$$\mathbf{g}[n|n] = \mathbf{g}[n] + \varepsilon[n|n] \tag{6.155}$$

The corresponding error covariance can be written as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon}[n|n] = \delta_n^{\mathbf{g}} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP} \tag{6.156}$$

where

$$\delta_n^{\rm g} = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^{\rm g}}{2s^2 L \beta_n^{\rm g} + \sigma_v^2} \tag{6.157}$$

It is worth mentioning that $\mathbf{h}_{i}[n|n-1]$ is zero mean with covariance

$$\mathbf{P}_{h}[n|n-1] = E\left\{\mathbf{h}_{i}[n|n-1]\mathbf{h}_{i}^{T}[n|n-1]\right\}$$
$$= \mathbf{W}_{i}\mathbf{F}E\left\{\mathbf{g}[n|n-1]\mathbf{g}^{T}[n|n-1]\right\}\mathbf{F}^{T}\mathbf{W}_{i}^{T}$$
$$= \rho_{n}\mathbf{I}_{2MN}$$
(6.158)

where

$$\rho_n = P|\alpha|^2 \left(\frac{\sigma_g^2}{2} + \frac{\sigma_v^2}{2s^2L}\right). \tag{6.159}$$

Assuming the channel estimate at block n as $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i[n] = \mathbf{h}_i[n|n-1]$ the linear receiver that computes $\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}$, the estimate of $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i}$, is written as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{n,i} = \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n,i}
= \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \left(\mathbf{A}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n] - \xi_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i} \right)
= \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \left(\mathbf{A}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] - \mathbf{A}(\xi_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] + \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{n,i} \right)
= \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] - \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \mathbf{A}(\xi_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] + \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{i,n}
= \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] - \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n]) \xi_{i}[n] + \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]) \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{i,n}
= \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n] - \tilde{v}_{i,n} + \tilde{z}_{i,n}$$
(6.160)

where the noise term $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_{i,n}$ is uncorrelated and zero mean with covariance matrix

$$\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{z}}} = \frac{\sigma_v^2}{2\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i[n]\|^2} \mathbf{I}_{2K},\tag{6.161}$$

and the vector $\tilde{\upsilon}_{i,n}$ zero mean with covariance matrix

$$\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}} = \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{4}} E\left\{\mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])\xi_{i}[n]\xi_{i}^{T}[n]\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])\mathbf{A}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])\right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{4}}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n]}\left\{\mathbf{B}(\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])E_{\xi_{i}[n]}\left\{\xi_{i}[n]\xi_{i}^{T}[n]\right\}\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])\right\}\mathbf{A}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])$$

$$= \frac{\beta_{n}^{\mathbf{h}}}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{4}}\mathbf{A}^{T}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n]}\left\{\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])\mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}[n])\right\}\mathbf{A}(\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n])$$
(6.162)

where $E_x(.)$ denotes the expectation of the argument with respect to x.

The following lemma derives a property of the OSTBCs, which will be useful to simplify (6.162).

Lemma 6.1 The matrix $\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)$ satisfies

$$\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) = \frac{(T-d)N}{T}\sigma_s^2 \mathbf{I}_{2MT}$$
(6.163)

where d is the number of zeros contained in each column of X(s[n]).

proof: See Appendix B.

Using 6.1, (6.162) is simplified as follows

$$\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{v}} = \left(\frac{\beta_{n}^{h}\sigma_{s}^{2}}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}}\right) \left(\frac{T-d}{T}\right) N \mathbf{I}_{2K}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\tilde{\beta}_{n}^{h}\sigma_{s}^{2}}{\|\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n]\|^{2}}\right) \mathbf{I}_{2K}$$
(6.164)

where $\tilde{\beta}_n^{\rm h} = \beta_n^{\rm h} \left(\frac{T-d}{T} \right) N$.

Chapter 6. Performance Analysis of MIMO Receivers

The SNR of the decision variable can now be written as

$$SNR = \frac{\sigma_s^2 \|\mathbf{\hat{h}}_i[n]\|^2}{2\tilde{\beta}_n^{h} + \sigma_v^2}$$
(6.165)

6.2.2 Averaged probability of error

Considering m-ary square QAM, the probability of error can now be approximately written as [12]

.

$$P_{e,n} = \frac{2(\sqrt{m}-1)}{\sqrt{m}\log_2\sqrt{m}}Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{3\mathrm{SNR}}{m-1}}\right) = c\ Q(a_n\sqrt{\varsigma}) \tag{6.166}$$

where

$$c = \frac{2(\sqrt{m}-1)}{\sqrt{m}\log_2 \sqrt{m}},$$
(6.167)

$$a_n^2 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{m-1}} \left(\frac{\rho_n \sigma_s^2}{2\tilde{\beta}_n^{\rm h} + \sigma_v^2} \right), \qquad (6.168)$$

 $\varsigma = \frac{\|\hat{h}[n]\|^2}{\rho_n}$ and Q(x) is the complementary error function defined as

$$Q(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-t^{2}/2} dt.$$
 (6.169)

The averaged BER is written as

$$\bar{P}_{e,n} = c E\{Q(a\sqrt{\varsigma})\}$$
$$= c \int_0^\infty Q(a\sqrt{\varsigma})p_{\varsigma}(\varsigma)d\varsigma \qquad (6.170)$$

The integration (6.170) can be analyzed under two different cases.

Case I: P = 1

In this case we have $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_{i}[n] = \mathbf{I}_{2MN}\hat{\mathbf{g}}[n]$ where $\hat{\mathbf{g}}[n]$ is i.i.d Gaussian with zero mean and variance ρ_{n} . The probability distribution of $\varsigma = \|\mathbf{g}[n]\|^{2}/\rho_{n}$ is chi-squared with k = 2MNP degrees of freedom, i.e.,

$$p_{\varsigma}(\varsigma) = \frac{(1/2)^{k/2}}{\Gamma(k/2)} \varsigma^{k/2-1} e^{-\varsigma/2}$$
(6.171)

the moment generating function of the above pdf is given as $(1 - 2s)^{-k/2}$. From [101, pp. 124], the integration of (6.170) reduces to

$$\bar{P}_{e,n} = c \, \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} \left(\frac{\sin^2 \theta}{a_n^2 + \sin^2 \theta} \right)^m d\theta \tag{6.172}$$

where m = MNP.

Finally, the average bit error rate is written as

$$\bar{P}_{e,n} = c \, \frac{1}{2} \left[1 - \mu_n \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \left(\begin{array}{c} 2k \\ k \end{array} \right) \left(\frac{1 - \mu_n^2}{4} \right)^k \right] \tag{6.173}$$

where

$$\mu_n = \sqrt{\frac{a_n^2}{1 + a_n^2}}.$$
(6.174)

Case II: P > 1

In this case, the elements of $\hat{\mathbf{h}}_i[n] = \mathbf{W}_i \hat{\mathbf{g}}[n]$ are correlated and hence the distribution of ς is complicated and finding a closed form solution for (6.170) is very challenging. Luckily, the samples of ς can be easily generated and hence the following monte carlo integration
can be applied to find the averaged BER

$$\bar{P}_{e,n} = \sum_{j=1}^{N_s} Q(\varsigma_j) \tag{6.175}$$

where $\varsigma_j \sim p(\varsigma)$ and N_s is the number of samples taken in the integration.

Let us assume that, starting from the *n*th block, there are no pilot symbols for L_t blocks. Hence, from *n*th block to $(n - 1 + L_t)$ th block, i.e., for L_t stages, the receiver operates in a blind fashion as proposed in Section 5.2. During these stages, the BER could be analyzed under the following three channel estimation scenarios.

a) Predicted Channel: In the absence of pilot symbols, the best possible channel estimate at any of the L_t stages will be the forward predicted channel from the pilotaided channel estimate obtained during the n - 1th block. Hence, at the L_t th stage, the channel estimate will be

$$\hat{\mathbf{g}}[n-1+l_t|n-1] = \mathbf{F}^{l_t}\mathbf{g}[n-1|n-1] \ l_t = 1, \dots L_t$$
 (6.176)

the error covariance corresponding to the above estimate is given as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\epsilon}[n-1+l_t|n-1] \tag{6.177}$$

b) KF updated channel: Let us assume that using the predicted channel g[n|n-1] error free decoding of the transmitted data was achieved at 1st stage, i.e. in the *n*th block, then using observation \tilde{y}_n and the decoded data $\hat{\tilde{s}}_n$ a KF updated channel g[n|n] could be obtained. Since it is already assumed that the the transmitted data was decoded errorfree at the *n*th block, the KF update channel g[n|n], even though

it is more accurate estimate than the predicted channel estimate g[n|n-1], will not be useful for the current block. However, in the absence of training, the KF updated channel estimate will be useful in the next stage.

Now, assuming that in the above fashion error-free decoding occurred for l_t stages, the KF updated channel estimate and the corresponding estimation error covariance could be obtained using the Kalman filter algorithm presented in Section 5.2.

c) *KF updated channel at the steady state:* Assuming that the error free decoding was achieved for for long enough that the KF based channel tracking scheme achieved steady state, the steady state error covariance can be obtained by solving the *matrix Riccati equation*

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n-1] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}[n|n]\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q}$$
(6.178)

simplifying (6.178) results in the following

$$\tilde{\beta}_n = |\alpha|^2 \left(\frac{\sigma_v^2 \tilde{\beta}_n}{2s^2 L \tilde{\beta}_n + \sigma_v^2} \right) + \sigma_u^2$$
(6.179)

Let $\hat{\beta}$ be the solution of the above equation, then the average Probability at steady state can be obtained by replacing $\tilde{\beta}_n^g$ in (6.151) by $\hat{\beta}$.

Now, for the first two cases above, assuming $\text{TRP} = L_t$, the average probability over the L_t blocks without pilot symbols is obtained as

$$\bar{P}_e = \frac{1}{L} \sum_{l=1}^{L_t} \bar{P}_{e,n+l-1}$$
(6.180)



Figure 6.15: Example 1 – Effect of TRP

6.3 Numerical Studies

6.3.1 Effect of TRP

In this example, we plot the symbol error rate (SER) versus SNR for different L_t values. For the predicted channel, the performance degrades as L_t increases. This is behaviour is justifiable since the predicted channel uses no other information than the presumed channel model in (2.18) to predict the channel value, the channel estimation error increases with L_t .



Figure 6.16: Example 2 – Effect of the number of sub-carriers

6.3.2 Effect of the number of sub-carriers

In this example we show that the stead-state KF performance can be achieved for smaller L_t values by increasing the number of sub-carriers. Fig. 6.16 shows that for a given $L_t = 10$, as the number of sub-carriers increases, the KF performance approaches the steady-state performance. This fact is further confirmed in the simulation studies as explained in example 4.



Figure 6.17: Example 3 – Theory versus simulation

6.3.3 Theory vs. simulation

In this example we show compare the theoretical curves of SER to that from the simulation. Fig. 6.17 shows the simulated SER of the proposed Kalman filter detector and that of the coherent receiver. The theoretically derived corresponding SER values are also plotted for comparison.

6.4 Conclusions

In this Chapter, we have derived a theoretical performance analysis scheme for the proposed MIMO receivers in under frequency-selective fading channel conditions. The result for flat-fading channels can also be obtained by setting the number of sub-carriers to one. Assuming the knowledge of training symbols for the first block, we have derived the instantaneous signal to interference and noise ratio (SINR) for consecutive transmission blocks in the absence of training, by exploiting Kalman filtering to track the channel in a decisiondirected mode, for a general MIMO system consisting of any number of Tx/Rx antennas. We have studied the effect in performance for different stages of the channel estimation, i.e., the Kalman predicted channel, Kalman updated channel and the steady-state channel estimate, and conclude that for MIMO-OFDM systems, the steady state performance is accelerated with the number of sub-carriers.

Chapter 7

Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems

7.1 Introduction

The receivers we have proposed in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 fall in the category of semiblind receivers in the sense that they need the knowledge of training symbols once in a while in order to avoid error propagation. It is quite intuitive that the semi-blind receivers will loose a considerable portion of their bandwidth in training. Having this fact in mind, some blind receivers, which do not require any training, have been reported in the literature. Among them, the blind blind receivers for unknown stationary channels and that of fading channels are some primary categories under which numerous proposals have been already made. The use of Sequential Monte-Carlo methods for symbol detection in flat fading channels was first reported in [39]. Later, a blind receiver for MIMO systems based on sequential Monte-Carlo methods was reported in [36]. Based on this, some modified versions of the receivers were reported in [24, 113]. Blind Monte-Carlo receivers for data decoding in OFDM systems were reported in [63, 123, 124, 126]. These receivers are particularly of interest here because, given adequate number of particles (in other words, if we assume that computational complexity is not a constraint), these receivers promise the performance of semi-blind receivers proposed in Chapter 4 & 5 without the use of training. However, considering the computational requirements of these algorithms, these receivers loose the attention for practical applications. Further, as shown later in this Chapter, when MIMO channel becomes frequency selective, these receivers become virtually unusable as the computational requirement exponentially increases with the number of sub-carriers. Some attempts to reduce the computational complexity of the receiver was reported in [1].

In this Chapter, we propose a method to reduce the computational complexity of the above SMC receiver for flat-fading channels. First, we address the case where the MIMO channel is frequency flat. As in the case of [36], the proposed algorithm also employs Rao-Blackwellization strategy to marginalize out the (unwanted) channel coefficients and uses optimal importance function to generate samples to propagate the posterior distribution. The algorithm is blind in the sense that unlike other competing schemes, the knowledge of the channel coefficients are not assumed by the receiver. The marginalization involves the computation of (hundreds of) Kalman filters running in parallel. From the simplification results reported in Chapter 4 we show that, the marginalization step can be significantly simplified if the underlining space-time coding scheme is OSTBC under no additional assumption — resulting in huge computational savings.

Later, we extend this result to MIMO-OFDM systems and propose a novel tone-bytone receiver for frequency selective channels. As discussed in detail in the following sections, the marginalization of the channel parameter involves the computation of a certain likelihood function over all possibilities of the transmitted symbol values. While a 4×4 MIMO systems could have a possible 2^4 values, a MIMO-OFDM system with 256 subcarriers will have 2^{1024} ones, making it impractical to implement. We propose to implement the SMC receiver in a tone-by-tone basis by modeling the necessary channel dynamics in frequency domain. This significantly reduces the the computational.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. Having the proposed SMC receiver in mind, a MIMO signal model that is slightly different the one introduced in Chapter 2 is presented in Section 7.2.1. The SMC detector is summarized in Section 7.2.2 and the proposed simplification is detailed in Section 7.2.3. A summary of the proposed algorithm is presented in Section 7.2.4.

7.2 Efficient Implementation of SMC Receiver for OSTBCs

7.2.1 Signal model

In this section, we present a signal model that is slightly different to the one presented in Chapter 2. Consider a MIMO system with N transmit and M receive antennas. In a timevarying flat-fading channel scenario, the signal received by the *p*th receive antenna at time $t, y_p(t)$ is given by

$$y_p(t) = \sum_{q=1}^{N} h_{pq}(t) x_q(t) + v_p(t)$$
(7.181)

where $x_q(t)$ is the signal transmitted from the *q*th antenna at time *t*, $h_{pq}(t)$ is the timevarying channel coefficient between the *p*th transmit antenna and the *q*th receive antenna, and $v_p(t)$ is the noise measured at the *p*th receive antennas. The noise $v_p(t)$ is assumed to be zero-mean complex Gaussian and spatio-temporally white with variance $\sigma_v^2/2$ per real dimension.

Using vector notations, the received signal vector can be written as

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = \mathbf{x}(t)\mathbf{H}(t) + \mathbf{v}(t)$$
(7.182)

where $\mathbf{H}(t)$ is the $N \times M$ channel matrix with its (p,q) element equal to $h_{pq}(t)$, and

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = [y_1(t) \ y_2(t) \ \dots \ y_M(t)] \tag{7.183}$$

$$\mathbf{x}(t) = [x_1(t) \ x_2(t) \ \dots \ x_N(t)]$$
(7.184)

$$\mathbf{v}(t) = [v_1(t) \ v_2(t) \ \dots \ v_M(t)]$$
(7.185)

are the row-vectors of the received signals, transmitted signals, and noise, respectively.

We consider a block transmission scheme and assume that within the block period T, the channel is fixed, i.e., the channel is assumed to be *quasi-static*. However, between different blocks the channel can change. Based on such an assumption, the *n*th received block can be written as

Chapter 7. Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems

$$\mathbf{Y}(n) = \mathbf{X}(n)\mathbf{H}(n) + \mathbf{V}(n)$$
(7.186)

where

$$\mathbf{Y}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}(nT - T + 1) \\ \mathbf{y}(nT - T + 2) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}(nT) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{X}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}(nT - T + 1) \\ \mathbf{x}(nT - T + 2) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}(nT) \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\mathbf{V}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}(nT - T + 1) \\ \mathbf{v}(nT - T + 2) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{v}(nT) \end{bmatrix}$$

denote the received data, the transmitted data, and the measurement noise matrices, respectively.

According to the definition of OSTBCs in (2.7), let us re-write the nth received block (7.186) in the following format

$$\mathbf{y}_n = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_n)\mathbf{h}_n + \mathbf{v}_n \tag{7.187}$$

where

$$\mathbf{y}_n = \operatorname{vec}\{\mathbf{Y}(n)\}, \tag{7.188}$$

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_n) = \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{s}_n) \otimes \mathbf{I}_M, \tag{7.189}$$

$$\mathbf{h}_n = \operatorname{vec}\{\mathbf{H}(n)\}, \tag{7.190}$$

$$\mathbf{v}_n = \operatorname{vec}\{\mathbf{V}(n)\}, \tag{7.191}$$

 \mathbf{v}_n is the i.i.d Gaussian noise vector that has zero mean and covariance $\Sigma_v = \sigma_v^2 \mathbf{I}_{MT}$, \otimes refers to the kronecker product and vec{·} refers to the vectorization operator which stacks all the columns of a matrix on top of each other.

It can be easily verified that the matrix $\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_n)$ satisfies

$$\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{s}_n)\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_n) = \|\mathbf{s}\|^2 \mathbf{I}_{MN}.$$
(7.192)

Now, assuming first order AR model for the channel, the channel dynamics can be written as

$$\mathbf{h}_n = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{h}_{n-1} + \mathbf{w}_n \tag{7.193}$$

where, \mathbf{w}_n is the i.i.d Gaussian noise vector that has zero mean and covariance $\Sigma_w = \sigma_w^2 \mathbf{I}_{MN}$.

7.2.2 The blind SMC detector

We apply Bayes' rule to factorize the posterior distribution of the unknown parameters as follows

$$p(\mathbf{s}_{1:n}, \mathbf{h}_{1:n} | \mathbf{y}_{1:n}) = p(\mathbf{h}_{1:n} | \mathbf{s}_{1:n}, \mathbf{y}_{1:n}) p(\mathbf{s}_{1:n} | \mathbf{y}_{1:n})$$
(7.194)

where $p(\mathbf{s}_{1:n}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n})$ is the marginalized posterior distribution. Our interest from now on will be focused on how to propagate the marginalized posterior distribution over time.

Now, let us approximate the marginal posterior distribution as

$$p(\mathbf{s}_{1:n}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n}) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N_s} w_n^i \delta(\mathbf{s}_{1:n} - \mathbf{s}_{1:n}^i)$$
 (7.195)

where N_s is the number of samples and w_n^i are the importance weights written as

$$w_{n}^{i} = \frac{p(\mathbf{s}_{1:n}^{i}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n})}{q(\mathbf{s}_{1:n}^{i}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n})}$$
(7.196)

where q(.) is the importance density.

By choosing the importance density to factorize as

$$q(\mathbf{s}_{1.n}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n}) = q(\mathbf{s}_n|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1},\mathbf{y}_{1:n})q(\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}|\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1})$$
(7.197)

the importance weights can be recursively updated as follows

$$w_n^i \propto w_{n-1}^i \frac{p(\mathbf{y}_n | \mathbf{s}_n^i) p(\mathbf{s}_n^i | \mathbf{s}_{n-1}^i)}{q(\mathbf{s}_n^i | \mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^i, \mathbf{y}_{1:n})}$$
 (7.198)

Chapter 7. Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems

By choosing the optimal importance density as

$$q(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n}) = p(\mathbf{s}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n})$$
(7.199)

the weight update (7.198) can be written as

$$w_n^i = w_{n-1}^i p(\mathbf{y}_n | \mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^i, \mathbf{y}_{1:n-1})$$
(7.200)

where

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1}) = \sum_{\mathbf{a}_{j}\in A} p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1},\mathbf{s}_{n} = \mathbf{a}_{j})p(\mathbf{s}_{n} = \mathbf{a}_{j})$$
(7.201)

Now, the first term in (7.201) can be written as

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1},\mathbf{s}_{n}=\mathbf{a}_{j}) = \int \underbrace{p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1},\mathbf{s}_{n}=\mathbf{a}_{j},\mathbf{h}_{n})}_{\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{I}}} \underbrace{p(\mathbf{h}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1})}_{\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{II}}} d\mathbf{h}_{n}$$
(7.202)

In the rest of this section, the distributions D_I and D_{II} are derived and the integration in (7.202) is evaluated.

First, from (7.187), the distribution D_I is derived as

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1},\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} = \mathbf{a}_{j},\mathbf{h}_{n}) = p(\mathbf{y}_{n}|\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} = \mathbf{a}_{j},\mathbf{h}_{n})$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_{c}(\mathbf{y}_{n};\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_{j})\mathbf{h}_{n},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{w})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\pi)^{2MT}|\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{w}|}\exp\left[-(\mathbf{y}_{n}-\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_{j})\mathbf{h}_{n})^{\mathrm{H}}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{w}^{-1}\right]$$

$$(\mathbf{y}_{n}-\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_{j})\mathbf{h}_{n})\left] (7.203)$$

Now, consider the distribution D_{II} . From (7.187) and (7.193) we notice that

$$p(\mathbf{h}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n}) \sim \mathcal{N}_{c}\left(\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i},\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i}\right)$$
(7.204)

where, given $\mathbf{h}_{n-1|n-1}^{i}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{n-1|n-1}^{i}$, Kalman filter [8] can be used as follows to get $\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i}$

$$\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{h}_{n-1|n-1}^{i} \tag{7.205}$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \mathbf{F} \mathbf{P}_{n-1|n-1}^{i} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{H}} + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{w}$$
(7.206)

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_n^i = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_n^i)\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^i \tag{7.207}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_n^i = \mathbf{y}_n - \hat{\mathbf{y}}_n^i \tag{7.208}$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{\nu,n}^{i} = \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{v} + \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i})\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}\mathbf{B}^{\mathsf{H}}(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i})$$
(7.209)

$$\mathbf{G}_{n}^{i} = \mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i} \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{H}}(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}) \mathbf{P}_{\nu,n}^{-1(j)}$$
(7.210)

$$\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i} = \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} + \mathbf{G}_{n}^{i} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{n}^{i}$$
(7.211)

$$\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i} = \mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i} - \mathbf{G}_{n}^{i} \mathbf{P}_{\nu,n}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{n}^{\mathrm{H}(i)}$$
(7.212)

where $\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i}$ is the predicted state, $\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}$ is the covariance matrix of the predicted state, $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_{n}^{i}$ is the predicted observation, $\boldsymbol{\nu}_{n}^{i}$ is the innovation process, $\mathbf{P}_{\nu,n}^{i}$ is the innovation covariance matrix, and \mathbf{G}_{n}^{i} is the Kalman gain [8].

Also note from the above that the Kalman predictor (7.205)–(7.206) can be used to find the distribution

$$p(\mathbf{h}_{n+1}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n}) \sim \mathcal{N}_{c}\left(\mathbf{h}_{n+1|n}^{i},\mathbf{P}_{n+1|n}^{i}\right)$$
(7.213)

where $\mathbf{h}_{n+1|n}^{i} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{n+1|n}^{i} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i}\mathbf{F}^{H} + \mathbf{Q}$.

Hence, the distribution D_{II} is obtained as

$$p(\mathbf{h}_{n}|\mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^{i},\mathbf{y}_{1:n-1}) = \mathcal{N}_{c}\left(\mathbf{h}_{n};\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i},\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{(\pi)^{2MN}|\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}|}\exp\left[-\left(\mathbf{h}_{n}-\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i}\right)^{\mathrm{H}}\right]$$
$$\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{-1(i)}\left(\mathbf{h}_{n}-\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i}\right) = (7.214)$$

where $|\mathbf{X}|$ is the determinant of the matrix \mathbf{X} and $\mathcal{N}_c(\mathbf{x}, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \Sigma_x)$ denotes normally distributed probability distribution of complex variable \mathbf{x} with mean $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ and covariance Σ_x .

Substituting (7.203) and (7.214)into (7.202) we get [23]

$$p(\mathbf{y}_n | \mathbf{s}_{1:n-1}^i, \mathbf{y}_{1:n-1}, \mathbf{s}_n = \mathbf{a}_j) = \mathcal{N}_c \left(\mathbf{y}_n; \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_j) \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^i, \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_j) \mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^i \mathbf{B}^{\mathsf{H}}(\mathbf{a}_j) + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w \right) 7.215)$$

7.2.3 The simplified receiver

It should be realised that, at a certain block n, the procedure (7.205)–(7.212) should be repeated for each sample i separately resulting in very high computational cost. Hence, we can simplify (7.205)–(7.212) as it follows (see Chapter 4).

If $\mathbf{P}_{n-1|n-1}^{i}$ is a diagonal matrix, then, $\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}$ in (7.206) and $\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i}$ in (7.212) are also diagonal, i.e., if

$$\mathbf{P}_{n-1|n-1}^{i} = \delta_{n-1}^{i} I_{MN} \tag{7.216}$$

then

$$\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \beta_{n}^{i} \mathbf{I}_{MN} \tag{7.217}$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{n|n}^{i} = \delta_{n}^{i} \mathbf{I}_{MN} \tag{7.218}$$

Chapter 7. Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems

where

$$\beta_n^i = \delta_{n-1}^i |\alpha|^2 + \sigma_w^2$$
(7.219)

and

$$\delta_n^i = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^i}{\|s_n^i\|^2 \beta_n^i + \sigma_v^2} \,. \tag{7.220}$$

It can also be proved that (see Chapter 4), $\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i}$ in (7.211) can be simplified as

$$\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i} = (1 - \mu_{n}^{i} \|\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}\|^{2}) \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} + \mu_{n}^{i} \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{H}}(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}) \mathbf{y}_{n}$$
(7.221)

where

$$\mu_{n}^{i} = \frac{\beta_{n}^{i}}{\|\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}\|^{2}\beta_{n}^{i} + \sigma_{v}^{2}}$$
(7.222)

Therefore, (7.205) - (7.212) can be simplified as it follows:

$$\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{h}_{n-1|n-1}^{i}$$
 (7.223)

$$\beta_n^i = \delta_{n-1}^i \|\alpha\|^2 + \frac{\sigma_w^2}{2}$$
(7.224)

$$\mu_{n}^{i} = \frac{\beta_{n}^{i}}{\|\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}\|^{2}\beta_{n}^{i} + \sigma_{v}^{2}}$$
(7.225)

$$\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^{i} = (1 - \mu_{n}^{i} \| \mathbf{s}_{n}^{i} \|^{2}) \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} + \mu_{n}^{i} \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{H}}(\mathbf{s}_{n}^{i}) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_{n}$$
(7.226)
$$\sigma^{2} \beta^{i}$$

$$\delta_n^i = \frac{\sigma_v^* \beta_n^i}{\|s_n^i\|^2 \beta_n^i + \sigma_v^2} \,. \tag{7.227}$$

7.2.4 Summary of the algorithm

The proposed blind detection algorithm is summarized as below.

a) Initialization: For $i=1,\ldots,N_s$ 1.a) Set $\delta_0^i = \epsilon_i$ 1.b) Set $\mathbf{h}_{0|0}^{\imath} \sim \mathcal{N}_{c}(\mathbf{0}_{MN imes 1}, \delta_{0}^{i} \mathbf{I}_{MN})$ 1.c) Set $w_0^i = 1$ 1.d) Set $\mathbf{s}_0^i \sim p(\mathbf{s}_0)$ b) Set n=1c) For $i=1,\ldots,N_s$ 3.a) Draw a sample \mathbf{s}_n^i from the set A^K 3.b) Compute $\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i}$ as $\mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{h}_{n-1|n-1}^{i}$ $\mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^{i} = \mathbf{F} \mathbf{P}_{n-1|n-1}^{i} \mathbf{F}^{\mathrm{H}} + \mathbf{Q}$ 3.c) Set $l_i = 0$ 3.d) For j = 1, ..., K $l_i = l_i + \mathcal{N}_c \left(\mathbf{y}_n; \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_j) \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^i, \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{a}_j) \mathbf{P}_{n|n-1}^i \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{H}}(\mathbf{a}_j) + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w \right)$ 3.e) Compute the updated weights as $\hat{w}_n^i = w_{n-1}^i l_i$ 3.f) Normalize the importnce weights as $w_n^i = rac{\hat{w}_n^i}{\sum_{p=1}^{N-1} \hat{w}_n^p}$ 3.g) Compute the state and covariance update of the Kalman filter as $\beta_n^i = \delta_{n-1}^i \|\alpha\|^2 + \sigma_w^2$ $\mu_n^i = \frac{\beta_n^i}{\|\mathbf{s}_n^i\|^2 \beta_n^i + \sigma_n^2}$ $\mathbf{h}_{n|n}^i = (1 - \mu_n^i \|\mathbf{s}_n^i\|^2) \mathbf{h}_{n|n-1}^i + \mu_n^i \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{H}}(\mathbf{s}_n^i) \tilde{\mathbf{y}}_n$ $\delta_n^i = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^i}{\|s_n^i\|^2 \beta_v^i + \sigma^2}$

Chapter 7. Blind Sequential Monte-Carlo Receivers for MIMO Systems

- d) Compute the a posteriori symbol estimte as in (3.31)
- e) Perform resampling as $\begin{bmatrix} \{\mathbf{x}_n^i, w_n^i\}_{i=1}^{Ns} \end{bmatrix} = \text{RESAMPLE} \begin{bmatrix} \{\mathbf{x}_n^i, w_n^i\}_{i=1}^{Ns} \end{bmatrix}$ where $\mathbf{x}_n^i = \{\mathbf{s}_n^i, \mathbf{h}_{n|n}^i, \mathbf{P}_{n|n}^i\}$
- f) Set $n \leftarrow n+1$ and go to 3)

7.3 Simulation results

In our first numerical example, we consider the Alamouti scheme with two transmitting antennas and two receiving antennas. In each simulation run, the elements of $\mathbf{H}(n)$ are generated according to Jakes model [43] corresponding to $F_m T_s = 0.0045$ where F_m is the doppler frequency and T_s is the sampling time. This results in $\alpha = J_0(0.2\pi F_m T_s)e^{j2\pi F_0 T_s} =$ $0.9998e^{j0.0283}$ where $J_0(\cdot)$ is the zeroth order Bessel function of first kind. The number of samples used in the simulation is $N_s = 100$.

Throughout the simulations, the SNR is defined as

$$SNR = \frac{\sigma_h^2}{N\sigma_v^2} \tag{7.228}$$

where the term N in the denominator appears to normalize the received power to one.

Figure 7.18 shows the symbol error rate performance of the SMC receiver. The performance of the coherent ML receiver that assumes perfect CSI is also plotted for comparison.

During the progress of the algorithm, it will quite interesting to see the how the the marginalization of the channel is performing. Hence, at each data block n, the best channel



Figure 7.18: The SERs versus SNR using the SMC receiver

sample value out of all N_s samples is plotted in figure 7.19 and 7.19.

7.4 Conclusions

In this Chapter, we have introduced an an efficient way to reduce the computational complexity of the sequential Monte-Carlo based algorithms for symbol detection in MIMO systems having OSTBCs as their underlying space-time coding scheme. Further, we have extended this result to frequency selective channels and proposed a novel SMC detector for



Figure 7.19: The best channel value at each iteration by the SMC receiver - real part MIMO-OFDM systems.



Figure 7.20: The best channel value at each iteration by the SMC receiver - imaginary part

Chapter 8

A New State-Space Approach to Adaptive Array Processing

8.1 Introduction

It is known that the capacity of MIMO systems can be increased by employing spatial separation techniques [10, 104, 106]. Some beamforming based MIMO systems that improve the data data transmission rate are reported in [13, 58, 77–79, 83, 93, 128]. In this Chapter, we present a novel DOA tracking technique that is useful in directional MIMO systems under highly mobile environments.

Numerous DOA estimation techniques that focus on high resolution techniques, such as the beamforming techniques [11,46], subspace-based techniques [98,114], and maximum likelihood (ML) techniques [42], can be found in the literature. The accuracy of such techniques depends on the accuracy of the temporal averages taken over the samples, hence, these methods tend to fail in the presence moving targets. Further, the aforementioned methods assume that the number of targets is either known or fixed whereas in practice many applications require the DOA tracking of an unknown number of dynamic sources where the temporal averages are no longer accurate.

Recently, several new approaches have been developed for the DOA tracking of (a known number of) moving sources [29, 47, 80, 88, 89, 95, 96, 108]. These methods, in general, assume that the targets are piece-wise stationary and make use of conventional high resolution techniques during the stationary-assumed period. These methods are expected to perform poorly for rapidly moving targets. In [131], an ML based technique that does not assume the piece-wise stationarity is presented, however, this technique assumes that the number of targets are known at the receiver.

In recent years, Bayesian filtering techniques, which make use of the Bayes theorem to propagate the posterior distribution of the unknown states (usually) in the form of a histogram, have been drawing much attention in the field of target tracking and signal processing. In addition to that, in array signal processing, the nature of the array observation equation is highly non-linear which makes Bayesian techniques/particle filtering a natural candidate of choice. Indeed, a particle filtering approach was proposed in [75, 87] to track the DPAs of a known number of moving sources. However, when the number of targets (dimension of the unknown states) changes, the Bayesian techniques cannot be directly used to propagate the posterior. Rather, they require additional steps to update the model order and re-initialize the filter. Such a technique for tracking DOA of unknown number of sources is presented in [72], where, Metropolis Hastings (MH) algorithm is exploited for source enumeration.

The problem of data association as well as that of the unknown number of sources are

addressed together by using the PHD filter. It propagates the first moment of the multitarget posterior, known as the probability hypothesis density (PHD), which is defined over the state space of one target. The PHD has local maxima at the expected locations of the target states. Hence, target locations can be obtained from the PHD. Further, the PHD holds a nice property that the integral of the PHD over the state space is the expected number of targets. Hence, the PHD filter [68] is found to be a computationally efficient alternative to the FISST method of propagating the full posterior.

In recent years, the PHD filtering techniques have gained considerable attention from researches from various areas. Some extensive theoretical Particle filter implementation are reported in [20, 81, 116, 118, 119]. The convergence analysis of the PHD filter is presented in [17, 19] and an analysis of data association for PHD filter is reported in [18]. PHD filtering technique finds its primary application in target tracking area. The use of PHD filtering for joint detection and tracking of maneuvering targets is analyzed in [115]. A multi target tracking algorithm using PHD filters with passive radar observations is presented in [110]. Applications of PHD filtering in multi-sensor vehicle tracking and track labeling are analyzed in [66] and [59], respectively. The application of PHD filtering techniques in video processing is analyzed in [16] that in image processing is reported in [21, 41, 67].

In this chapter we present a novel state-space approach for DOA tracking problem using single snapshot observations. We transform DOA tracking into a multi-target tracking problem where observations from the targets are independent of each other. We propose the use of fast Fourier transform (DFT) and inverse fast Fourier transform (IFFT) techniques to find a coarse estimate of the array observation due to individual targets and to use PHD filtering to track the DOAs as well as the number of targets. The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 8.2 formulates the DOA tracking problem. Section 8.3 introduces the state space model used in our proposed method. The proposed PhD filter based algorithm is presented in Section 8.4. Simulation examples of the proposed algorithm are given in Section 8.5 and the chapter is concluded in Section 8.6.

8.2 **Problem Formulation**

Consider a uniform linear array of M sensors. At time n, let $\phi_i(n)$, $i = 1, 2, ..., K_n$, be the directions of arrival of K_n narrow band sources that are in the far-field of the array and let the corresponding amplitudes of the sources be $a_i(n)$, $i = 1, 2, ..., K_n$. The transmission medium is assumed to be *isotropic* and *non-dispersive*.

The $(M \times 1)$ array observation vector $\mathbf{y}(n)$, which is the superposition of the incident signals from the K_n distinct sources embedded in Gaussian noise, is given by

$$\mathbf{y}(n) = \sum_{i=1}^{K_n} \mathbf{s}(\phi_i(n)) a_i(n) + \mathbf{w}(n)$$
(8.229)

where,

$$\mathbf{s}(\phi_i(n)) = [1, e^{-j(d_0 w_0/c_0) \sin \phi_i(n)}, \dots, e^{-j((M-1)d_0 w_0/c_0) \sin \phi_i(n)}]^T$$

is the *steering vector* corresponding to the *k*th source, $\mathbf{w}(n)$ is an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) vector with zero mean and variance σ_w^2 , c_0 is the velocity of propagation, and w_0 is the center frequency of the narrow band sources.

In vector format, the array observation in (8.229) can be written as

$$\mathbf{y}(n) = \mathbf{S}(\mathbf{\Phi}(n))\mathbf{a}(n) + \mathbf{w}(n) \tag{8.230}$$

where

$$\mathbf{S}(\mathbf{\Phi}(n)) = [\mathbf{s}(\phi_1(n)), \dots, \mathbf{s}(\phi_{K_n}(n))]$$
$$\mathbf{\Phi}(n) = [\phi_1(n), \dots, \phi_{K_n}(n)]^T$$
$$\mathbf{a}(n) = [a_1(n), \dots, a_{K_n}(n)]^T$$

The states are assumed to evolve as follows

$$\phi_i(n) = \phi_i(n-1) + v_i(n); \qquad (8.231)$$

$$a_i(n) \sim \mathcal{N}_c(\mathbf{0}, \sigma_{a,i}^2)$$
 (8.232)

where $v_i(n)$ is an i.i.d Gaussian noise with zero mean and covariance $\sigma_{v,i}^2$, $\sigma_{a,i}^2$ is the variance of the received signals and \mathcal{N}_c denotes Gaussian distribution for complex variables.

The objective of the problem is to estimate the number of sources at time n, K_n , and their corresponding DOAs $\phi_i(n)$ given the array observations $\mathbf{y}(n)$ in the absence of the knowledge of the amplitude of the incident waveforms $a_i(n)$.

8.3 New State-Space Model

Since our interest is in tracking directions of arrivals only, the following lemma is useful to formulate our new state-space model.

Lemma 8.1 The conditional probability of the array observation due to the *i*th incident waveform, $\mathbf{y}_i(n)$, given the DOA of the corresponding source $\phi_i(n)$ is given by

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{i}(n)|\phi_{i}(n)) \simeq \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\alpha}} \exp\left\{\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}\left(\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right) \quad (8.233)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \left(\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} + \frac{1}{2\sigma_a^2}\right), \\ \beta &= \frac{2M}{\sigma_w^2} |A(\tilde{w}_i)|, \end{aligned}$$

 $y_{m,i}$ is the *i*th incident waveform at the *m*th array element, $A(\tilde{w}_i(n))$ is the discrete Fourier transform (DFT) of the array observation due to the *i*th source, *i.e.*,

$$A(\tilde{w}_i(n)) = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{m=1}^{M} y_{i,m}(n) \exp(-j\tilde{w}_i m(n)).$$
(8.234)

proof: See Appendix C.

Hence, by the use of the above lemma, the state-space equations given in (8.229)-(8.232) can be written as

$$\phi_i(n) = \phi_i(n-1) + v_i(n)$$

$$\mathbf{y}_i(n) = \mathcal{H}(\phi_i(n), \mathbf{w}(n))$$
(8.235)

where $\mathcal{H}(.)$ is a non-linear function that is defined such that the conditional probability $p(\mathbf{y}_i(n)|\phi_i(n))$ is given as in (8.233).

8.4 Sequential Monte Carlo Implementation

8.4.1 The prior

It is assumed that the prior is uniformly distributed, i.e.

$$\phi(0) \sim \mathcal{U}[\phi_{\min}, \phi_{\max}] \tag{8.236}$$

where \mathcal{U} denotes uniform distribution.

8.4.2 Prediction operator

Let us consider that we have the posterior PHD at time n as,

$$D(n|n) = \sum_{i=1}^{N_n^{\phi} N_s} w_t^i \delta(\phi(n) - \phi^*(n))$$
(8.237)

then, the predicted PHD at time step (n + 1) in (3.56) could be written as

$$D(n+1|n) = D_b(\phi(n+1)) + \sum_{i=1}^{N_n^{\phi} N_s} w_i^i \Phi(\phi^i(n+1), \phi^i(n))$$
(8.238)

A particle approximation of the above could be obtained from sequential important

sampling technique [4]. Let us draw samples from two different proposal densities as

$$\phi^{i}(n) = \begin{cases} q_{\Phi}(\phi^{i}(n+1)|\phi^{i}(n), Y(n+1)) & i = 1, \dots, N_{n}^{\phi} N_{s}^{-1} \\ q_{b}(\phi^{i}(n+1)|Y(n+1)) & i = N_{n}^{\phi} N_{s} + 1, \dots, (N_{n}^{\phi} + N_{n}^{b}) N_{s} \end{cases}$$
(8.239)

The predicted PHD is now written as

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}(n+1|n) = \sum_{i=1}^{(N_n^{\phi}+N_n^{b})N_s} w_{n+1|n}^i \delta(\phi(n+1|n) - \phi^i(n+1|n))$$
(8.240)

where

$$w_{n+1|n}^{i} = \begin{cases} \frac{\Phi(\phi^{i}(n+1)|\phi^{i}(n))}{q_{\Phi}(\phi^{i}(n+1)|\phi^{i}(n), Y(n+1))} & i = 1, \dots, N_{n}^{\phi}N_{s} \\ \frac{D_{b}(\phi^{i}(n+1))}{q_{b}(\phi^{i}(n+1), Y(n+1))} & i = N_{n}^{\phi}N_{s} + 1, \dots, (N_{n}^{\phi} + N_{n}^{b})N_{s} \end{cases}$$
(8.241)

8.4.3 Update operator

Assuming that we have the predicted particles as in (8.240) and by considering the update operator in (3.58), particle representation of the updated PHD is now written as [117]

$$D(n+1|n+1) = \sum_{i=1}^{(N_n^{\phi} + N_n^{b})N_s} w_{n+1}^i \delta(\phi(n+1) - \phi^i(n+1))$$
(8.242)

where

$$w_{n+1}^{i} = \left[1 - p_{D}^{i}(\phi^{i}(n+1)) + \sum_{\mathbf{y}(n)\in Y(n+1)} \frac{p_{D}(\phi^{i}(n+1))p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\phi^{i}(n+1))}{\lambda(n+1)C(\mathbf{y}(n+1)) + c_{n+1}(\mathbf{y}(n+1))}\right] 243)$$

and

$$c_{n+1}(\mathbf{y}(n+1)) = \sum_{i=1}^{(N_n^{\phi} + N_n^b)N_s} p_D(\phi^i(n+1))p(\mathbf{y}(n+1)|\phi^i(n+1))w_{n+1|n}^i \quad (8.244)$$

8.4.4 Resampling

The SMC implementation of the PHD filter suffers from the commonly known degeneracy problem in which after a few steps importance weight of one particle approaches to one as that of all the other particles approach to zero. The resampling step is introduced to reduce the degeneracy problem. In resampling, the particles with larger weights are duplicated while particles with smaller weights are removed.

8.4.5 State estimation

The updated PHD represents the first moment of the multi-target posterior. Several methods can be found in the literature to estimate the state from the PHD. A simple but computationally efficient method is to use clustering. By clustering technique, $N_{n+1}^{\phi}N_s$ particles are clustered into N_{n+1}^{ϕ} groups. Then, mean value of this cluster is considered as the state estimate of the target at time n + 1.

8.4.6 Summary of the algorithm

This section gives a summary of the proposed DOA tracking scheme.

a) Initialize the prior PHD at n=0 as $\{\xi^i_0,w^i_{0|0}\}_{i=1}^{N^\phi_0N_s}$, where

$$egin{array}{rcl} \xi_0^i &\sim & \mathcal{U}\left[\phi_{\min},\phi_{\max}
ight] \ w_{0|0}^i &= & rac{1}{N_s} \end{array}$$

- b) Set n = n + 1
- c) Prediction
 - 3.a) sample predicted particles and their weights as $\{\xi^i_{n+1|n}, w^i_{n+1|n}\}_{i=1}^{N^\phi_n N_s}, \ \text{where}$

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{n+1|n}^{i} &\sim & q_{\Phi}(\xi_{n+1}^{i}|\xi_{n}^{i},Y_{n}) \\ w_{n+1|n}^{i} &= & \frac{\Phi(\xi_{n+1}^{i},\xi_{n}^{i})}{q_{\Phi}(\xi_{n+1}^{i}|\xi_{n}^{i},Y_{n})} w_{n|n}^{i} \end{aligned}$$

3.b) sample newborn particles and their weights as $\{\xi_{n+1|n}^i, w_{n+1|n}^i\}_{i=N_n^\phi N_s+1}^{(N_n^\phi+N_0^b)N_s}, \text{ where }$

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{n+1|n}^{i} &\sim q_{b}(\xi_{n+1}^{i}|Y_{n}) \\ w_{n+1|n}^{i} &= \frac{D_{b}(\xi_{n+1}^{i})}{q_{b}(\xi_{n+1}^{i}|Y_{n})} w_{n|n}^{i} \end{aligned}$$

- d) Obtain the DFT of the array observation and obtain the number of potential targets $N_{n+1}^{\mathbf{y}}$.
- e) Find the updated particles and their weights as

$$\{\xi_{n+1}^i=\xi_{n+1|n}^i,w_{n+1|n+1}^i\}_{i=N_n^\phi N_s+1}^{(N_n^\phi+N_0^b)N_s}$$
 , where

$$w_{n+1|n+1}^{i} = \left[1 - p_{D}(\xi_{n+1}^{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{n+1}^{j}} \frac{p_{D}(\xi_{n+1}^{i})p(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}|\xi_{n+1|n+1}^{i})}{\lambda_{n+1}C(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}) + c_{n+1}(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j})}\right] w_{n+1|n}^{i}$$
$$c_{n+1}(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}) = \sum_{i=1}^{(N_{n}^{\phi} + N_{n}^{b})N_{s}} p_{D}(\xi_{n+1}^{i})p(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}|\xi_{n+1}^{i})w_{n+1|n}^{i}$$

and the likelihood $p(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}|\xi_{n+1}^{i})$ is computed as

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{j}|\xi_{n+1}^{i}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{MK}\sum_{m=1}^{M}\mathbf{y}_{n+1}^{i}{}^{2}(m) - 2\bar{b}_{n+1}^{i}\operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\bar{\theta}_{n+1}^{i}}A(\tilde{w}_{n+1}^{i})\right] + (\bar{b}_{n+1}^{i})^{2}\right)\right\}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \bar{b}_{n+1}^{i} &= |\xi_{n+1}^{i}(2)| \\ \bar{\theta}_{n+1}^{i} &= \angle \{\xi_{n+1}^{i}(2)\} \\ \bar{\tilde{w}}_{n+1}^{i} &= (w_{0}d_{0}/c_{0})\sin\xi_{n+1}^{i}(1)A(\bar{\tilde{w}}_{n+1}^{i}) \end{split}$$

f) Compute the expected number of targets

$$N_{n+1}^{\phi} = \text{round} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{(N_n^{\phi} + N_n^b)N_s} w_{n+1|n+1}^i \right\}$$

where $\operatorname{round}\{.\}$ is the nearest integer of the argument.

g) Re-sample the updated particles as

$$\left[\left\{\xi_{n+1}^{i}, w_{n+1|n+1}^{i}\right\}_{i=1}^{N_{n+1}^{\phi}N_{s}}\right] = \text{RESAMPLE}\left[\left\{\xi_{n+1}^{i}, w_{n+1|n+1}^{i}\right\}_{i=1}^{(N_{n}^{\phi}+N_{0}^{b})N_{s}}\right]$$

h) Go to 2)

i) Obtain the state estimation at time n+1 by the use of clustering algorithm as $[\hat{\phi}(n+1)] = \text{CLUSTER}\left[\{\xi_{n+1}^i, w_{n+1|n+1}^i\}_{i=1}^{N_{n+1}^\phi N_s}\right]$

8.5 Simulation Results

In this section, a simulation examples are presented to demonstrate the performance of the proposed algorithm. The true DOAs are generated using a first order random walk model with a variance of σ_v^2 . Table 8.7 gives the values of the parameters used in the simulation. The receiver array is uniform linear and consists of M = 8 elements.

Table 8.7: Parameters used in the simulation

σ_v^2	σ_w^2	$\phi(1)$	σ_a^2
5deg. ²	0.01	$[-20^{\circ}, 40^{\circ}]^{T}$	0.0707

8.5.1 Tracking fixed number of sources

In this example, the number of sources are kept fixed at 2 while the DOAs were varied with time. In each figures the continuous line shows the true value and the dots show the estimated value.



Figure 8.21: Tracking fixed number of moving sources by PF

Figure 8.21 (top) shows the estimated DOAs of the RJMCMC method against the iteration number. This method uses $N_s = 100$ particles and the number of targets was randomly initialized. As shown in the bottom of the figure, at start, it takes almost 25 iterations to converge to the correct number of targets. It can be observed from the figure that when the targets get closer, the estimated number of targets falls to one and the DOA estimation becomes inaccurate. Which means, the targets are unresolved.

Figure 8.22 (top) shows the estimated DOAs of the PHD filter against the iteration number. The PHD filter also uses 100 particles. As shown in the bottom of the figure, the PHD filter instantly estimates the number of targets correctly and it also can separate



Figure 8.22: Tracking fixed number of moving sources by PHD filter

tracks of very closely spaced targets when the other filter fails. Further, in contrast to the RJMCMC method, PHD filter does not need any initialization for the number of targets.

8.5.2 Tracking varying number of sources

In this example, there is only one target from the start to iteration 50. Another target enters at iteration 51 and the first one leaves at iteration 151.

Figure 8.23 (top) shows the estimated DOAs of the RJMCMC method against the iteration number. The number of targets was randomly initialized. As shown in the bottom of


Figure 8.23: Tracking varying number of moving sources by PF

the figure, it takes almost 25 iterations to converge to the correct number of targets. When the second target enters, it is quickly identified. However, when the targets becomes closer, the estimated number of targets becomes one and the DOA estimation becomes inaccurate.

Figure 8.24 (top) shows the estimated DOAs of the PHD filter against the iteration number. The bottom of the figure shows that the proposed method instantly tracks the number of targets initially as well as when the number of targets changes.



Figure 8.24: Tracking varying number of moving sources by PHD filter

8.6 Conclusions

In this chapter, a PHD filter based algorithm has been proposed for tracking the DOAs of time-varying number of targets by converting the original tracking problem into a multi-target tracking framework. The challenge in such a transformation is that, unlike multi-target tracking with active sensors, observations due to individual targets does not exist, rather, the (passive) array observation is the superposition of the signals received from all the targets. We derive an approximate observation model for the observations due to

individual targets by deriving an approximate likelihood function. Then, the PHD filtering algorithm is exploited to track unknown number of sources as well as their corresponding DOAs. Simulation results show that, as expected, the proposed method is able to track the number of sources as well as their corresponding directions of arrivals over highly non-stationary environments.

Chapter 9

Concluding Remarks and Future Directions

9.1 Concluding Remarks

In this thesis, we have developed several blind and semi-blind decoding algorithms and an array processing algorithm, which are adaptive in nature as well as computationally efficient, for multi-antenna systems.

In Chapter 4, we have investigated the problem of channel tracking for MIMO communication systems where the MIMO channel is time-varying. Considering OSTBCs as the underlying space-time coding scheme, we have presented a two-step MIMO channel tracking algorithm for flat-fading channels. As the first step, Kalman filtering is used to obtain an initial channel estimate for the current block based on the channel estimates obtained for previous blocks. Then, in the second step, the so-obtained initial channel estimate is refined using a decision-directed iterative method. We have shown that due to the interesting properties of orthogonal space-time block codes, both the Kalman filter and the decisiondirected algorithm can be significantly simplified. The proposed algorithm is semi-blind in the sense that training data is needed to be sent once in a while in order to prevent error propagation. The number of information carrying blocks between two consecutive training blocks, denoted as training repetition period (TRP), is used as a measure of bandwidth efficiency of our channel tracking scheme. Simulation results show that with a TRP of 10 blocks, our channel tracking method can have a performance, in terms of symbol error rate, within 2 dB from the coherent ML receiver.

In Chapter 5, we have developed a computationally efficient time-domain channel tracking technique for MIMO systems under frequency selective fading. By employing OFDM technique which decouples the channel into parallel flat fading channels, we extend the receiver in Chapter 4 for MIMO-OFDM systems. Assuming constant modulus constellations, we have significantly simplified the proposed algorithm.

In Chapter 6, we have derived a theoretical performance analysis scheme for the proposed MIMO receivers in Chapters 4 & 5 respectively. Assuming the knowledge of training symbols for the first block, we have derived the instantaneous signal to interference and noise ratio for consecutive transmission blocks in the absence of training, by exploiting Kalman filtering to track the channel in a decision-directed mode, for a general MIMO system consisting of any number of Tx/Rx antennas. We have studied the effect in performance for different stages of the channel estimation, i.e., the Kalman-predicted channel, Kalman-updated channel and the steady-state channel estimate, and conclude that for MIMO-OFDM systems, the steady state performance is accelerated with the number of sub-carriers.

In Chapter 7, we have proposed an efficient Sequential Monte Carlo algorithm for blind

detection in MIMO systems. The proposed algorithm employs Rao-Blackwellization strategy to marginalize the channel coefficients and uses optimal importance function to generate samples to propagate the posterior distribution. We have applied the simplification strategies developed in earlier chapters to significantly reduce the computational complexity of the proposed algorithm. Later, we have extended this result to propose a novel and efficient tone-by-tone receiver for MIMO-OFDM system.

In Chapter 8, a PHD filter based algorithm has been proposed for tracking the DOAs of time-varying number of mobile users in directional MIMO systems. We have transformed the problem into a new state space approach and employed PHD filtering algorithm to track the DOAs of unknown number of sources. The proposed algorithm is computationally efficient and simpler to implement compared to its particle filtering counterpart. Simulation results show that, the the proposed scheme yields superior performance over competing particle filter based schemes in tracking rapidly varying number of targets.

9.2 **Possible Extensions**

In this section, we propose some possible extensions of the algorithms developed in Chapters 4 - 8 along with some proposals to solve them.

9.2.1 Blind SMC receiver for MIMO-OFDM with CFO estimation

The MIMO-OFDM receiver proposed in Chapter 5 assumes that the career frequencies are synchronized at the receiver. However, in practice, OFDM is highly sensitivity to the carrier frequency offset (CFO) errors caused by the misalignment in carrier frequencies at the receiver due to fluctuations in receiver RF oscillators or channel Doppler frequency.

Hence, a more realistic receiver will include a mechanism to estimate/track the CFO as well.

9.2.2 Relaxing quasi-time-varying assumptions

The channel tracking and data decoding algorithms presented in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 assume that the time selective channel remains stationary during the transmission of a block period. Even though this is a reasonable assumption at low Doppler frequencies, a more realistic approach will be to consider a continuous time-varying channel. Relaxing the quasi-time-varying assumption makes the vector form input output MIMO relationship of Chapter 2 unusable. Further, under these assumption, the ML data decoding of OSTBC is no longer linear as derived in Chapter 2. For this problem, smoothing techniques available in the target tracking literature might provide an effective solution.

9.2.3 Wideband DOA tracking

The proposed DOA tracking algorithm in Chapter 8 is only applicable to narrow-band sources. However, many practical applications may require DOA tracking of wide-band sources. For instance, as discussed in Chapter 1, an exciting future application for wide-band DOA tracking will be the use of beamforming to enhance data transmission rates through spatial filtering in mobile WiMAX systems. For such applications, a PHD filter based wide-band DOA tracking scheme will be a computationally feasible solution to provide the directions of arrivals of signals from moving WiMAX (mobile) stations, in order to perform spatial filtering and achieve higher data throughput.

9.2.4 Rao-Blackwellized PHD filter

In Bayesian state estimation, it is important to use every opportunity to reduce the state space analytically in order to reduce the variance of the particles. In this regard, Rao-Blackwellization is employed in certain type of state space models, as discussed in Chapter 7. However, this strategy in its current implementation is only applicable in tracking full posteriors. It will be an interesting problem to device a strategy to apply Rao-Blackwellization on first moment tracking of the posteriors, i.e., PHD filters.

9.2.5 Novel hybrid filtering algorithm

The PHD filtering algorithm proposed for narrow-band DOA tracking in Chapter 8 is best suited for reasonably separated sources. When the sources stay closer for long, the performance of PhD filter is expected to degrade. However, during this period, tracking the full posterior might give a more precise density of the posterior at the cost of additional computation. In other words, while it is inefficient to track the full posterior using particle filter of well separated targets, it is better to track the full posterior when the sources are closer for longer. Hence, a natural solution to this scenario is to use both of the methods in a switching manner as appropriate. The challenging parts of the problem are the construction of the full posterior from the PHD and the development of a switching scenario.

9.3 Future Directions

In this section, we discuss some future directions, that must be explored in order to achieve higher data transmission rates in future wireless communication systems.

9.3.1 Blind adaptive MIMO receiver design

Adaptive blind receivers for MIMO systems needs further study in many directions before it gets any chance to enter into standards and eventually in practical communication systems. Some important directions may include

- The development of blind adaptive receivers for various channel models: The proposed channel tracking schemes assumed in Chapters 4 and 5 approximated the channel as AR1 model. Receivers considering other channel models should be developed and their performance must be theoretically analyzed.
- Newer frequency bands, such as the one in 60GHz range [102], are becoming stronger candidates of indoor wireless applications. For such bands, various studies are needed to be done on time-varying channel modelling.
- Any assumption on the channel over indefinite periods of time is not valid. For instance, when we assume a highly non-stationary channel model at the receiver indefinitely, there is a good possibility that the channel be stationary for considerable interval. Hence, employing computationally intense, power hungry receivers for relatively stationary channel is not an efficient solution. Hence, cross layer designs [51, 105], that pass the information on the receiver performance to other layers to better optimize the receiver operation should be extensively studied. For example, the decision-directed algorithms proposed in Chapters 4 and 5 iterate between channel estimate and data estimate values. If the information could be used to switch the receiver between decision-directed mode and continuous blind detection mode in which no iteration is needed since the decoded data is errorfree.

9.3.2 Computational reduction

Computational cost is continuing to be a bottleneck for implementing many blind adaptive algorithms developed for achieving higher data rates. In this thesis, we proposed two distinct approaches towards achieving computational savings, namely, Computational savings through simplification (Chapters 4–7) and computational savings through approximation (Chapter 8). While, these approaches should be further explored, different new techniques should be analyzed as well.

9.3.3 Performance analysis

It is well known that developing a theoretical performance analysis for the SMC detector is difficult, even though the asymptotic performance is intuitive, i.e., when the number of samples are higher enough, the performance of the SMC detector will approach that of the coherent receiver. In general, closed form performance analysis in terms of the number of particles is a relatively difficult problem. However, since the proposed SMC detector in Chapter 7 samples the particles from a discrete finite set, a closed form theoretical analysis that gives the probability of error performance in terms of the number of particles, might be possible. Such theoretical performance analysis is a crucial factor in analyzing the feasibility of such blind receivers for practical systems.

9.3.4 Adaptive array processing

A more exciting and cost effective approach will be to use the existing MIMO antennas to track the DOAs. However, when the number of antenna array elements decrease, the performance of any DOA tracking scheme is expected to decrease. Hence, using the MIMO antennas for DOA tracking might be approached by exploring advanced signal processing techniques.

Appendix A

Proof of Lemma 5.1

Substituting (5.117) into (5.110), we can rewrite it as

$$\mathbf{P}[n|n-1] = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \delta_{n-1}^{0} |\alpha_{0}|^{2}, \dots, \delta_{n-1}^{P-1} |\alpha_{P-1}|^{2} \right\} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \delta_{n-1}^{0} |\alpha_{0}|^{2}, \dots, \delta_{n-1}^{P-1} |\alpha_{P-1}|^{2} \right\} \end{pmatrix} \\ \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} + \mathbf{Q} \\ = \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \delta_{n-1}^{0} |\alpha_{0}|^{2} + \frac{\sigma_{0}^{2}}{2}, \dots, \delta_{n-1}^{P-1} |\alpha_{P-1}|^{2} + \frac{\sigma_{P-1}^{2}}{2} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \\ = \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \Psi_{n} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \tag{A.245}$$

Now, inserting (A.245) into (5.113) and using matrix inversion lemma, $\mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}[n]$ in (5.113)

can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}[n] &= \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ & \left(\tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} + \mathbf{P}^{-1}[n|n-1] \right)^{-1} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \\ &= \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ & \left(\frac{2}{\sigma_{v}^{2}} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} + \mathbf{P}^{-1}[n|n-1] \right)^{-1} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \\ &= \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ & \left(\frac{2L}{\sigma_{v}^{2} s^{2}} \mathbf{I}_{2MNP} + \mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \frac{1}{\beta_{n}^{0}}, \dots, \frac{1}{\beta_{n}^{P-1}} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right)^{-1} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \\ &= \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ & \left(\mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2} \beta_{n}^{0}}{2s^{2} L \beta_{n}^{0} + \sigma_{v}^{2}}, \dots, \frac{\sigma_{v}^{2} \beta_{n}^{P-1}}{2s^{2} L \beta_{n}^{P-1} + \sigma_{v}^{2}} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right) \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \\ &= \mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \\ & \left(\mathbf{I}_{2} \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \gamma_{n}^{0}, \dots, \gamma_{n}^{P-1} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right) \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^{T} \mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \end{aligned}$$

where $\gamma_n^p = \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^p}{2s^2 L \beta_n^p + \sigma_v^2}$. Note that in deriving (A.246), we have taken into account that for constant modulus signals, i.e., for $\|\mathbf{s}_{n,0}\| =, \ldots, = \|\mathbf{s}_{n,L-1}\| = s^2$, (5.105) can be written as

$$\mathbb{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n})\mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) = s^{2}\mathbf{I}_{2MNL}.$$
(A.247)

Using (5.114) and (A.246), we can write (5.116) as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}[n|n] &= \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{P}_{\nu}^{-1}[n] \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \\ &= \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \\ & \left(\mathbf{R}^{-1} - \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \left(\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \gamma_n^0, \dots, \gamma_n^{P-1} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right) \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \right) \\ &= \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \\ &= \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] + \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \\ & \tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \left(\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \gamma_n^0, \dots, \gamma_n^{P-1} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right) \\ &\tilde{\mathbf{W}}^T \mathbb{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n) \tilde{\mathbf{W}} \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] \\ &= \mathbf{P}[n|n-1] - \left(\frac{2s^2 L}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \mathbf{P}^2[n|n-1] \\ &+ \left(\frac{2s^2 L}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \left(\mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \gamma_n^0, \dots, \gamma_n^{P-1} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \right) \left(\frac{2s^2 L}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \mathbf{P}^2[n|n-1] \\ &= \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^0}{2s^2 L \beta_n^0 + \sigma_v^2}, \dots, \frac{\sigma_v^2 \beta_n^{P-1}}{2s^2 L \beta_n^{P-1} + \sigma_v^2} \right\} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \\ &= \mathbf{I}_2 \otimes \mathbb{D}_{\delta_n} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{MN} \end{aligned}$$
 (A.248)

The proof is complete.

Appendix B

Proof of Lemma 6.1

Consider the required expectation

$$E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}} \left\{ \mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \mathbf{B}^{T}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}) \right\} = \left[\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1}) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \dots \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN}) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \right] \left[\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1}) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \dots \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN}) \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \right]^{T}$$
$$= \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{1}) E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}} \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T} \right\} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{1}) + \dots$$
$$+ \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN}) E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}} \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{n}^{T} \right\} \mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN})$$
$$= \sigma_{s}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2MN} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{i}) \mathbf{A}^{T}(\mathbf{e}_{i}) \qquad (B.249)$$

Now, it is left to find the expression $\sum_{i=1}^{2MN} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_i) \mathbf{A}^T(\mathbf{e}_i)$. Let us write \mathbf{C}_k and \mathbf{D}_k of 2.2.1 as

$$\mathbf{C}_k = [\mathbf{c}_k^1 \ \mathbf{c}_k^2 \ \dots \ \mathbf{c}_k^N] \tag{B.250}$$

$$\mathbf{D}_k = [\mathbf{d}_k^1 \ \mathbf{d}_k^2 \ \dots \ \mathbf{d}_k^N] \tag{B.251}$$

It can be verified that \mathbf{c}_k^i and \mathbf{d}_k^i hold the following properties for $i = 1, \dots, N$.

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathbf{c}_{k}^{i} \mathbf{c}_{k}^{i^{T}} = \tilde{\mathbf{I}}_{T}^{i}$$
(B.252)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathbf{d}_{k}^{i} \mathbf{d}_{k}^{i^{T}} = -\tilde{\mathbf{I}}_{T}^{i}$$
(B.253)

where \mathbf{I}_T^i is an identity matrix with d number of diagonal elements made zero. The position of those d diagonal elements are determined by he type of OSTBC. Further, d = 0 is also a possible value. Further, the following property is satisfied by \mathbf{I}_T^i

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{I}_{T}^{i} = \frac{(T - d)N}{T} \mathbf{I}_{T}$$
(B.254)

The structure of $A(e_i)$ is given for some values of i below.

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{MN+1}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & -\mathbf{d}_{1}^{1} & \dots & -\mathbf{d}_{k}^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.261)
$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{MN+2}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & -\mathbf{d}_{1}^{2} & \dots & -\mathbf{d}_{k}^{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.262)
$$\vdots$$

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{MN+N}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & -\mathbf{d}_{1}^{N} & \dots & -\mathbf{d}_{k}^{N} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.263)
$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{MN+N+1}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -\mathbf{d}_{1}^{1} & \dots & -\mathbf{d}_{k}^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.264)
$$\vdots$$

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{MN+2N}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\mathbf{d}_{1}^{N} & \dots & -\mathbf{d}_{k}^{N} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.265)
$$\vdots$$

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_{2MN}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.265)

Now, it can be easily verified that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2MN} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{e}_i) \mathbf{A}^T(\mathbf{e}_i) = \frac{(T-d)N}{T} \mathbf{I}_{2MT}$$
(B.267)

Hence, the required expectation becomes

$$E_{\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n}\left\{\mathbf{B}(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\mathbf{B}^T(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_n)\right\} = \sigma_s^2 \frac{(T-d)}{T} N \mathbf{I}_{2MT}$$
(B.268)

Appendix C

Proof of Lemma 8.1

The unknown parameters of all K_t sources can be considered as the following matrix

$$\mathbf{X}(t) = [\mathbf{x}_1(t), \mathbf{x}_2(t), \dots, \mathbf{x}_{K_t}(t)] = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_1(t) & \dots & \phi_{K_t}(t) \\ a_1(t) & \dots & a_{K_t}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.269)

Consider one snapshot of the array observation

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = \boldsymbol{\alpha}(t) + j\boldsymbol{\beta}(t) \tag{C.270}$$

where

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = [y_1(t), y_2(t), \dots, y_M(t)]^T$$

$$\alpha(t) = [\alpha_1(t), \alpha_2(t), \dots, \alpha_M(t)]^T$$

$$\beta(t) = [\beta_1(t), \beta_2(t), \dots, \beta_M(t)]^T$$

The joint probability density function of y(t), given the unknown parameters X(t), is

given by¹

$$f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_w^2} \sum_{m=1}^M \left((\alpha_m - \mu_m)^2 + (\beta_m - \nu_m)^2\right)\right\}$$
(C.271)

where

$$\mu_m = \sum_{i=1}^{K} b_i \cos(\tilde{w}_i m + \theta_i)$$
$$\nu_m = \sum_{i=1}^{K} b_i \sin(\tilde{w}_i m + \theta_i)$$

and $b_i = |a_i|$ and $\theta_i = \angle \{a_i\}$.

Single-target case

Consider the case where only one target is present. Then, the likelihood function becomes

$$f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) = f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_w^2} \sum_{m=1}^M \left((\alpha_m - \mu_m)^2 + (\beta_m - \nu_m)^2\right)\right\} (C.272)$$

where

$$\mu_m = b\cos(\tilde{w}m + \theta)$$
$$\nu_m = b\sin(\tilde{w}m + \theta)$$

¹From here on, the time index t is suppressed to simplify the notation.

Re-arranging the above equation, we get [90]

$$f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} \left(\frac{1}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M y_m^2 - \frac{2}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M (\alpha_m \mu_m + \beta_m \nu_m) + b^2\right)\right\}$$
(C.273)

After some more re-arranging

$$f(\mathbf{y}|\phi, b, \theta) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} \left(\frac{1}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M y_m^2 - 2b\operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta}A(\tilde{w})\right] + b^2\right)\right\}$$
(C.274)

where $A(\tilde{w})$ is the discrete Fourier transform of the array observation given by

$$A(\tilde{w}) = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{m=1}^{M} y_m \exp(-j\tilde{w}m)$$

Multi-target case

Let us simplify the multi-target likelihood function in (C.271) (see also [91])

$$f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w^2}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} \left(\frac{1}{M} \sum_{m=1}^M y_m^2 - \sum_{i=1}^K \left\{2b_i \operatorname{Re}\left[A(\tilde{w}_i)\right]\right\} + a^2 + \frac{1}{M} \sum_{i \neq k} \sum_k b_i b_k \sum_m \cos\left(m(\tilde{w}_i - \tilde{w}_k)\right)\right)\right\}$$
(C.275)

Since we are interested in $f(\mathbf{y}_i|\mathbf{x}_i)$, where i = 1, ..., K, the probability in (C.275) should be marginalized with respect to \mathbf{y}_i and \mathbf{x}_i , i = 1, ..., i - 1, i + 1, ..., K, to get the

required likelihood. i.e.,

$$f(\mathbf{y}_i|\mathbf{x}_i) = \int \int \dots \int f(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) dy_1 \dots dy_{i-1} dy_{i+1} \dots dy_K dx_1 \dots dx_{i-1} dx_{i+1} \dots dx_K$$
(C.276)

However, such marginalization will require huge computation. Hence, it is desired to look for some approximations.

By neglecting the last term inside the exponential in (C.275), we get an approximate likelihood function given by [91]

$$\bar{f}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w^2}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} \left(\frac{1}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M y_m^2 - \sum_{i=1}^K \left\{2b_i \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta_i}A(\tilde{w}_i)\right] - b_i^2\right\}\right)\right\}$$
(C.277)

We notice that the above equation can be written as

$$\bar{f}(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{X}) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w^2}\right)^M \\
\exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2}\left(\sum_{i=1}^K \left(\frac{1}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M y_{m,i}^2\right) - \sum_{i=1}^K \left\{2b_i \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta_i}A(\tilde{w}_i)\right] - b_i^2\right\}\right)\right\} \\
= \left(\pi\sigma_w^2\right)^{(K-1)M} \\
\prod_{i=1}^K \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w^2}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2}\left(\frac{1}{M}\sum_{m=1}^M y_{m,i}^2 - 2b_i \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta_i}A(\tilde{w}_i)\right] + b_i^2\right)\right\} \\
\propto \prod_{i=1}^K f(\mathbf{y}_i|\mathbf{x}_i)$$
(C.278)

where, $y_{m,i}$ is the observation at the *m*th sensor due to the *i*th source. Assuming equal power of the sources, $y_{m,i}^2$ is approximately given as $y_{m,i}^2 = (y_m^2/K)$.

Hence, the likelihood function becomes

$$L(\mathbf{y}_i|\phi_i, b_i, \theta_i) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_w^2}\right)^M \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} \left(\frac{1}{MK} \sum_{m=1}^M y_m^2 - 2b_i \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta_i} A(\tilde{w}_i)\right] + b_i^2\right)\right\}$$
(C.279)

Marginalization and the required likelihood

In this section we employ marginalization techniques on (C.279) to find the required probability density function.

$$\begin{split} L(\mathbf{y}_{i}|\phi_{i}) &= \int L(\mathbf{y}_{i}|\phi_{i}, b_{i}, \theta_{i})p(\theta_{i})p(b_{i})d\theta_{i}db_{i} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2} - \frac{M}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}b_{i}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{2Mb_{i}}{\sigma_{w}^{2}} \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-j\theta_{i}}A(\tilde{w}_{i})\right]\right\} p(\theta_{i})d\theta_{i}p(b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \\ &\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}b_{i}^{2}\right\} \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \exp\left\{c\cos\theta_{i} + d\sin\theta_{i}\right\} p(\theta_{i})d\theta_{i}p(b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}b_{i}^{2}\right\} \pi \mathbf{I}_{0}(\sqrt{c^{2}+d^{2}})p(b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \pi\left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{M}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}b_{i}^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}(\beta b_{i})p(b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\alpha b_{i}^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}(\beta b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\alpha b_{i}^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}(\beta b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\alpha b_{i}^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}(\beta b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\alpha b_{i}^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}(\beta b_{i})db_{i} \\ &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\sigma_{a}^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)^{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{\sigma_{w}^{2}}\sum_{m=1}^{M}y_{m,i}^{2}\right\} \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\alpha}} \exp\left\{\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{0}\left(\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right) \\ &= (2.280)$$

where

$$c = \frac{2Mb_i}{\sigma_w^2} \operatorname{Re}[A(\tilde{w}_i)]$$

$$d = \frac{2Mb_i}{\sigma_w^2} \operatorname{Im}[A(\tilde{w}_i)]$$

$$\alpha = \left(\frac{M}{\sigma_w^2} + \frac{1}{2\sigma_a^2}\right)$$

$$\beta = \frac{2M}{\sigma_w^2} |A(\tilde{w}_i)|$$

$$p(\theta_i) \sim \mathcal{U}[-\pi/2, \pi/2]$$

$$p(b_i) \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_a^2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{b_i^2}{2\sigma_a^2}\right\}$$

and \mathbf{I}_0 is the modified bessel function of the first kind.

Note that the following definite integrals from [35] were exploited in arriving to (C.280)

$$\int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \exp\left\{c\cos\theta + d\sin\theta\right\} p(\theta)d\theta = \pi \mathbf{I}_0(\sqrt{c^2 + d^2})$$
(C.281)

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\alpha x^{2}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{\nu}(\beta x) dx = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\alpha}} \exp\left\{\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right\} \mathbf{I}_{\frac{1}{2}\nu}\left(\frac{\beta^{2}}{8\alpha}\right) \quad (C.282)$$

Bibliography

- P. Aggarwal, N. Prasad, and X. Wang, "An enhanced deterministic sequential Monte Carlo method for near-optimal MIMO demodulation with QAM constellations," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 55, pp. 2395–2406, June 2007.
- [2] T. Y. Al-Naffouri, O. Awoniyi, O. Oteri, and A. Paulraj, "Receiver design for MIMO-OFDM transmission over time variant channels," in *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, vol. 4, Nov. 2004, pp. 2487–2492.
- [3] S. M. Alamouti, "A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 1451–1458, Oct. 1998.
- [4] M. S. Arulampalam, S. Maskell, N. Gordon, and T. Clapp, "A tutorial on particle filters for online nonlinear/non-Gaussian Bayesian tracking," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 174–188, Feb. 2002.
- [5] C. R. N. Athaudage and K. Sathananthan, "Lower bound on probability of error of Alamouti st-coded OFDM systems with frequency offset," in *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, Sept. 2006, pp. 1–7.

- [6] M. S. Baek, M. J. Kim, Y. H. You, and H. K. Song, "Semi-blind channel estimation and PAR reduction for MIMO-OFDM system with multiple antennas," *IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 414–424, Dec. 2004.
- [7] W. Bai, C. He, L. G. Jiang, and X. X. Li, "Robust channel estimation in MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEE Electronics Letters*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 242–244, Jan. 2003.
- [8] Y. Bar-Shalom, X. R. Li, and T. Kirubarajan, Estimation, Tracking, and Navigation: Principles, Techniques and Software. John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- [9] A. Benjebbour, S. Yukinaga, and S. Yoshida, "Simplified channel tracking for MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEICE Transactions on Communications*, vol. E86–B, pp. 3013–3022, 2003.
- [10] S. D. Blostein and H. Leib, "Multiple antenna systems: their role and impact in future wireless access," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 41, pp. 94–101, July 2003.
- [11] J. Capon, "High-resolution frequency-wavenumber spectrum analysis," *Proceedings* of the IEEE, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 1408–1418, Aug. 1969.
- [12] K. Cho and D. Yoon, "On the general BER expression of one and two dimensional amplitude modulations," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 1074–1080, July 2002.
- [13] J. Choi and R. W. Heath, "Interpolation based transmit beamforming for MIMO-OFDM with limited feedback," in *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, vol. 1, Nov 2004, pp. 249–253.

- [14] J. Chuang, L. J. Cimini, G. Y. Li, B. McNair, N. Sollenberger, H. Zhao, L. Lin, and M. Suzuki, "High speed wireless data access based on combining EDGE with wideband OFDM," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 37, pp. 92–98, Nov. 1999.
- [15] M. Cicerone, O. Simeone, and U. Spagnolini, "Channel estimation for MIMO-OFDM systems by modal analysis/filtering," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2062–2074, Nov. 2006.
- [16] D. Clark, I. Ruiz, Y. Petillot, and J. Bell, "Particle PHD filter multiple target tracking in sonar image," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 43, pp. 409–416, 2007.
- [17] D. Clark and B. N. Vo, "Convergence analysis of the Gaussian mixture PHD filter," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 55, pp. 1204–1212, 2007.
- [18] D. E. Clark and J. Bell, "Data association for the PHD filter," in International Conference on Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing, 2005, pp. 217–222.
- [19] ——, "Convergence results for the particle PHD filter," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 54, pp. 2652–2661, 2006.
- [20] D. Clark, B. T. Vo, and B. N. Vo, "Gaussian particle implementations of probability hypothesis density filters," in *IEEE Aerospace Conference*, 2007, pp. 1–11.
- [21] D. Clark and J. Bell, "Bayesian multiple target tracking in forward scan sonar images using the PHD filter," *IEE Proceedings on Radar, Sonar and Navigation*, vol. 152, pp. 327–334, 2005.

- [22] J. Coon, S. Armour, M. Beach, and J. McGeehan, "Adaptive frequency-domain equalization for single-carrier multiple-input multiple-output wireless transmissions," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 3247–3256, Aug. 2005.
- [23] M. Daly, "Marginalized particle filtering for blind system identification," Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, McMaster University, Oct. 2004.
- [24] K. Deng, Q. Yin, and Y. Meng, "Blind symbol detection for multiple-input multipleoutput systems via particle filtering," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, vol. 3, Mar. 2005, pp. 1041–1044.
- [25] A. Doucet, N. de Freitas, and N. Gordon, Sequential Monte Carlo Methods in Practice. Springer-Verlag, 2001.
- [26] C. Dubuc, D. Starks, T. Creasy, and Y. Hou, "A MIMO-OFDM prototype for nextgeneration wireless WANs," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 42, pp. 82–87, Dec. 2004.
- [27] S. Frattasi, H. Fathi, F. H. P. Fitzek, R. Prasad, and M. D. Katz, "Defining 4G technology from the users perspective," *IEEE Network*, vol. 20, pp. 35–41, 2006.
- [28] G. Ganesan and P. Stoica, "Space-time block codes: A maximum SNR approach," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 1650–1656, May 2001.
- [29] A. B. Gershman, "Robust adaptive beamforming in sensor arrays," *International Journal of Electronics and Communication*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 305–314, Dec. 1999.

- [30] M. Gharavi-Alkhansari and A. B. Gershman, "Exact symbol-error probability analysis for orthogonal space-time block codes: two-and higher dimensional constellations cases," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1068–1073, July 2004.
- [31] —, "Constellation space invariance of orthogonal space-time block codes," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 331–334, Jan. 2005.
- [32] M. Gharavi-Alkhansari, A. B. Gershman, and M. Haardt, "Exact error probability analysis of orthogonal space-time block codes over correlated rician fading channels," *ITG Workshop on Smart Antennas*, pp. 274–278, 2004.
- [33] A. Ghosh, D. R. Wolter, J. G. Andrews, and R. Chen, "Broadband wireless access with WiMAX/802.16: Current performance benchmarks and future potential," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 43, pp. 129–136, Feb. 2005.
- [34] J. Gozalvez, "Mobile WiMAX rollouts announced," IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine, vol. 1, pp. 53–59, Sep. 2006.
- [35] I. M. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series, and Products*. Academic Press, 2000.
- [36] D. Guo and X. Wang, "Blind detection in MIMO systems via Sequential Monte Carlo," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 464– 473, Apr. 2003.
- [37] S. Haykin, K. Huber, and Z. Chen, "Bayesian sequential state estimation for MIMO wireless communications," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 439–454, Mar. 2004.

- [38] D. Hu, L. Yang, y. Shi, and L. He, "Optimal pilot sequence design for channel estimation in MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–3, Jan. 2006.
- [39] Y. Huang and P. Djuric, "A blind particle filtering detector of signals transmitted over flat fading channels," *IEEE Transactios on Signal Processing*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1891–1899, July 2004.
- [40] S. Y. Hui and K. H. Yeung, "Challenges in the migration to 4G mobile systems," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 41, pp. 54–59, 2003.
- [41] N. Ikoma, T. Uchino, and H. Maeda, "Tracking of feature points in image sequence by SMC implementation of PHD filter," in *SICE Annual Conference*, vol. 2, 2004, pp. 1696–1701.
- [42] A. G. Jaffer, "Maximum likelihood direction finding of stochastic sources: A separable solution," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, vol. 5, Apr. 1988, pp. 2893–2896.
- [43] W. C. Jakes Jr, Microwave Moble Communication. John Wiley & Sons, 1974.
- [44] Y. Jia, C. Andrieu, R. J. Piechocki, and M. Sandell, "PDA multiple model approach for joint channel tracking and symbol detection in MIMO systems," in *IEE Proceedings in Communications*, vol. 153, no. 4, 2006, pp. 501–507.
- [45] T. Jiang, W. Xiang, H.-H. Chen, and Q. Ni, "Multicast broadcast services support in OFDMA-based WiMAX systems," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 45, pp. 78–86, Aug. 2007.

- [46] D. H. Johnson, "The application of spectral estimation methods to bearing estimation problems," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 70, no. 9, pp. 1018–1028, Sep. 1982.
- [47] V. Katkovnik and A. B. Gershman, "A local polynomial approximation based beamforming for source localization and tracking in nonstationary environments," *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 3–5, Jan. 2000.
- [48] W. Kellerer and H. J. Vogel, "A communication gateway for infrastructureindependent 4G wireless access," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 40, pp. 126–131, 2002.
- [49] K. J. Kim, T. Reid, and R. A. Iltis, "Data detection and soft-Kalman filter based semi-blind channel estimation algorithms for MIMO-OFDM systems," in *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, vol. 4, May 2005, pp. 2488–2492.
- [50] C. Komninakis, C. Fragouli, A. H. Sayed, and R. D. Wesel, "Multi-input multioutput fading channel tracking and equalization using Kalman estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1065–1076, May 2002.
- [51] Y. K. R. Kwok and V. K. N. Lau, *Channel-Adaptive Technologies and Cross-Layer* Designs for Wireless Systems with Multiple. Wiley-Interscience, 2006.
- [52] R. Laroia, S. Uppala, and J. Li, "Designing a mobile broadband wireless access network," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 21, pp. 20–28, Sep. 2004.
- [53] E. G. Larsson and P. Stoica, Space-Time Block Coding for Wireless Communications. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [54] K. T. Lee, "Create the future with mobile WiMAX," *IEEE Communications Maga*zine, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 10–14, May 2007.

- [55] L. Li, "Simplified channel estimation for OFDM systems with multiple transmit antennas," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 67– 75, Jan. 2002.
- [56] Y. Li, N. Seshadri, and S. Ariyavisitakul, "Channel estimation for OFDM systems with transmitter diversity in mobile wireless channels," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 461–471, Mar. 1999.
- [57] Y. Li, J. H. Winters, and N. R. Sollenberger, "MIMO-OFDM for wireless communications: Signal detection with enhanced channel estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 1471–1477, Sep. 2002.
- [58] V. Limpakuntorn and R. Suleesathira, "MIMO adaptive beamforming for MC-CDMA system," in *International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology*, vol. 3, Apr. 2007, pp. 2217–2221.
- [59] L. Lin, Y. Bar-Shalom, and T. Kirubarajan, "Track labeling and PHD filter for multitarget tracking," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 42, pp. 778–795, 2006.
- [60] J. Litva and T. K. Lo, Digital Beamforming in Wireless Communications. Artech House Inc., 1996.
- [61] Z. Liu, X. Ma, and G. B. Giannakis, "Space-time coding and Kalman filtering for time-selective fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 183–186, Feb. 2002.

- [62] B. Lu, X. Wang, and Y. Li, "Iterative receivers for space-time block-coded OFDM systems in dispersive fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 213–225, Apr. 2002.
- [63] B. Lu and X. Wang, "Bayesian blind turbo receiver for coded OFDM systems with frequency offset and frequency-selective fading," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 19, pp. 2516–2527, Dec. 2001.
- [64] K. Lu, Y. Qian, and H. H. Chen, "Wireless broadband access: WiMAX and beyond
 A secure and service-oriented network control framework for WiMAX networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 45, pp. 124–130, May 2007.
- [65] X. Ma, M. K. Oh, G. B. Giannakis, and D. J. Park, "Hopping pilots for estimation of frequency-offset and multiantenna channels in MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 162–172, Jan. 2005.
- [66] M. Maehlisch, R. Schweiger, W. Ritter, and K. Dietmayer, "Multisensor vehicle tracking with the probability hypothesis density filter," in *International Conference* on Information Fusion, 2006, pp. 1–8.
- [67] E. Maggio, E. Piccardo, C. Regazzoni, and A. Cavallaro, "Particle PHD filtering for multi-target visual tracking," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech* and Signal Processing, vol. 1, 2007, pp. 1101–1104.
- [68] R. P. S. Mahler, "Multitarget Bayes filtering via first-order multitarget moments," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 1152– 1178, Oct. 2003.

- [69] H. Miao and M. J. Juntti, "Space-time channel estimation and performance analysis for wireless MIMO-OFDM systems with spatial correlation," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 2003–2016, Nov. 2005.
- [70] M. Natkaniec, "Wireless OFDM systems: How to make them work?" IEEE Communications Magazine, vol. 41, pp. 16–18, Feb. 2003.
- [71] R. Negi and J. Cioffi, "Pilot tone selection for channel estimation in a mobile OFDM system," *IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 1122–1128, Aug. 1998.
- [72] W. Ng, J. P. Reilly, T. Kirubarajan, and J. R. Larocque, "Wideband array signal processing using MCMC methods," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 411–426, Feb. 2005.
- [73] Q. Ni, A. Vinel, Y. Xiao, A. Turlikov, and T. Jiang, "Wireless broadband access
 WiMAX and beyond Investigation of bandwidth request mechanisms under point-to-multipoint mode of WiMAX networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 45, pp. 132–138, May 2007.
- [74] S. Ohno, "Impact of time-selective fading on orthogonal space-time block coding," in *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, vol. 4, Nov. 2004, pp. 2620–2624.
- [75] M. Orton and W. Fitzgerald, "A Bayesian approach to tracking multiple targets using sensor arrays and particle filters," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 216–223, Feb. 2002.
- [76] M. K. Ozdemir and H. Arslan, "Toward real-time adaptive low-rank LMMSE channel estimation of MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 2675–2678, Oct. 2006.
- [77] Y. H. Pan, B. K. Letaief, and Z. Cao, "Adaptive beamforming with antenna selection in MIMO systems," in *IEEE 60th Vehicular Technology Conference*, vol. 3, Sep. 2004, pp. 1570–1574.
- [78] D. Park, S. Yang, and Y. Shin, "Beamforming based MIMO-OFDMA system for performance improvement in harsh downlink channels," in *Asia-Pacific Conference* on Communications, Aug. 2006, pp. 1–5.
- [79] —, "A MIMO-OFDM system with simple bit allocation and spatial resource grouping based beamforming," in *International Conference Advanced Communication Technology*, vol. 3, Feb. 2006, pp. 2095–2098.
- [80] S. B. Park, C. S. Ryu, and K. K. Lee, "Multiple target angle tracking algorithm using predicted angles," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 643–648, Apr. 1994.
- [81] A. Pasha, B. Vo, H. D. Tuan, and W. K. Ma, "Closed form PHD filtering for linear jump Markov models," in *International Conference on Information Fusion*, 2006, pp. 1–8.
- [82] C. B. Peel and A. L. Swindlehurst, "Performance of space-time modulation for a generalized time-varying rician channel model," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 1003–1012, May 2004.

- [83] D. Piazza and U. Spagnolini, "Random beamforming for spatial multiplexing in downlink multiuser MIMO systems," in *IEEE 16th International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, vol. 4, Sep. 2005, pp. 2161–2165.
- [84] C. Pirak, Z. J. Wang, K. J. R. Liu, and S. Jitapunkul, "Performance analysis for pilotembedded data-bearing approach in space-time coded MIMO systems," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, vol. 3, Mar. 2005, pp. 593–596.
- [85] ——, "Adaptive channel estimation using pilot-embedded data-bearing approach for MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 4706–4716, Dec. 2006.
- [86] Y. Qiao, S. Yu, P. Su, and L. Zhang, "Research on an iterative algorithm of LS channel estimation in MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 149–153, Mar. 2005.
- [87] B. M. Radich and K. M. Buckley, "Single-snapshot DOA estimation and source number detection," *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 109–111, Apr. 1997.
- [88] C. R. Rao, C. R. Sastry, and B. Zhou, "Tracking the direction of arrival of multiple moving targets," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1133– 1144, May 1994.
- [89] C. R. Rao, L. Zhang, and L. C. Zhao, "Multiple target angle tracking using sensor array outputs," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 268–271, Jan. 1993.

- [90] D. Rife and R. Boorstyn, "Single tone parameter estimation from discrete-time observations," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 591–598, Sep. 1974.
- [91] D. C. Rife and R. R. Boorstyn, "Multiple-tone parameter estimation from discretetime observations," *The Bell System Technical Journal*, vol. 55, no. 9, pp. 1389– 1410, Nov. 1976.
- [92] T. Roman, M. Enescu, and V. Koivunen, "Time-domain method for tracking dispersive channels in MIMO-OFDM systems," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, vol. 4, Apr. 2003, pp. 393–396.
- [93] A. K. Sadek, W. Su, and K. J. R. Liu, "Eigen-selection approach for joint beamforming and space-frequency coding in MIMO-OFDM systems with spatial correlation feedback," in *IEEE 6th Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications*, June 2005, pp. 565–569.
- [94] S. Sandhu and A. Paulraj, "Union bound on error probability of linear space-time block codes," *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, vol. 4, pp. 2473–2476, May 2001.
- [95] C. R. Sastry, E. W. Kamen, and M. Simaan, "An efficient algorithm for tracking the angles of arrival of moving targets," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 242–246, Jan. 1991.
- [96] A. Satish and R. L. Kashyap, "Multiple target tracking using maximum likelihood principle," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 1677–1695, July 1995.

- [97] D. Schafhuber, G. Matz, and F. Hlawatsch, "Kalman tracking of time-varying channels in wireless MIMO-OFDM systems," in *Thirty-Seventh Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers*, vol. 2, Nov. 2003, pp. 1261–1265.
- [98] R. Schmidt, "Multiple emitter location and signal parameter estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 276–280, Mar. 1986.
- [99] S. Shahbazpanahi, A. B. Gershman, and J. H. Manton, "Closed-form blind MIMO channel estimation for orthogonal space-time block codes," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 4506–4517, Dec. 2005.
- [100] M. Shin, H. Lee, and C. Lee, "Enhanced channel-estimation technique for MIMO-OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 261–265, Jan. 2004.
- [101] M. K. Simon and M. S. Alouini, Digital Communication Over Fading Channels. John Wiley & Sons, 2000.
- [102] P. Smulders, "Exploiting the 60 GHz band for local wireless multimedia access: Prospects and future directions," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 140–147, Jan. 2002.
- [103] W. G. Song and J. T. Lim, "Channel estimation and signal detection for MIMO-OFDM with time varying channels," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 540–542, July 2006.
- [104] Q. H. Spencer, C. B. Peel, A. L. Swindlehurst, and M. Haardt, "An introduction to the multi-user MIMO downlink," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 42, pp. 60–67, Oct. 2004.

- [105] V. Srivastava and M. Motani, "Cross-layer design: A survey and the road ahead," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 112–119, Jan. 2005.
- [106] M. Steinbauer, A. F. Molisch, and E. Bonek, "The double-directional radio channel," *IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine*, vol. 43, pp. 51–63, Aug 2001.
- [107] G. Stüber, *Principles of Mobile Communication*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.
- [108] C. K. Sword, M. Simaan, and E. W. Kamen, "Multiple target angle tracking using sensor array outputs," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 367–373, Mar. 1990.
- [109] V. Tarokh, H. Jafarkhani, and A. R. Calderbank, "Space-time block codes from orthogonal designs," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1456–1467, July 1999.
- [110] S. Tian, Y. He, and G. Wang, "PHD filter of multi-target tracking with passive radar observations," in *International Conference on Signal Processing*, vol. 4, 2006.
- [111] M. K. Tsatsanis, G. B. Giannakis, and G. Zhou, "Estimation and equalization of fading channels with random coefficients," in *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, vol. 2, May 1996, pp. 1093–1096.
- [112] B. D. Van Veen and K. M. Buckley, "Beamforming: A versatile approach to spatial filtering," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 4–24, Apr. 1988.
- [113] M. A. Vazquez and J. Miguez, "A complexity-constrained particle filtering algorithm for map equalization of frequency-selective MIMO channels," in *IEEE International*

Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, vol. 3, Mar. 2005, pp. 477–480.

- [114] M. Viberg and B. Ottersten, "Sensor array processing based on subspace fitting," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 1110–1121, May 1991.
- [115] B. N. Vo and W. K. Ma, "Joint detection and tracking of multiple maneuvering targets in clutter using random finite sets," in *Control, Automation, Robotics and Vision Conference*, vol. 2, 2004, pp. 1485–1490.
- [116] ——, "A closed-form solution for the probability hypothesis density filter," in *Infor*mation Fusion, 2005 8th International Conference on, vol. 2, 2005, p. 8 pp.
- [117] B. N. Vo, S. Singh, and A. Doucet, "Sequential monte carlo implementation of the phd filter for multi-target tracking," *Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference of Information Fusion*, vol. 2, pp. 792–799, 2003.
- [118] B.-N. Vo, S. Singh, and A. Doucet, "Sequential monte carlo methods for multitarget filtering with random finite sets," *Aerospace and Electronic Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 41, pp. 1224–1245, 2005.
- [119] B. N. Vo, A. Pasha, and H. D. Tuan, "A gaussian mixture PHD filter for nonlinear jump Markov models," in *IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, 2006, pp. 3162–3167.
- [120] H. S. Wang and P. C. Chang, "On verifying the first-order Markovian assumption for a Rayleigh fading channel model," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 353–357, May 1996.

- [121] Z. J. Wang, Z. Han, and K. J. R. Liu, "A MIMO-OFDM channel estimation approach using time of arrivals," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1207–1213, May 2005.
- [122] H. Yang, "A road to future broadband wireless access: MIMO-OFDM based air interface," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 43, pp. 53–60, 2005.
- [123] Z. Yang and X. Wang, "Blind symbol detector for OFDM systems via sequential Monte Carlo filtering," in *Thirty-Fifth Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers*, vol. 1, Mar. 2001, pp. 757--761.
- [124] —, "A sequential monte carlo blind receiver for OFDM systems in frequencyselective fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, pp. 271–280, Feb. 2002.
- [125] S. Yatawatta and A. Petropulu, "Blind channel estimation in MIMO OFDM systems with multiuser interference," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 1054–1068, Mar. 2006.
- [126] D. Yee, J. P. Reilly, and T. Kirubarajan, "A blind sequential Monte Carlo detector for ofdm systems in the presence of phase noise, multipath fading, and channel order uncertainty," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 55, pp. 4581–4598, Sep. 2007.
- [127] Y. Zeng, W. Lam, and T. S. Ng, "Semiblind channel estimation and equalization for MIMO space-time coded OFDM," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 463–474, Feb. 2006.

- [128] H. Zheng, Y. Li, S. Zhou, and J. Wang, "Capacity enhancement scheme for downlink multiuser MIMO systems with limited feedback," in *International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking and Mobile Computing*, June 2006, pp. 1–4.
- [129] W. Zhengdao and G. B. Giannakis, "Wireless multicarrier communications: Where fourier meets Shannon," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 29– 48, May 2000.
- [130] S. Zhou, B. Muquet, and G. B. Giannakis, "Subspace-based (semi-)blind channel estimation for block precoded space-time OFDM," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1215–1228, May 2002.
- [131] Y. Zhou, P. C. Yip, and H. Leung, "Tracking the direction-of-arrival of multiple moving targets by passive arrays: Algorithm," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 47, no. 10, pp. 2655–2666, Oct. 1999.